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ONEBEACON INSURANCE GROUP, LTD.
NOTICE OF 2007 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF MEMBERS
TO BE HELD MAY 22, 2007

April 6, 2007

Notice is hereby given that the 2007 Annual General Meeting of Members of OneBeacon Insurance Group, Ltd. will be held on Tuesday,
May 22, 2007, at 12:00 noon Atlantic Time at the Fairmont Hamilton Princess Hotel, Hamilton, Bermuda. At this meeting you will be asked to
consider and vote upon the following proposals:

1)  election of four Class I directors with a term ending in 2010;

2)  approval of the 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan and Performance Criteria; and

3)  approval of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company�s Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm for 2007.

The Company�s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2006, as approved by the Company�s Board of Directors, will be
presented at this Annual General Meeting.

Members of record of common shares on the record date, March 26, 2007 (1) who are individuals, may attend and vote at the meeting in person
or by proxy or (2) which are corporations or other entities, may have their duly authorized representative attend and vote at the meeting in
person or by proxy. A list of all Members entitled to vote at the meeting will be open for public examination during regular business hours
beginning on or about April 11, 2007 at the Company�s registered office located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda.

All Members are invited to attend this meeting.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

T. Michael Miller
President and Chief Executive Officer

Members are invited to complete and sign the accompanying proxy card to be returned to OneBeacon Insurance Group, Ltd., c/o Wells
Fargo Shareowner Services, P.O. Box 64873, St. Paul, MN 55164-9397 in the envelope provided, whether or not they expect to attend the
meeting. Members who hold their common shares in a brokerage account, an employee benefit plan or through a nominee may have the
added flexibility of voting their shares by telephone or over the internet.
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OneBeacon Insurance Group, Ltd., an exempted Bermuda company, through its subsidiaries (collectively, �OneBeacon,� the �Company,� �we,� �us,� or
�our� ) is a property and casualty insurance writer that provides a range of specialty insurance products as well as a variety of segmented
commercial and personal insurance products. OneBeacon was acquired by White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd. (collectively with its
subsidiaries excluding OneBeacon, �White Mountains�) from Aviva plc (�Aviva�) in 2001. White Mountains is a holding company whose
businesses provide property and casualty insurance, reinsurance and certain other products. During the fourth quarter of 2006, White Mountains
sold 27.6 million or 27.6% of the Company�s common shares in an initial public offering. Prior to the initial public offering, OneBeacon was a
wholly-owned subsidiary of White Mountains. As of December 31, 2006, Lone Tree Holdings Ltd, a subsidiary of White Mountains,
beneficially owned all of the Company�s issued and outstanding class B common shares, representing 96.3% of the voting power of our voting
securities and 72.4% of our outstanding common shares.

Our headquarters are located at the Bank of Butterfield Building, 42 Reid Street, 6th Floor, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda. Our U.S. headquarters
are located at 1 Beacon Lane, Canton, Massachusetts 02021, our principal executive office is located at 601 Carlson Parkway, Minnetonka,
Minnesota 55305 and our registered office is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.
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ONEBEACON INSURANCE GROUP, LTD.
PROXY STATEMENT

This Proxy Statement is being furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies on behalf of the Company�s Board of Directors (the �Board�)
for the 2007 Annual General Meeting of Members (the �2007 Annual Meeting�), to be held on Tuesday, May 22, 2007 at the Fairmont Hamilton
Princess Hotel, Hamilton, Bermuda. The solicitation of proxies will be made by mail, and the proxy statement and related proxy materials will
be distributed to Members on or about April 6, 2007.

Holders of the Company�s common shares (�Members� or �shareholders�), par value $0.01 per share, as of the close of business on March 26, 2007,
the record date, are entitled to vote at the meeting.

You can ensure that your common shares are properly voted at the meeting by completing, signing, dating, and returning the enclosed proxy
card in the envelope provided. Members who hold their common shares in a brokerage account, an employee benefit plan or through a nominee
may have the added flexibility of voting by telephone or over the internet. A Member has the right to appoint another person (who need not be a
Member) to represent the Member at the meeting by completing an alternative form of proxy which can be obtained from the Secretary or by
notifying the Inspectors of Election (see page 41). Every Member entitled to vote has the right to do so either in person or by one or more
persons authorized by a written proxy executed by such Member and filed with the Secretary. Any proxy duly executed will continue in full
force and effect unless revoked by the person executing it in writing or by the filing of a subsequent proxy.

Sending in a signed proxy will not affect your right to attend the meeting and vote. If a Member attends the meeting and votes in person, his or
her signed proxy is considered revoked.

PROPOSAL 1�ELECTION OF THE COMPANY�S DIRECTORS
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is divided into three classes (each a �Class�). Each Class serves a three-year term.

At the 2007 Annual Meeting, Ms. Grady and Messrs. Miller, Smith and Urness are nominated to be elected as Class I directors with a term
ending in 2010. The Board recommends a vote FOR Proposal 1 which calls for the election of the 2007 nominees.

The current members of the Board nominees and terms of each Class are set forth below:

Director Age Director since
Class I Nominees�Term ending in 2010
Lois W. Grady 63 2006
T. Michael Miller 48 2006
Lowndes A. Smith 67 2006
Kent D. Urness 58 2007
Class II�Term ending in 2008
David T. Foy 41 2006
Richard P. Howard 61 2006
Robert R. Lusardi 50 2006
Class III�Term ending in 2009
Reid T. Campbell 39 2006
Morgan W. Davis 57 2006
Allan L. Waters 48 2006

1
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Of the nominees for election at the 2007 Annual Meeting, Messrs. Miller and Smith were previously elected to the Board by the sole Member,
White Mountains, prior to the Company�s initial public offering in November 2006. Ms. Grady was previously elected to the Board in
December 2006 and was recommended by a member of the Board of Directors. Mr. Urness was previously elected to the Board in
February 2007 and was recommended by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

The following information presents the principal occupation, business experience, recent business activities involving OneBeacon and other
affiliations of the directors:

Class I Nominees�Term Ending in 2010

Lois W. Grady has been a director of the Company since December 2006. She has served as an independent consultant
since her retirement from Hartford Life, Inc., a subsidiary of The Hartford Financial Services Group, Inc. (�The
Hartford�). Ms. Grady served as Executive Vice President and Director of Information Systems and Services at
Hartford Life from 2002-2004 and as Senior Vice President and Director of Investment Product Services at Hartford
Life from 1998-2002. Ms. Grady is also a director of Symetra Financial Corporation.

T. Michael Miller has been a director of the Company since August 2006. He joined the Company as Chief Operating
Officer in April 2005 and became President and CEO in July 2005. Prior to joining OneBeacon, Mr. Miller spent 10
years at St. Paul Travelers, most recently as Co-Chief Operating Officer. Prior to joining St. Paul Travelers,
Mr. Miller spent 14 years with The Chubb Corporation.

Lowndes A. Smith has been a director of the Company since October 2006. Mr. Smith serves as Managing Partner of
Whittington Gray Associates. Mr. Smith formerly served as Vice Chairman of The Hartford. and President and CEO
of Hartford Life Insurance Company. He joined The Hartford in 1968. Mr. Smith is also a director of White
Mountains and 85 investment companies in the mutual funds of The Hartford.

Kent D. Urness has been a director of the Company since February 2007. Since his retirement from St. Paul Travelers in
April 2005 until November 2006, Mr. Urness served as Non-Executive Chairman of St. Paul Travelers Insurance
Company and as a Non-Executive Director of St. Paul at Lloyds. From 2001 until his retirement, he served as
Executive Vice President with responsibility for International and Lloyd�s. He served in positions of increasing
responsibility over his 34 year career at St. Paul Travelers.

Class II Directors�Term Ending in 2008

David T. Foy has been a director of the Company since October 2006. Mr. Foy has served as Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of White Mountains since April 2003. Prior to joining White Mountains in 2003, Mr. Foy
served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Hartford Life, Inc. and joined that company in 1993.
Prior to joining Hartford Life, Inc., Mr. Foy was with Milliman and Robertson, an actuarial consulting firm. Mr. Foy
also serves as the Chairman of the Board of Symetra Financial Corporation.

Richard P. Howard has been a director of the Company since October 2006. Mr. Howard has served as a portfolio
manager for Prospector Partners, LLC since August 2005. Prior to that, he was a Managing Director of White
Mountains Advisors LLC from 2001 through August 2005. From 1982 through 2001, Mr. Howard was a vice
president and portfolio manager of T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc., including responsibility for the management of T.
Rowe Price Capital Appreciation Fund. Mr. Howard serves as a Trustee of Milliken University.

Robert R. Lusardi has been a director of the Company since October 2006. Mr. Lusardi has been an Executive Vice
President of White Mountains Capital, Inc. and Chief Executive Officer of White Mountains Financial Services LLC
since February 2005. Prior to joining White Mountains, he was a member of the Executive Management Board of XL
Capital Ltd, where he was first Chief Financial
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Officer then Chief Executive Officer of the Financial Products and Services operating segment. From 1980 to 1998, Mr. Lusardi was a
Managing Director and head of the global insurance and asset management practices at Lehman Brothers. He is a director and Chairman of the
Finance Committee of Primus Guaranty Ltd. and Symetra Financial Corporation.

Class III Directors�Term Ending in 2009

Reid T. Campbell has been a director of the Company since October 2006. He has served as a Managing Director of
White Mountains Capital, Inc. since January 2004. He joined White Mountains in 1994 and has served in a variety of
financial management positions with White Mountains. Prior to joining White Mountains, Mr. Campbell spent three
years with KPMG LLP.

Morgan W. Davis has been a director of the Company since October 2006. Mr. Davis is currently the President and a
director of American Centennial Insurance Co. He was formerly Managing Director at OneBeacon Insurance Group
LLC from 2001 to 2005. From 1994 to 2001, he served in a variety of capacities for White Mountains. Prior to that, he
was with Fireman�s Fund Insurance Company for seven years and INA/ Cigna for ten years. He is a director of
Montpelier Re Holdings, Ltd. and White Mountains.

Allan L. Waters has been a director of the Company since October 2006. Mr. Waters is currently the Chief Executive
Officer of White Mountains Re Group, Ltd. He served as Managing Member of Mulherrin Capital Advisors, LLC
from 1998 to March 2007. Mr. Waters formerly served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of White
Mountains from 1993 to 1998, as Vice President and Controller from 1990 to 1993, as Vice President of Finance from
1987 to 1990 and as Assistant Vice President of Finance from 1985 to 1987. He is a director of White Mountains and
Artemis Woman, LLC.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

OneBeacon is committed to maintaining sound corporate governance practices. Corporate governance is the system by which companies are
directed and controlled and involves the distribution of rights and responsibilities among the Board, management and the Company�s Members.
The Board has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines that set forth its overall approach towards corporate governance. The Company also
has a Code of Business Conduct that applies to all directors, officers and employees in carrying out their responsibilities to and on behalf of the
Company. No waivers of the Code of Business Conduct were requested of, or granted by, the Board for any director or executive officer during
2006. The Company�s Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Business Conduct are available at www.onebeacon.com.

White Mountains, through its subsidiary Lone Tree Holdings, Ltd., beneficially owns all of the Company�s issued and outstanding class B
common shares, representing 96.3% of the voting power of our voting securities and 72.4% of our outstanding common shares. As a result, we
may rely upon the �controlled company� exemption under the rules of The New York Stock Exchange (the �NYSE�) with respect to our board of
directors and committee composition. Pursuant to this exemption, we are not required to comply with the rules that require that our Board of
Directors be comprised of a majority of independent directors as defined by the NYSE. Our Board of Directors currently consists of 10 persons,
three of whom are independent as defined under the rules of the NYSE and seven of whom are current or former employees, directors or officers
of White Mountains or the Company.

The Board of Directors has determined that each of Ms. Grady and Messrs. Smith and Urness are independent in accordance with NYSE rules.
For a director to be independent, the Board must determine that the director has no relationship with the Company (other than being a director or
shareholder of the Company) or has only immaterial relationships with the Company. The Company does not apply categorical standards as a
basis for determining director independence. Accordingly, the Board considers all relevant facts and circumstances, on a case-by-case basis, in
making an independence determination.

3
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The Board notes no relationships (other than being directors or shareholders) between Ms. Grady and Messrs. Smith and Urness and the
Company or White Mountains. The Board notes relationships with the other members of the Board as disclosed in this proxy statement on
page 29 under the heading �Transactions with Related Persons, Promoters and Certain Control Persons�. In making its independence
determinations, the Board considered all such relationships in light of NYSE standards as well as the attributes it believes should be possessed
by independent-minded directors. Those attributes include the relative impact of the transactions to the director�s personal finances, the perceived
degree of dependence by the director or the Company upon the relationship or transactions continuing in the future and whether the transactions
were on terms that were reasonable and competitive.

At each meeting of the Board, the directors meet in executive session without Company management present except for the CEO, who is also a
member of the Board. The Chairman presides over these meetings. The procedures for Members, employees and others interested in
communicating directly with any or all of the non-management directors are described on page 6.

The Board

The day-to-day management of the Company, including preparation of financial statements and short-term and long-term strategic planning, is
the responsibility of management. The primary responsibility of the Board is to oversee and review management�s performance of these functions
in order to advance the long-term interests of the Company and its Members.

In fulfilling this responsibility, directors must exercise common sense business judgment and act in what they reasonably believe to be in the
best interests of the Company and its Members. Directors are entitled to rely on the honesty and integrity of senior management and the
Company�s outside advisors and auditors. However, it is the Board�s responsibility to establish that they have a reasonable basis for such reliance
by ensuring that they have a strong foundation for trusting the integrity, honesty and undivided loyalty of the senior management team upon
whom they are relying and the independence and expertise of outside advisors and auditors.

Committees of the Board

Audit Committee

The primary purposes of the Audit Committee are to: (1) assist Board oversight of: the integrity of the Company�s financial statements; the
qualifications and independence of the independent auditors; the performance of the internal audit function and the independent auditors; and the
Company�s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (2) provide an avenue of communication among the independent auditors,
management, the internal auditors and the Board; and (3) prepare the Report of the Audit Committee (which appears on page 34).

The Audit Committee is currently comprised of Mr. Foy, Mr. Smith and Mr. Urness (Acting Chairman). Mr. Urness is the acting audit
committee financial expert, as defined in SEC rules, based upon his training and experience. Mr. Waters served as the Chairman and as the audit
committee financial expert based upon his training and experience until March 2007. The NYSE rules require that we have a majority of
independent directors on our Audit Committee until the one year anniversary of our initial public offering, at which time we must have a fully
independent Audit Committee. The Board has determined that each current member of the Audit Committee except for Mr. Foy satisfies
applicable NYSE requirements as well as the separate independence standards set forth by the SEC. Mr. Foy is not independent because he is an
executive officer of White Mountains.

The Audit Committee Charter, which outlines the duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee, is available at www.onebeacon.com.

4
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Compensation Committee

The primary purposes of the Compensation Committee are to: (1) review and make recommendations on director compensation; (2) discharge
the Board�s responsibilities relating to the compensation of executives; (3) oversee the administration of the Company�s compensation plans, in
particular the incentive compensation and equity-based plans; and (4) prepare the Report of the Compensation Committee on Executive
Compensation (which begins on page 18). The Compensation Committee approves all compensation for executive officers and the other
executives who report directly to the Chief Executive Officer. The Compensation Committee relies on the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief
Human Resources Officer to assess, design and recommend compensation programs, plans, and awards for executives and directors, subject to
Committee approval, and to administer approved programs for its non-executive officers and employees within the parameters of plan design
and Committee direction. The Committee also approves all equity and non-equity incentive compensation plan awards. Currently, the
Committee has not delegated any of its authority to a subcommittee or members of management. The Committee has not engaged a
compensation consultant to assist it in the performance of its oversight duties, although the Committee may engage a consultant either
independently or jointly with management in the future.

Since we rely on the �controlled company� exemption under the rules of the NYSE, we are not required to have a fully independent compensation
committee. The Compensation Committee is currently comprised of Mr. Smith (Chairman), Ms. Grady and Mr. Urness. The Board has
determined that each current member of the Compensation Committee satisfies NYSE independence standards.

The Compensation Committee Charter, which outlines the duties and responsibilities of the Compensation Committee, is available at
www.onebeacon.com .

Nominating and Governance Committee

The primary purposes of the Nominating and Governance Committee are to: (1) identify individuals qualified to become Board members and
recommend such individuals to the Board for nomination for election to the Board; (2) make recommendations to the Board concerning
committee appointments; (3) develop, recommend and annually review corporate governance guidelines applicable to the Company and oversee
corporate governance matters and (4) oversee the evaluation of the Board and management.

Since we rely on the �controlled company� exemption under the rules of the NYSE, we are not required to have a fully independent nominating
committee. The Nominating and Governance Committee is currently comprised of Mr. Foy (Chairman), Mr. Campbell, Mr. Davis and
Ms. Grady. The Board has determined that Ms. Grady satisfies NYSE independence standards.

The Nominating and Governance Committee Charter, which outlines the duties and responsibilities of the Nominating and Governance
Committee, is available at  www.onebeacon.com .

General Criteria and Process for Selection of Director Candidates.   The Committee considers director candidates from diverse
sources and welcomes suggestions from Members, management and the Board of Directors. The Committee�s goal is
to have a balanced, engaged and collegial Board whose members possess the skills and background necessary to
ensure that Member value is maximized in a manner consistent with all legal requirements and the highest ethical
standards. There is no difference in the way in which the Committee evaluates nominees for director based upon the
source of the nomination. From time to time, the Committee may engage a third party for a fee to assist it in
identifying potential director candidates.

In identifying and evaluating director candidates, including those nominated by Members, the Nominating and Governance Committee does not
set specific criteria for directors. The Committee is responsible for determining desired Board skills and attributes such as independence,
integrity, expertise,
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breadth of experience, knowledge about the Company�s business or industry and ownership interest in the Company. Directors must be willing to
devote adequate time and effort to Board responsibilities. As set forth in the Company�s Corporate Governance Guidelines and its Charter, the
Committee is responsible for recommending director candidates to the Board.

Consideration of Director Candidates Nominated by Members.   The Company has not adopted a specific policy regarding
consideration of director candidates from Members. Members who wish to recommend candidates for consideration
by the committee may submit their nominations in writing to the Secretary at the address provided in this Proxy
Statement or on the Company�s web site at www.onebeacon.com. The Committee may consider such Member
recommendations when it evaluates and recommends candidates to the Board for submission to Members at each
annual general meeting. In addition, subject to the rights of White Mountains as the holder of the Class B common
shares, Members may nominate director candidates for election without consideration by the Committee by complying
with the eligibility, advance notice and other provisions of our Bye-Laws as described below.

Procedures for Nominating Director Candidates.   Member nominations of director candidates may be made if received timely
by the Secretary as outlined below. Under the Company�s Bye-laws, nominations for the election of directors may be
made by the Board or by any Member entitled to vote for the election of directors (a �Qualified Member�). A Qualified
Member may nominate persons for election as directors only if written notice of such Qualified Member�s intent to
make such nomination is delivered to the Secretary not later than: (1) with respect to an election to be held at an
annual general meeting, between 90 days and 120 days prior to the anniversary date of the immediately preceding
annual general meeting or not later than 10 days after notice or public disclosure of the date of the annual general
meeting is given or made available to Qualified Members, whichever date is earlier, and (2) with respect to an election
to be held at a special general meeting for the election of directors, the close of business on the tenth day following the
date on which notice of such meeting is first given to Qualified Members. Each such notice shall set forth: (a) the
name and address of the Qualified Member who intends to make the nomination and of the person or persons to be
nominated; (b) the class and number of shares that are owned beneficially and of record by the Qualified Member;
(c) a representation that the Qualified Member is a holder of record of common shares entitled to vote at such meeting
and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to nominate the person or persons specified in the notice;
(d) a representation as to whether the Qualified Member intends or is part of a group that intends to deliver a proxy
statement or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of outstanding shares require to elect the nominee or
otherwise to solicit proxies from Members in support of such nomination; (e) a description of all arrangements or
understandings between the Qualified Member and each such candidate and any other person or persons (naming such
person or persons) pursuant to which the nomination or nominations are to be made by the Qualified Member; (f) such
other information regarding each candidate proposed by such Qualified Member as would have been required to be
included in a proxy statement filed pursuant to the proxy rules of the SEC had each such candidate been nominated, or
intended to be nominated, by the Board; and (g) the consent of each such candidate to serve as a director of the
Company if so elected.

Meetings of the Board

The Company was formed in July 2006 and completed its initial public offering in November 2006. During 2006, the following meetings of the
Board were held: 4 meetings of the full Board, 1 meeting of the Compensation Committee and 1 meeting of the Nominating and Governance
Committee. The Audit Committee did not meet during 2006. During 2006, each director attended all of the meetings of the Board (held during
the period for which he or she has been a director); and (2) the meetings held by all committees of the Board on which he or she served (during
the periods that he or she served). Because the Company�s initial public offering was in November 2006, there was no Annual General Meeting
in 2006.
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All directors are encouraged but not required to attend the Annual General Meetings of Members. All directors plan to attend the 2007 Annual
Meeting.

Communication with the Board

The Nominating and Governance Committee has approved a process by which anyone who has a  concern about our conduct may communicate
that concern to the Chairman of the Board of Directors on behalf of the non-management directors as a group. You may contact the Chairman of
the Board in writing care of the Secretary at the address in this Proxy Statement. Interested parties also may contact the Chairman of the Board
electronically by submitting comments on our web site at www.onebeacon.com under the heading �Investor Relations/Corporate Governance.�

Anyone who has a concern regarding our accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters may communicate that concern to the
Audit Committee. You may contact the Audit Committee in writing care of the Secretary at our Bermuda office. Interested parties may also
contact the Audit Committee electronically by submitting comments on our web site at www.onebeacon.com under the heading �Investor
Relations/Corporate Governance.�
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VOTING SECURITIES AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS THEREOF

Voting Rights of Members

As of March 26, 2007, there were 28,258,554 Class A common shares outstanding and 71,754,738 Class B common shares outstanding.
Members of record of Class A common shares shall be entitled to one vote per common share, provided that if and so long as the votes conferred
by �Controlled� Class A common shares (as defined below) of any person, other than White Mountains, constitute more than 9.5% percent of the
votes conferred by the outstanding common shares of the Company, the vote conferred by each Class A common share comprised in such
Controlled Class A common shares shall be reduced by whatever amount is necessary so that after any such reduction the votes conferred by
such shares constitute 9.5% of the votes conferred by our outstanding common shares.

In giving effect to the foregoing provisions, the reduction in the vote conferred by the Controlled Class A common shares of any person shall be
effected proportionately among all the Controlled Class A common shares of such person; provided, however, that if a holder of our common
shares owns, or is treated as owning by the application of Section 958 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, of the United States
(the �Code�), interests in another holder of our common shares, the reduction in votes conferred by Controlled Class A common shares of such
holder (determined solely on the basis of Controlled Class A common shares held directly by such holder and Controlled Class A common
shares attributed from such other holder) shall first be effected by reducing the votes conferred on the Controlled Class A common shares held
directly by such holder and any remaining reduction in votes shall then be conferred proportionally among the Controlled Class A common
shares held by the other holders (in each case, to the extent that doing so does not cause any person to be treated as owning Controlled Class A
common shares constituting more than 9.5% of the votes conferred by the outstanding common shares of OneBeacon). In the event that the
aggregate reductions required by the foregoing provisions result in less than 100 percent of the voting power over the votes entitled to be cast,
the excess of 100 percent of the voting power over the votes entitled to be cast shall be conferred on the Class A common shares held by our
holders proportionately, based on the number of Class A common shares held by each holder; to the extent that doing so does not cause any
person to be treated as owning Controlled Class A common shares constituting more than 9.5% of the votes conferred by the outstanding
common shares of OneBeacon.

�Controlled� Class A common shares in reference to any person other than White Mountains means:

(1)  all Class A common shares directly, indirectly or constructively owned by such person within the meaning of
Section 958 of the Code; and

(2)  all Class A common shares directly, indirectly or constructively owned by any person or �group� of persons
within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder;
provided that this clause (ii) shall not apply to (a) any person (or any group that includes any person) that has been
exempted from the provisions of this clause or (b) any person or group that the Board, by the affirmative vote of at
least seventy-five percent (75%) of the entire Board, may exempt from the provisions of this clause.

Lone Tree Holdings Ltd., the Member of record of the outstanding Class B common shares, is entitled to ten votes for every Class B common
share.
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Principal Holders of Common Shares

To the knowledge of the Company, there was no person or entity beneficially owning more than 5% of the common shares outstanding as of
March 5, 2007, except as shown below.

    Name and address of beneficial owner

Number of
common shares
beneficially
owned

Percent of
Class

   Lone Tree Holdings Ltd., Bank of Butterfield Building, 42 Reid Street,
Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda 71,754,738 (1) 100 %(2)
   RS Investment Management Company LLC, 388 Market Street, Suite 1700
San Francisco, CA 94111 2,646,260 (3) 11.00 %
   Lazard Asset Management LLC, 30 Rockefeller Plaza,
New York, NY 10112 2,153,966 (3) 8.97 %
   Oppenheimer Capital LLC, 1345 Avenue of the Americas, 49th Floor,
New York, NY 10105 1,459,842 (3) 6.08 %
   Advisory Research, Inc./David Heller, 180 North Stetson Street,
Chicago, IL 60601 1,204,200 (3) 5.02 %

(1) Class B common shares.

(2) Represents 96.3% of the voting power of our voting securities and 72.4% of our outstanding common shares.

(3) Class A common shares. Information based solely on Schedule 13G filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Beneficial Stock Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers

The following table sets forth, as of March 5, 2007, beneficial ownership of Class A common shares by each director, the named executive
officers and the executive officers of the Company as a group:

Number of common shares owned
Name of beneficial owner Beneficially (a) Economically (b)
Directors
Reid T. Campbell � �
Morgan W. Davis 20,000 20,000
David T. Foy � �
Lois G. Grady 4,000 4,000
Richard P. Howard 5,000 5,000
Robert R. Lusardi � �
Lowndes A. Smith 10,000 10,000
Kent D. Urness � �
Allan L. Waters 100 100
Named Executive Officers
T. Michael Miller 5,100 533,616
Paul H. McDonough 4,000 107,621
Thomas L. Forsyth 1,000 71,813
Alexander C. Archimedes 1,100 99,930
Andrew C. Carnase 5,100 112,729
All directors and all executive officers as a group (16 persons) 72,898 1,075,603

Edgar Filing: OneBeacon Insurance Group, Ltd. - Form DEF 14A

14



(a) No director or executive officer individually or as a group beneficially owns 1% or more of the total common shares outstanding at
March 5, 2007. Beneficial ownership has been determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3(d)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

(b) Common shares shown as economically owned include common shares beneficially owned, including through the Employee Stock
Ownership Plan, target unearned phantom performance share awards and unvested incentive stock options.

9

Edgar Filing: OneBeacon Insurance Group, Ltd. - Form DEF 14A

15



EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Introduction

OneBeacon became a public company on November 9, 2006. Prior to the Company�s initial public offering, it was a wholly-owned subsidiary of
White Mountains, and as such, its compensation philosophy and executive compensation programs were governed by the White Mountains
Compensation Committee. Now that the Company is a stand-alone public company, the Company�s Compensation Committee has had the
opportunity to review our legacy compensation philosophy and compensation programs.

Our executive compensation program is designed to attract, retain and motivate our executives to maximize shareholder value over long periods
of time. We manage all aspects of our business, including executive compensation, according to our four operating principles, which remain:

•  Underwriting comes first

•  Maintain a disciplined balance sheet

•  Invest for total return

•  Think like owners

The overall goal of our executive compensation program is to develop, implement and monitor executive compensation policies and practices
which are consistent with and supportive of the long-term maximization of shareholder value and our operating principles.

Compensation Philosophy and Principles

We believe our executive compensation programs should support the Company�s primary objective of maximizing shareholder value over long
periods of time. The Committee believes that, in order to achieve this objective, our executive compensation programs must address four key
compensation principles. They are as follows:

Competitiveness

In order to execute our operating principles, a certain level of experience and expertise is required to manage our business with an intense and
disciplined focus. Our overall executive compensation programs must be competitive to allow us to attract and retain the most talented and
experienced executives. We believe we need to assess competitiveness relative to external benchmarks in terms of total compensation rather than
the competitiveness of any individual element of compensation. Although White Mountains historically has not benchmarked compensation, we
believe that external benchmarking is important given our recruiting needs to support the business.

Pay for Performance

We believe that talented executives are most attracted to an environment in which their contributions are rewarded commensurate with the value
they create. And, we believe that when performance objectives are clearly articulated and incentive opportunities aligned, talented and motivated
individuals excel.

Alignment with Shareholder Interests

We recognize that, to maximize shareholder value, we must closely align the financial interests of management with those of the Company�s
shareholders. This compensation principle reinforces our Think Like an Owner operating principle. We believe that when our owners realize
attractive returns, our executives should receive compensation at attractive levels. If our owners do not realize the expected return on their
investment, executives� overall compensation should be proportionately reflective.
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Long-Term and At-Risk

Recognizing that shareholder return is best measured over long periods of time, a significant portion of executive compensation is comprised of
long-term, at-risk pay. Less emphasis is placed on base salary, annual incentives, perquisites and employee benefits.

Elements of Compensation

We compensate our executives through a combination of base salary, annual incentive and long-term compensation. The focus of our
compensation programs is to ensure overall competitiveness while emphasizing performance-based compensation versus base salary, annual
incentives, perquisites or employee benefits  Base salary and annual incentives have historically been set at levels lower than those paid by other
property and casualty insurers with a higher percentage of total compensation paid in long-term incentive or performance-based compensation.
We believe that, by placing more emphasis on long-term performance-based compensation, we advance the Committee�s philosophy and
principles which ultimately contribute to achieving our long-term goals and core operating principles.

Base Salary

We have limited base salaries to no more than $400,000 annually, consistent with the practices of White Mountains and the belief that the
primary focus of executive compensation should be variable and performance-based. As such, the base salary of T. Michael Miller, our President
and Chief Executive Officer, has been capped at $400,000 and the other named executive officers� salaries have been set at various levels below
this cap. Executive salaries are not routinely adjusted despite an annual performance review process. Instead, depending on market
considerations, executive officers� salaries may be adjusted selectively by the Compensation Committee.

Annual Incentives (Management Incentive Program)

We provide annual incentive opportunities to our executive officers through our Management Incentive Program (MIP). The annual target bonus
for each of our named executive officers is equal to 50% of his base salary. The aggregate bonus pool can range from 0�200% of target,
depending upon Company performance in a number of categories established early in each performance year typically including some or all of
our long-term financial goals and other specific operational goals as determined by the Committee. Individual incentive payments can vary
widely around the pool average. There is no cap (other than the size of the pool) on any individual award. Typically, we expect the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to receive the incentive performance factor applicable to all of OneBeacon given our belief the
results of their efforts are appropriately reflected by the results of the Company. We would expect there to be variability in the incentive
performance factors of the other executive officers based on individual performance and the performance of their respective business or
functional groups.

The Compensation Committee reserves the right to exercise discretion in the final determination of the overall performance factor and the
performance factors for each business and/or named executive officer. We believe discretion best facilitates performance-based differentiation at
the business and individual level. While we understand discretion disqualifies this portion of compensation under Section 162(m) of the Internal
Revenue Code, generally a named executive officer�s non-performance-based compensation will not exceed $1 million, the threshold for
deductibility of non-performance based executive compensation established under Section 162(m).

Long-Term Incentive Compensation

We provide long-term incentive opportunities to our executive officers in the form of share-based performance awards. As a wholly-owned
subsidiary of White Mountains, the primary long-term incentive vehicle for executives was OneBeacon performance units and a secondary
vehicle was White Mountains performance shares. Performance unit awards are payable upon the level of satisfaction of pre-established
financial targets with respect to each three-year cycle. The number of units earned can range from 0% to 200% of the number of target units
originally awarded based on the level of performance against the target
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average combined ratio achieved over the three-year performance cycle. Performance units typically grow from their initial value at a rate tied to
a financial measure such as the compounded return on equity over the three-year cycle.

Beginning in 2007 with our initial public offering and going forward, the Committee intends to use OneBeacon performance shares as the
primary long-term incentive vehicle. However, from time to time the Committee may award other long-term incentive vehicles such as incentive
or non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards and performance units. In connection therewith, the Board of
Directors has adopted, and is requesting that shareholders approve, the 2007 OneBeacon Long-Term Incentive Plan (2007 Plan). Please see the
description of the material terms of the 2007 Plan under the heading �Proposal No. 2�Approval of 2007 OneBeacon Long-Term Incentive Plan and
Approval of Performance Criteria� on page 36 of this proxy statement.

Performance shares will be awards of phantom shares with respect to our common shares, some or all of which will be earned if performance
goals established by the compensation committee are satisfied over a specified award period. The value earned by an employee pursuant to an
award of performance shares will be generally equal to the number of award shares earned with respect to the award period (which may not be
more than 200% of the target number of shares awarded) multiplied by the fair market value of a common share on the date of the Compensation
Committee certifies performance under the plan. The maximum number of performance shares that can be earned by a participant pursuant to an
award of performance shares with respect to any particular award period of one year or more will not exceed 500,000.

While the Compensation Committee establishes the performance measures for each performance share grant at the beginning of the award cycle,
we expect the performance goals will not typically change from year-to-year as they have in the past with performance unit awards. The target
performance share goal has been set as annual growth in intrinsic business value per share (�GIBVPS�), of 13%, or 700 basis points above the 10
Year Treasury yield, whichever is higher. GIBVPS is measured by the following metrics over the three-year performance cycle:
(a) Underwriting Return on Equity including an adjustment to normalize catastrophe losses across years (weighted 40%); (b) Growth in
Adjusted Book Value per Common Share, including an adjustment for dividends paid (weighted 40%); and (c) Growth in the Company�s Price
per Common Share, including an adjustment for dividends paid (weighted 20%). Underwriting Return on Equity and Adjusted Book Value per
Common Share are non-GAAP financial measures that the Company uses to measure its performance.

Underwriting Return on Equity means actual GAAP net income of the Company, plus the dividends and accretion recorded in the period for the
Company�s economically defeased preferred stock minus actual investment income and realized gains, each after taxes, plus after-tax standard
investment income plus actual after-tax losses associated with catastrophic events (�Actual CAT Losses�) minus a charge for losses associated
with catastrophic events (�CAT Charge�), divided by the average of (a) the Company�s GAAP shareholders� equity at the beginning of the period
minus any remaining accretion to face value related to the Company�s economically defeased preferred stock at the beginning of the period, and
(b) the Company�s GAAP shareholders� equity at the end of the period, minus any remaining accretion to face value related to the Company�s
economically defeased preferred stock at the end of the period.

Growth in Adjusted Book Value per Common Share means the Company�s GAAP shareholders� equity at the end of the period on an as
converted/as diluted basis minus any remaining accretion to face value related to the Company�s economically defeased preferred stock at the end
of the period plus compounded dividends paid during the period, divided by the number of as converted/as diluted common shares of the
Company outstanding at the end of the period, divided by the Company�s GAAP shareholders� equity at the beginning of the period on an as
converted/as diluted basis minus any remaining accretion to face value related to the Company�s economically defeased preferred stock at the
beginning of the period, divided by the number of as converted/as diluted common shares of the Company outstanding at the beginning of the
period, minus one.
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Growth in the Company�s Price per Common Share means the market price for one common share at the end of the period, plus compounded
dividends paid per common share of the Company during the period, divided by the market price for a share of the Company�s common stock at
the beginning of the period, minus one.

For the purpose of these definitions, after-tax standard investment income will equal the yield on the 10-year Treasury note at the beginning of
the period, to be reset annually, plus 100 basis points multiplied by the Company�s average invested assets for the period, multiplied by one
minus the Company�s actual tax rate on investment income, realized gains, and unrealized gains for the period, and average invested assets will
exclude investment assets in trust accounts related to the Company�s economically defeased preferred stock. The CAT Charge is equal to
one-half of the annual plan CAT losses represented as a percentage of plan net earned premium, times actual net earned premium, plus 0.2%
times actual net earned premium, plus one-half of Actual CAT Losses, subject to an overall maximum of 5.5% of actual net earned premium,
each after taxes.

Based on the level of performance against target, the number of actual performance shares awarded can range from 0% to 200% of the number
of target performance shares originally granted. We have set a performance range such that 0% of targeted shares will be granted at levels of 6%
GIBVPS or lower and 200% of targeted shares will be granted at levels of 20% GIBVPS or higher, and perfectly pro-rated for various levels of
performance across this continuum. The value per share at vesting is the fair market value on the day the Compensation Committee certifies
performance under the plan. The OneBeacon Compensation Committee has determined that the targeted per share value for each award cycle
will be calculated using the share price at the beginning of the cycle period plus growth in share price of 13% per year less compounded
anticipated dividends. Performance shares are typically paid in cash but can be paid in shares at the discretion of our Compensation Committee.

Other than the stock options granted to certain executives and key employees in anticipation of the initial public offering described below, there
are no other options outstanding and the Committee does not currently intend to grant any additional options.

While there are no outstanding restricted stock awards, the Committee recognizes that time-based restricted stock awards may be an appropriate
tool to aid in recruiting executives from other companies and where sizable �in-the-money� awards would be forfeited prior to vesting. The
Company�s Long-Term Incentive Plan provides for the possibility of restricted share awards should the Committee so choose.

Compensation Mix

We have not established any formulas for determining the appropriate mix of short- and long-term compensation. As previously stated, we
emphasize long-term performance-based compensation. For example, Mr. Miller�s total 2007 compensation reflects a long-term incentive award
with a target value of approximately $4,000,000, or approximately 85% of his total target compensation.

Other Elements of Compensation

Retirement Benefits

We have no active pension plans. Benefit accruals under all qualified pension plans and all supplemental pension plans were frozen for all
employees in 2002. None of our executive officers is eligible to participate in or receive payments under any of our frozen pension plans.

Executive officers and other key employees may participate in our non-qualified deferred compensation plan. Under the plan, participants may
defer all or a portion of their compensation, which may be invested in the same investment options that are offered under our qualified plans,
including our common shares, and, as long as we remain part of the White Mountains group, White Mountains shares. None of these investment
options offered under these plans provide above-market rates of interest.
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All of our employees may participate in our qualified 401(k) plans and employee stock ownership plan. We do not provide supplemental
retirement benefits to any employees in connection with these plans.

Perquisites

Because of our belief in emphasizing performance-based, long-term compensation, we generally do not offer perquisites to our executive
officers other than as described below and in the Summary Compensation Table on page 19 of this proxy statement. The perquisites that we
offer to our executives primarily consist of housing/relocation allowance, subsidized parking and related tax reimbursements. The Committee
intends to review the Company�s perquisite policy at a future meeting in 2007 as part of its overall executive compensation review.

We also allow Mr. Miller to use corporate aircraft for personal reasons where the added security or convenience is warranted. Approved trips are
considered a perquisite and the aggregate incremental cost to the Company of the personal flights is included in Mr. Miller�s total compensation
in the Summary Compensation Table on page 19. Other trips are reimbursed by Mr. Miller at their full, incremental cost and are not considered a
perquisite. From time to time, an executive officer may take his spouse or other family members with him on a business trip. In this instance, we
do not include the aggregate incremental cost to the Company to provide that portion of the flight in the executive�s total compensation in the
Summary Compensation Table because the additional passenger(s) do not increase the aggregate incremental cost of the flight. However, we
impute to the executive�s income the Standard Industrial Fare Classification (SIFL) amount for the spouse and/or family�s flight as required by the
Internal Revenue Code. Imputed amounts, as well as related tax reimbursements, are included in the �Other Compensation column in the
Summary Compensation Table on page 19. During 2006, Mr. Miller had $91,752 of aggregate incremental cost for personal use of corporate
aircraft, shown in the �All Other Compensation� column of the Summary Compensation Table. No other named executive officer used corporate
aircraft for personal reasons in 2006.

Our executive officers also participate in other employee benefit plans on the same terms as our other employees. These plans include medical
and health insurance, life insurance and charitable gift matching.

Board Fees

Our executive officers, and White Mountains� executive officers, do not receive director fees for serving on the Company�s or subsidiaries� boards
of directors.

Employment Agreements

We have no long-term employment agreements with our executive officers except those that govern their responsibilities and duties as between
the Company and its subsidiaries. From time to time we have entered into short-term employment agreements with newly hired executives. The
details of these agreements are disclosed within this proxy statement under the caption �Employment Offer Letters� and �Potential Payments Upon
Termination or Change in Control.�  At all times, all executives remain �at will� employees.

Severance Arrangements

We do not have a formal severance policy; any recommended severance payment to an executive officer would be at the sole discretion of the
Committee.
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Change in Control

We have no change in control agreements with our executive officers or key employees. All long-term compensation instruments carry �double
trigger� change in control provisions, and will vest if (i) there is a change in control in OneBeacon and (ii) within 24 months of the change in
control, the recipient is terminated, other than for cause. A change in control will be defined as (i) a third party coming to own more than 35% of
OneBeacon�s common stock (on an economic basis) and more of OneBeacon�s common stock than White Mountains owns (also on an economic
basis), (ii) the continuing directors ceasing to constitute a majority of the OneBeacon board, or (iii) OneBeacon disposing of substantially all of
its assets to a third party. If both triggers are pulled, the manager in question will vest in (i) 100% of his or her options and (ii) the pro rata
portion of his or her performance shares earned at the time of the termination, assuming a 100% payout percentage. The change in control
provisions of our long-term incentive plans are described in more detail on page 25 under the heading �Potential Payments Upon Termination or
Change in Control.�

Ownership Guidelines

We do not currently have specific ownership guidelines. Going forward, a significant portion of executive compensation will be in performance
shares thus directly tied to the Company�s stock performance over the long term. The Committee may review whether ownership guidelines are
appropriate at some future date.

The OneBeacon Compensation Committee

Our Compensation Committee is currently comprised of three members: Lowndes A. Smith, Chair, Lois W. Grady and Kent D. Urness. The
Board has determined that each member of the Compensation Committee is (i) independent in accordance with the New York Stock Exchange
Listing Standards, (ii) a non-employee director as that term is defined in Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and
(iii) an outside director as that term is defined in Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.

Our Compensation Process

The Compensation Committee, consistent with its charter, reviews and approves the corporate goals and objectives relevant to the CEO,
evaluates the CEO�s performance in light of these goals and objectives, certifies the performance metrics of our short-term and long-term
incentive plans and determines and approves the CEO�s compensation based on this evaluation. Additionally, the Committee looks to the CEO to
evaluate and discuss his senior team�s performance with the Committee at least annually, and to make recommendations to the Committee as to
their salary, annual incentive targets, annual incentive payments, long-term incentive grants and long-term incentive payments. Our
Compensation Committee is responsible for approving all compensation for all executive officers and the other officers who directly report to
the CEO.

The Compensation Committee relies on T. Michael Miller, Chief Executive Officer, and Thomas N. Schmitt, Chief Human Resources
Executive, for assessing, designing and recommending compensation programs, plans, and awards for executives and directors subject to
Committee approval and for administering approved programs for its non-executive officers and employees within the parameters of plan design
and Committee direction. Messrs. Miller and Schmitt attend Committee meetings and at the Committee�s request, present management�s analysis
and recommendations regarding various compensation programs, actions and awards. The Committee, from time to time, meets in executive
session without management except for members of management as requested by the Committee.
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At each Compensation Committee meeting, the Committee looks to Messrs. Miller and Schmitt to report performance to date under the
Company�s annual and long-term incentive plans and to present and discuss the accompanying metrics and financials. At least once each year,
the Committee will look to Messrs. Miller and Schmitt  to present their recommendations for the next cycle�s incentive compensation
performance objectives, pool size and executive participants, taking into consideration external competitive benchmarks and anticipated
economic value creation over each plan�s three-year performance cycle.

We have not explicitly benchmarked Mr. Miller�s compensation relative to peer company CEOs� compensation, but intend to do so in 2007 with
the assistance of an external compensation consultant as described below. Similarly, we have not formally benchmarked other executive
compensation but instead have relied on our judgment and experience in recruiting executives when establishing their compensation. The
Committee has charged Messrs. Miller and Schmitt with reviewing all elements of our executive compensation programs with respect to our
four compensation principles and reporting back to the Committee at a subsequent meeting.

Compensation Consultant

The Compensation Committee and management intend to work with an external compensation consultant to assist in benchmarking executive
compensation, to assess the overall competitiveness of our executive compensation programs, and to make recommendations regarding total
compensation, relative mix of the various elements of executive compensation and other plan design considerations that best support our
compensation philosophy and principles.

The Committee believes strongly that it should coordinate with management in working with a consultant to ensure seamless administration and
clear communication between all parties. However, the Committee will engage the consultant and will have the ability to terminate the
consultant. The consultant will report directly to the Committee. The Committee may, from time to time, commission work independent of
management�s knowledge or involvement, such as specific benchmarking with respect to the CEO�s compensation. The Committee will be copied
on the final work product of any materials requested by management and will receive copies of all of the consultant�s bills. The Committee may
request that the consultant meet with the Committee, sometimes in executive session, from time to time as necessary or appropriate.

The White Mountains Compensation Committee

2006 was a year of transition for the Company, with most executive compensation actions initiated and governed by the White Mountains
Compensation Committee (prior to the initial public offering) and some by the OneBeacon Compensation Committee. Relevant actions taken by
the White Mountains Compensation Committee for the 2006 plan year with respect to the Company�s named executive officers are as follows:

The White Mountains Compensation Committee awarded Mr. Miller 2006-2008 long-term incentive awards under the White Mountains
Long-Term Incentive Plan. This plan has been shareholder approved and meets all other requirements of performance-based compensation under
the provisions and requirements of Section 162(m). In 2006, the White Mountains Compensation Committee granted Mr. Miller 10,560
OneBeacon performance units at a targeted $1,446,720 and 3,300 White Mountains performance shares valued at $1,782,000. Mr. Miller was
the only OneBeacon-affiliated White Mountains named executive officer; Section 162(m) did not apply to any other long-term incentive awards
to OneBeacon named executive officers.

At the February 21, 2007 White Mountains Compensation Committee meeting, the Committee cancelled Mr. Miller�s 2005-2007 and 2006-2008
White Mountains performance share awards based on the
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belief that Mr. Miller�s compensation should not be tied to White Mountains� share performance after OneBeacon�s initial public offering.

OneBeacon Compensation Committee Activity

On October 18, 2006, the OneBeacon Compensation Committee approved the OneBeacon Long-Term Incentive Plan (the �Plan�). The purpose of
the Plan is to advance the interests of the Company and its shareholders by providing long-term incentives to certain executives, consultants and
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries. Awards made under this plan will be deemed to be performance-based compensation under
Section 162(m) and the transitional rule 162-27(f)(4)(iii) and therefore we expect that any payments made under this plan will be fully
deductible.

In addition, in connection with the initial public offering of OneBeacon, the Compensation Committee awarded to a sizable group of OneBeacon
executives, including Mr. Miller and the other named executive officers, OneBeacon options with an exercise price of $30.00 per share, a price
that was 20% above the middle of the price range included in OneBeacon�s preliminary prospectus. The options vest in three equal installments
on each of the third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the date of the grant and have a term of 5.5 years. The Committee granted Mr. Miller
277,826 options and the other named executive officers lesser amounts as set forth in the Grants of Plan-Based Awards table on page 20 of this
proxy statement.

On February 20, 2007, the Committee approved all elements of compensation for Mr. Miller, the executive officers and his other direct reports.
The Summary Compensation Table provides total compensation for the named executive officers. Set forth below is a summary of the rationale
for the Committee�s compensation actions that fall outside of the base salary and annual cash incentive awards.

The Committee formally recognized the extraordinary contributions made by Mr. Miller, Mr. McDonough and selected other executive officers
and key employees over this past year to successfully launch us as a public company. Consistent with our pay-for-performance principle, the
Committee approved one-time bonus payments of $750,000 and $500,000 to Mr. Miller and Mr. McDonough, respectively, as well as other,
smaller awards to selected individuals. While not considered approved compensation under Section 162(m) because of their discretionary nature,
the Committee believed the extraordinary results of these two individuals warranted special consideration and remuneration.

The Committee approved payments under the 2004-2006 Long-Term Incentive award cycles (LTIP). Certain executives had a portion of their
LTIP based on White Mountains results. Of the named executive officers, Mr. Carnase and Mr. Archimedes had 2004-2006 White Mountains
performance share awards made under the OneBeacon Long-Term Incentive Plan. In February 2007, the Committee cancelled the outstanding
2005-2007 and 2006-2008 White Mountains phantom performance share awards made under the OneBeacon Long-Term Incentive Plan to all
executives and replaced them with OneBeacon-specific awards of approximately equivalent target value.

In 2006, the OneBeacon Board of Directors and the White Mountains Compensation Committee approved the creation of a special 2006 bonus
program for select employees at OneBeacon, including Mr. Miller and Mr. McDonough. The program was designed to reflect that the
performance targets for the 2004-2006 performance unit cycle were set in a manner that could result in an inequitable sharing of the value
created at OneBeacon with White Mountains (i.e., a 96% combined ratio produced at OneBeacon would contribute at or above target results for
White Mountains, but would contribute below target results at OneBeacon). As a result, the OneBeacon Compensation Committee approved for
payment at its February 20, 2007 Committee meeting a total of $3,000,000 under this program. Of the named executive officers, $400,815 and
$144,043 were awarded to Mr. Miller and Mr. McDonough, respectively.
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The Committee set the 2007 OneBeacon Management Incentive Plan objectives which will be the basis on which they will ultimately determine
the overall Company performance factor for 2007 performance. The objectives are consistent with the Company�s stated long-term financial
goals and substantially meeting these objectives will yield an expected payment at or near target.

The following report of the Compensation Committee shall not constitute soliciting material and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by
reference into any other filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including by any general statement
incorporating this proxy statement except to the extent the Company specifically incorporates this information by reference, and shall not
otherwise be deemed filed under such Acts.

REPORT OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The Compensation Committee of Company�s Board of Directors has submitted the following report for inclusion in this proxy statement:

Our Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis contained in this proxy statement with management.
Based on our Committee�s review of and the discussions with management with respect to the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, our
Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this proxy statement and in
the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 for filing with the SEC.

The foregoing report is provided by the following directors, who constitute the Committee:

Lowndes A. Smith, Chairman
Lois W. Grady
Kent D. Urness
Allan L. Waters*

*  Resigned from the Compensation Committee effective March 2007.
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth the cash compensation paid by us and our subsidiaries, as well as certain other compensation paid or accrued, for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, to our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer and each of our three other most highly
compensated executive officers (the �named executive officers�) for such year. None of our named executive officers is eligible to participate in
our pension plans. The Company does not pay above-market earnings in its non-qualified deferred compensation plans.

Name and Principal Position Year
Salary
($)

Bonus
($)(1)

Stock
Awards
($)(2)

Option
Awards
($)(3)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation
($)(4)

All Other
Compensation
($)(5) Total ($)

T. Michael Miller,
President and CEO 2006 400,000 1,950,815 2,069,765 45,129 851,984 198,439 5,516,133
Paul H. McDonough,
Senior Vice President and CFO 2006 366,346 1,479,726 111,251 12,034 306,181 11,533 2,287,071
Thomas L. Forsyth,
Secretary(6) 2006 353,365 731,250 55,625 8,023 � 81,949 1,230,212
Alexander C. Archimedes,
Senior Vice President-Personal Lines,
OneBeacon Insurance Company 2006 268,269 199,375 327,171 10,029 331,504 8,490 1,144,838
Andrew C. Carnase,
Senior Vice President-Commercial
Lines, OneBeacon Insurance Company 2006 247,307 200,000 221,212 12,034 379,665 9,426 1,069,644

(1)            Mr. Miller joined OneBeacon in April 2005. His 2006 annual bonus compensation includes a $500,000 sign-on bonus, a one-time bonus of $750,000
related to the successful completion of the Company�s initial public offering, a $400,815 bonus provided as a supplement to the 2004-2006 Performance Unit Plan
and a $300,000 annual incentive bonus under the 2006 Management Incentive Plan (�MIP�). Mr. McDonough joined OneBeacon in January 2006. His 2006 annual
bonus compensation includes a $525,000 sign-on bonus, a $14,400 supplemental salary payment pursuant to his employment agreement, a one-time bonus of
$500,000 related to the successful completion of the Company�s initial public offering, a $144,043 bonus provided as a supplement to the 2004-2006 Performance
Unit Plan, and a $281,250 annual incentive bonus under the 2006 MIP. Mr. Forsyth joined OneBeacon in January 2006. His 2006 annual bonus compensation
includes a $450,000 sign-on bonus and a $281,250 annual incentive bonus under the 2006 MIP. See �Employment Offer Letters�.

(2)            Represents amounts recorded during 2006 as compensation expense under FAS 123R for outstanding performance share and phantom share awards
under 2004-2006, 2005-2007 and 2006-2008 cycles without regard to estimated forfeitures. See �Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End.�  The 2004-2006
performance share and phantom share awards were settled in cash in March 2007. See �2006 Options Exercises and Stock Vested�. The 2005-2007 and 2006-2008
awards were cancelled in February 2007 in connection with the grant of replacement awards denominated in the Company�s common shares. See �Compensation
Discussion and Analysis.�  There were no forfeitures among the named executive officers during 2006. For a discussion of the assumptions used in calculating the
fair value of the awards under FAS 123R, see Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2007 (�Note 10�).

(3)            Represents amounts recorded during 2006 as compensation expense under FAS 123R for outstanding option awards without regard to estimated
forfeitures. See �Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End.�  There were no forfeitures among the named executive officers during 2006. For a discussion of
the assumptions used in calculating the fair value of the awards under FAS 123R, see Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the
Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006. Each option has a per share exercise price of $30.00, which is 20% above
the mid-range of the initial public offering price of $25.00. The options will vest in equal installments on each of November 9, 2009, 2010 and 2011. The term of
the options is five and a half years.

(4)            Represents amounts earned under the performance unit plan for the 2004-2006 performance cycle and paid in March 2007. See �OneBeacon
Performance Unit Plan.�

(5)            Includes tax reimbursements related to temporary housing, Company-provided parking and relocation and Company contributions to the Employee
Stock Ownership Plan and 401(k) Savings Plan under $10,000 individually unless otherwise stated. Mr. Miller�s other compensation consists of $56,100 for
temporary housing, $41,161 in a tax reimbursement related to the housing allowance and $91,752 in personal use of Company provided aircraft. Mr. Forsyth�s
other compensation consists of $18,318 for temporary housing, $33,872 in relocation expenses and $21,813 in a tax reimbursement related to the housing
allowance, Company-provided parking and relocation. The Company provided parking to Messrs. McDonough and Forsyth at no aggregate incremental cost to the
Company. Although there was no aggregate incremental cost associated with the provision of the parking spots, the Company included $2,940, representing a
portion of the fair market value of the parking, in each of Messrs. McDonough�s and Forsyth�s taxable income for 2006. All perquisites, including personal use of
Company-provided aircraft, were valued based upon the aggregate incremental cost to the Company, which in all instances except for personal use of
Company-provided aircraft represents the actual out-of-pocket cost to the Company to provide the benefit. The aggregate incremental cost of personal use of
Company-provided aircraft was computed based upon a direct cost per hour multiplied by the number of hours of use. The direct cost per hour is calculated based
upon the following costs:  fuel; maintenance (parts and labor); engine restoration; repositioning; and miscellaneous expenses including take-off and landing fees,
crew expenses and catering.
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(6)            Mr. Forsyth resigned effective March 30, 2007.

19

Edgar Filing: OneBeacon Insurance Group, Ltd. - Form DEF 14A

27



Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table summarizes the plan based awards granted to the named executive officers in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006:

Estimated Future Payouts
Under Non-Equity 
Incentive Plan Awards (1)

Estimated Future Payouts
Under Equity Incentive
Plan Awards (2)

Name
Grant
Date

Non-
Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards
(#)

Thres-
hold
($)

Target
($)

Maximum
($)

Thres-
hold
(#)

Target
(#)

Maximum
(#)

All Other
Option
Awards:
Number
of
Securities 
Underlying
Options
(#)(3)

Exercise
or Base
Price of
Option
Awards
($/Sh)(4)

Grant
Date
Fair
Value of
Stock
and
Option
Awards
(5)

T. Michael Miller 10/18/2006 277,826 30 1,353,867
2/22/2006 10,560 0 1,446,720 3,616,800
2/22/2006 0 3,300 6,600 1,771,704

Paul H. McDonough 10/18/2006 74,087 30 361,032
2/8/2006 3,691 0 505,667 1,264,168
2/8/2006 0 360 720 193,277

Thomas L. Forsyth 10/18/2006 49,391 30 240,686
2/8/2006 3,670 0 502,790 1,256,975
2/8/2006 0 180 360 96,638

Alexander C.
Archimedes 10/18/2006 61,739 30 300,859

2/8/2006 3,691 0 505,667 1,264,168
2/8/2006 0 360 720 193,277

Andrew C. Carnase 10/18/2006 74,087 30 361,032
2/8/2006 3,691 0 505,667 1,264,168
2/8/2006 0 360 720 193,277

(1)            Consists of performance units granted under the OneBeacon Performance Unit Plan, except for Mr. Miller�s performance units, which were granted
under the White Mountains Long-Term Incentive Plan. All performance units granted on February 8, 2006 were granted with respect to the 2006-2008
performance cycle.

(2)            Consists of performance share and phantom performance share awards granted under the OneBeacon Phantom WTM Share Plan, except for
Mr. Miller�s awards, which were granted under the White Mountains Long-Term Incentive Plan. All performance shares and phantom performance shares granted
on February 8, 2006 were granted with respect to the 2006-2008 performance cycle. All outstanding performance shares and phantom performance shares that
were based on White Mountains results were canceled at the February 2007 Compensation Committee meeting, and replaced with grants under the OneBeacon
Long-Term Incentive Plan. See �Compensation Discussion and Analysis.�

(3)            In conjunction with our initial public offering, we made a one-time grant of non-qualified options under the OneBeacon Long-Term Incentive Plan. See
footnote 3 to the Summary Compensation Table.

(4)            On October 18, 2006, the date of grant of the options, no closing price was available for the Company�s common shares as the grant preceded the
Company�s initial public offering in November 2006. See footnote 3 to the Summary Compensation Table for a description of the calculation of the exercise price.

(5)            Represents the grant date fair value of the options, performance shares and phantom performance shares awarded during 2006, as determined in
accordance with FAS 123R without regard to forfeitures. There were no forfeitures among the named executive officers during 2006. For a discussion of the
assumptions used in calculating the fair value of the awards under FAS 123R, see Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the
Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.
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Employment Offer Letters

Offer Letter for Mr. Miller

Pursuant to his April 2005 employment offer letter, Mr. Miller was provided, in addition to our customary officer benefits, a sign-on bonus of
$1,000,000 ($500,000 of which was paid in 2005 and $500,000 was paid in 2006) and a guaranteed annual bonus of no less than $200,000 for
2005, 2006 and 2007. Each installment of Mr. Miller�s sign-on bonus carries with it the obligation that he remains employed with the Company
for the twelve-month period following receipt of the installment. Under certain circumstances, if Mr. Miller�s employment with us is terminated
within the first two years, Mr. Miller is entitled to a separation payment equal to two years of salary.

Offer Letter for Mr. McDonough

Pursuant to his December 2005 employment offer letter, Mr. McDonough was provided with a base salary of $375,000 and, in addition to our
customary officer benefits, a sign-on bonus of $525,000, which was paid in 2006. Mr. McDonough also was provided with a monthly payment
of $1,200 for 20 months and a related tax reimbursement, a portion of which was paid in a lump sum during 2006, and the remainder of which
was paid in a lump sum in early 2007. Mr. McDonough�s sign-on bonus carries with it the obligation that he remains employed with OneBeacon
for the twelve-month period following receipt of the bonus. Under certain circumstances, if Mr. McDonough�s employment with us is terminated,
Mr. McDonough is entitled to a separation payment equal to two years of salary and bonus. The offer letter also provides that Mr. McDonough
will participate in the OneBeacon Performance Unit Plan for the 2004-2006, 2005-2007 and 2006-2008 performance cycles. Mr. McDonough
was granted such awards. The 2004-2006 award was paid out in March 2007. See �Compensation Discussion and Analysis,� �Summary
Compensation Table� and �OneBeacon Performance Unit Plan.�

Offer Letter for Mr. Forsyth

Pursuant to his December 2005 employment offer letter, Mr. Forsyth was provided with a base salary of $375,000 and, in addition to our
customary officer benefits, a sign-on bonus of $450,000, which was paid in 2006 and an additional sign-on bonus of $200,000, to be paid in
March 2007. Each installment of Mr. Forsyth�s sign-on bonus carries with it the obligation that he remains employed with OneBeacon for the
twelve-month period following receipt of the installment. Under certain circumstances, if Mr. Forsyth�s employment with us is terminated,
Mr. Forsyth is entitled to a separation payment equal to two years of salary and bonus. The offer letter also provides that Mr. Forsyth will
participate in the OneBeacon Performance Unit Plan for the 2005-2007 and the 2006-2008 performance cycles. Mr. Forsyth was granted such
awards. See �Compensation Discussion and Analysis� and �OneBeacon Performance Unit Plan.�

Offer Letter for Mr. Carnase

Mr.  Carnase�s offer letter provides that under certain circumstances if his employment is terminated, he is entitled to a separation payment equal
to twelve months of salary.

Management Incentive Plan (MIP)

Our board of directors set target awards for the 2006 MIP at 50% of base salary for the named executive officers. Target performance was a 96%
adjusted GAAP combined ratio for total OneBeacon operations, computed on a calendar year basis. The Compensation Committee took the level
of achievement of the following additional performance factors into account when establishing the size of the MIP bonus pool: expanding and
integrating business opportunities, adapting to changing demands, continuing to manage aggregate catastrophic exposures for wind, earthquake,
flood and terrorism, and completing transactions that build long-term economic value. Based upon satisfaction of the performance goals, the
Compensation Committee determined to payout at 150% of target under the 2006 MIP.
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OneBeacon Performance Unit Plan

Performance units represent the right to receive cash if specified performance goals are satisfied with respect to an award in a specified
performance cycle. They are incentive awards that are payable upon completion of pre-defined business goals, are settled in cash and do not fall
within the scope of FAS 123R.  The total value earned by a participant with respect to an award of performance units is equal to the value of
each performance unit on the date of payment determined by our compensation committee multiplied by the number of performance units earned
over the performance cycle. Each of the performance units held by the named executive officers was initially valued at $100.

The value of the performance units granted increases or decreases based upon the Company�s pre-tax underwriting return on capital, or pre-tax
UROC with respect to the 2004-2006 performance cycle, and after-tax underwriting return on capital, or after-tax UROC, with respect to the
2005-2007 and 2006-2008 performance cycles. The number of performance units payable depended upon the Company�s adjusted GAAP
combined ratio. From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2006, pre-tax UROC increased by an annual average of approximately 19.5%. The
Company�s adjusted GAAP combined ratio for the period was 95.4%. The Compensation Committee in February 2007 determined that the
performance versus the target established at the beginning of 2004 yielded a performance unit payout of 62.4% of target which resulted in the
payouts included herein.

The value of the performance units granted with respect to the 2005-2007 performance cycle and the 2006-2008 performance cycle increases or
decreases by our after-tax underwriting return on capital, or after tax UROC, achieved during the performance cycle, compounded annually for
the three years of the performance cycle. For the 2005-2007 performance cycle, the target performance unit value is $146 (which assumes an
after tax UROC of 13.3%) and the maximum performance unit value is $182 (which assumes an after tax UROC of 22.9%). For the 2006-2008
performance cycle, the target performance unit value is $137 (which assumes an after tax UROC of 11%) and the maximum performance unit
value is $171 (which assumes an after tax UROC of 19.5%).

The number of performance units payable depends on our adjusted GAAP combined ratio. With respect to the 2005-2007 performance cycle,
target performance is the attainment of an adjusted GAAP combined ratio of 95%. At an adjusted GAAP combined ratio of 100% or more
(threshold), 0% of the target number of performance units awarded will be payable, and at an adjusted GAAP combined ratio of 90% or less
(maximum), 200% of the target number of performance units awarded will be payable.

With respect to the 2006-2008 performance cycle, target performance is the attainment of an adjusted GAAP combined ratio of 96%. At an
adjusted GAAP combined ratio of 102% or more (threshold), 0% of the target number of performance units awarded will be payable, and at an
adjusted GAAP combined ratio of 90% or less (maximum), 200% of the target number of performance units awarded will be payable.

The adjusted GAAP combined ratio is a proprietary measure which is viewed by us as being indicative of our underwriting performance and
UROC is a proprietary measure which is viewed by us as being indicative of our operating performance.

Awards of performance units are generally forfeited if the holder terminates employment with us prior to the end of the award period. However,
prorated awards may be paid in the event of a termination of employment due to death, disability or retirement. In the event of the termination of
an employee�s employment with us for certain reasons or certain adverse changes in the applicable plan (all as defined in the applicable plan), in
each case after a change in control (as defined in the applicable plan), the participant will receive a payment (as specified in the applicable plan)
with respect to performance units granted prior to the change in control.
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OneBeacon Phantom WTM Share Plan and Replacement Awards

Performance shares and phantom performance shares represent the right to receive cash (or, in the case of performance shares, common shares at
the discretion of the applicable plan administrator) if specified performance goals are satisfied with respect to an award in a specified
performance cycle.

At the beginning of 2007, the Company�s executives participated in a plan based on White Mountains� results. As described below, in
February 2007, outstanding performance share and phantom performance share awards with respect to the 2005-2007 and 2006-2008
performance cycles granted to the Company�s executives based on White Mountains� results were cancelled. The total value earned by a
participant with respect to an award of performance shares or phantom performance shares is generally equal to the fair market value of a
common share of White Mountains on the date of payment multiplied by the number of award shares. The number of performance shares or
phantom performance shares payable with respect to each award depends on the extent to which performance goals are achieved. Target
performance, for all performance cycles, is the attainment of a White Mountains corporate after-tax return on equity (�White Mountains ROE�) of
13% as measured by White Mountains� growth in its intrinsic business value per share. At a White Mountains ROE of 6% or less (threshold), 0%
of the target number of performance shares or phantom performance shares will be payable, and at a White Mountains ROE of 20% or more
(maximum), 200% of the target number of performance shares or phantom performance shares will be payable.

At our February 2007 Compensation Committee meeting, the performance shares and phantom performance shares outstanding with respect to
the 2005-2007 and 2006-2008 performance cycles were canceled. The canceled grants were replaced with two performance share grants for �stub
cycles� under the OneBeacon Long-Term Incentive Plan (which is summarized below), a one-year 2007 performance cycle and a two-year
2007-2008 performance cycle, respectively. The new performance shares will be denominated in our common shares, and will be payable in
cash or our common shares at the discretion of the Compensation Committee. The new OneBeacon Long-Term Incentive Plan does not provide
for the granting of phantom performance shares in the future.

The number of performance shares granted under the replacement grants was determined by dividing the average price of a White Mountains
common share over the ten trading days immediately preceding November 9, 2006, the date of our initial public offering, by $25.00, our initial
public offering price, and then multiplying the number of performance shares or phantom performance shares in the canceled grants by this
�replacement ratio�. The replacement grants and the canceled grants are intended to be of equivalent economic value.

The performance goals for the 2007 performance cycle will be based on GIBVPS, and the performance goals for the 2007-2008 performance
cycle will be based on GIBVPS for 2007 and 2008. The payout percentage for the 2007 performance cycle (which can range from 0% to 200%
of target) will also take into account White Mountains� growth in intrinsic business value per share (�White Mountains GIBVPS�) for 2005 and
2006, and the payout percentage for the 2007-2008 stub cycle (which can range from 0% to 200% of target) will also take into account White
Mountains� GIBVPS for 2006.

Awards of performance shares are generally forfeited if the holder terminates employment with us prior to the end of the award period. Prorated
awards may be paid in the event of a termination of employment due to death, disability or retirement. In the event of the termination of an
employee�s employment with us for certain reasons or certain adverse changes in the applicable plan (all as defined in the applicable plan), after a
change in control (as defined in the applicable plan), then the participant will receive a payment (as specified in the applicable plan) with respect
to performance shares granted prior to the change in control.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End

The following table summarizes the option and stock awards to our named executive officers that were outstanding as of December 31, 2006:

Option Awards Stock Awards

Name

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Exercisable

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Unexercisable
(1)

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Number
of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Unearned
Options
(#)

Option
Exercise
Price
($)

Option
Expiration
Date

Number
of
Shares
or
Units
of
Stock
That
Have
Not
Vested
(#)

Market
Value
of
Shares
or
Units
of
Stock
That
Have
Not
Vested
($)

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Number
of
Unearned
Shares,
Units or
Other
Rights
That
Have
Not
Vested
(#)(2)

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Market
or
Payout
Value of
Unearned
Shares,
Units or
Other
Rights
That
Have
Not
Vested
($)(2)

T. Michael Miller 277,826 30 5/9/2012 9,135 5,293,093
Paul H. McDonough 74,087 30 5/9/2012 522 302,462
Thomas L. Forsyth 49,391 30 5/9/2012 261 151,231
Alexander C.
Archimedes 61,739 30 5/9/2012 1,001 579,720
Andrew C. Carnase 74,087 30 5/9/2012 776 449,493

(1)            In conjunction with our initial public offering, we made a one-time grant of non-qualified options under the OneBeacon Long-Term Incentive Plan. See
footnote 3 to the Summary Compensation Table.

(2)            All outstanding performance shares and phantom performance shares that were based on White Mountains results were canceled at the February 2007
Compensation Committee meeting, and replaced with grants under the OneBeacon Long Term Incentive Plan. See �Compensation Discussion and Analysis.� Equity
incentive plan awards not yet vested as of December 31, 2006 include: (i) WTM performance shares awarded for the 2005-2007 cycle to Mr. Miller (3,000 target
performance shares); (ii) WTM performance shares awarded for the 2006-2008 cycle to Mr. Miller (3,300 target performance shares); (iii) OneBeacon Phantom
WTM shares awarded for the 2005-2007 cycle to Mr. Archimedes (330 target phantom shares) and Mr. Carnase (175 target phantom shares); and (iv) OneBeacon
Phantom WTM shares awarded for the 2006-2008 cycle to Mr. McDonough (360 target phantom shares), Mr. Forsyth (180 target phantom shares),
Mr. Archimedes (360 target phantom shares) and Mr. Carnase (360 target phantom shares). Share amounts and payout values are based on an estimated payout at
145% of target, an amount equal to the performance achieved for the 2004-2006 performance cycle.

2006 Options Exercises and Stock Vested

The following table summarizes the performance share and phantom performance shares that vested during the fiscal year ended December 31,
2006; no options vested during 2006:

Stock Awards

Name

Number of Shares
Acquired on
Vesting (#)(1)

Value Realized on
Vesting ($)(2)

T. Michael Miller 1,740 1,008,208
Paul H. McDonough
Thomas L. Forsyth
Alexander C. Archimedes 580 336,069
Andrew C. Carnase 290 168,035

(1)  Performance share and phantom performance share awards granted under the OneBeacon Phantom WTM
Share Plan, except for Mr. Miller�s awards, which were granted under the White Mountains Long-Term Incentive Plan.
Represents 145% of target shares awarded for the 2004-2006 performance cycle. The shares vested on December 31,
2006 at 145% of target.
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(2)  Based on $579.43, the closing share price of White Mountains common shares on December 31, 2006. Actual
amounts paid in March 2007 based on performance under the plan and the closing share price of White Mountains
common shares on February 21, 2007, the date of the White Mountains Compensation Committee meeting, were as
follows: Mr. Miller-$994,514; Mr. Archimedes-$331,505; and Mr. Carnase-$165,752.

Pension Plan

Benefit accruals under our qualified defined benefit pension plan and our non-qualified supplemental plan were frozen for all participating
employees as of December 31, 2002. None of the named executive officers is eligible for our defined benefit pension plans based on their hire
dates.

Deferred Compensation Plan

The named executive officers are eligible to voluntarily participate in an unfunded, nonqualified plan for the purpose of deferring current
compensation for retirement savings (the �Deferred Compensation Plan�). Pursuant to the Deferred Compensation Plan, participants can choose to
defer all or a portion of qualifying remuneration payable (consisting of up to 80% of base salary, up to 100% of annual bonus and/or up to 100%
of long-term incentive compensation), which can be invested in various investment options including common shares of White Mountains and
our common shares. None of the investment options offered under the Deferred Compensation Plan provides an above-market rate of interest.

All compensation credited to the Deferred Compensation Plan accounts of the named executive officers has been included in the Summary
Compensation Table for the period in which such compensation was earned (subject to deferral).

The table below presents the contributions, earnings and ending account balances for the named executive officers under OneBeacon�s various
unfunded, nonqualified deferred compensation plans for 2006. There were no withdrawals from the Deferred Compensation Plan by named
executive officers in 2006.

Name

Executive
Contributions in
Last FY ($)(1)

Registrant
Contributions in
Last FY ($)(2)

Aggregate
Earnings in Last
FY ($)

Aggregate
Balance at Last
FYE ($)(1)

T. Michael Miller
Paul H. McDonough
Thomas L. Forsyth
Alexander C. Archimedes $ 167,600.00 $ � $ 128,324.10 $ 1,252,972.28
Andrew C. Carnase

(1)  Mr. Archimedes� 2006 contribution represents the deferral of a portion of his 2005 incentive compensation
(payable in March 2006) which was previously reported as compensation in the Company�s Final Prospectus dated
November 9, 2006.

(2)  OneBeacon does not make contributions to the deferral plans.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

Employment Agreements

We have no long-term employment agreements with our named executive officers. From time to time, we have entered into short-term
employment arrangements with newly hired executives, such as those with Messrs. Miller, McDonough, Forsyth and Carnase as described
above.
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Severance Agreements

We have no formal severance arrangements with our named executive officers, other than those contained in employment arrangements or
pursuant to our compensation plans. Severance benefits for our named executive officers, if any, are as disclosed in �Employment Offer Letters�
above or as determined by the Compensation Committee from time to time in its sole discretion. Pursuant to their offer letters, each of
Messrs. Miller, McDonough, Forsyth and Carnase would have received a separation payout equal to $800,000, $1,125,000, $1,125,000 and
$250,000 respectively, had any of them been involuntarily terminated on December 31, 2006.

Certain Provisions of Our Long-Term Incentive Plans

Under our long-term incentive plans, certain events such as retirement, death or disability or a change in control of the Company coupled with
involuntary or constructive employment termination or amendment to such plans materially adverse to its participants, may cause stock options
to become partially exercisable and performance shares and performance units to become payable in full or in part as outlined below.

None of our named executive officers would have been entitled to receive any compensation with respect to outstanding award grants under our
long-term incentive plans in the event of voluntary termination of employment on December 31, 2006. None of our named executive officers
would have been entitled to receive any compensation with respect to outstanding award grants under our long-term incentive plans in the event
of retirement on December 31, 2006 because none met the age eligibility requirement.

In the event of death or disability of any of Messrs. Miller, McDonough, Forsyth, Archimedes and Carnase on December 31, 2006, each would
have been entitled to receive compensation of $5,291,822, $720,286, $357,499, $1,458,673, and $1,338,704, respectively, with respect to
outstanding award grants under our long-term incentive plans. These amounts include the compensation associated with performance shares and
performance units for the 2004-2006 performance cycle that were earned by the named executive officers on December 31, 2006 and paid in
March 2007. These amounts exclude accelerated vesting of out-of-the money stock options (resulting from death or disability) that were not
otherwise vested at December 31, 2006.

In the event of a change in control of the Company followed by involuntary termination, including constructive termination or amendment of our
long-term incentive plans materially adverse to its participants (each of which is assumed to have occurred on December 31, 2006),
Messrs. Miller, McDonough, Forsyth, Archimedes and Carnase would have been entitled to receive compensation of up to $14,496,164,
$981,499, $618,712, $1,418,370, and $1,291,571, respectively, with respect to outstanding award grants under our long-term incentive plans.
These amounts include the compensation associated with performance shares and performance units for the 2004�2006 performance cycle that
were earned by the named executive officers on December 31, 2006 and paid in March 2007.
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Our long-term incentive plans do not provide for tax reimbursements for excess parachute payments that may result from a change in control.

Required Maximum Payouts

Name

Involuntary
Termination/
Separation($)

Voluntary
Termination/
Retirement($)(1)

Death or
Disability($)(2)

Change in Control with
Termination($)(3)

T. Michael Miller LTIP � � 5,291,822 14,496,164
Severance 800,000 � � �

Paul H. McDonough LTIP � � 720,286 941,489
Severance 1,125,000 � � �

Thomas L. Forsyth LTIP � � 357,499 618,712
Severance 1,125,000 � � �

Alexander C. Archimedes LTIP � � 1,458,673 1,418,370
Severance � � � �

Andrew C. Carnase LTIP � � 1,338,704 1,291,571
Severance 250,000 � � �

(1)  None of the named executive officers are age 60 or older, therefore none are entitled to retirement payment
under any of our Long Term Incentive Plans.

(2)  In the event of death or disability, for awards made under the OneBeacon plans, the named executive officers
would receive a pro-rated payment based on the number of full or partial months of service during the award period.
The award payment is calculated based on the performance attained through the last day of the calendar year in which
the death or disability occurred. For awards made under the White Mountains plans, the payment would follow a
similar calculation, except that awards would be paid based on an assumed 100% performance factor, regardless of
actual performance.

(3)  In the event of a change in control, followed by involuntary termination, constructive termination, or materially
adverse amendments to our long-term incentive plans (�qualifying events�), performance units would be pro-rated based
on the full or partial months that have elapsed during the award period, an assumed performance factor of 100%, and
the unit value as of the last day of the calendar quarter prior to the qualifying event. Performance shares granted under
the OneBeacon Phantom WTM Share Plan would be pro-rated based on the number of full or partial months of
service during the award period, a performance percentage equal to the greater of the performance percentage
calculated immediately prior to the Qualifying Event or 100%, and the greater of the market value of a share
immediately prior to the change in control, or the market value of a share immediately prior to the date the qualifying
event occurs. Performance shares granted under the White Mountains Long Term Incentive Plan would be valued
based on an assumed 200% performance factor and the greater of the market value of a share immediately prior to the
change in control, or the market value of a share immediately prior to the date the qualifying event occurs.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS

The following table summarizes the compensation paid to our directors in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

Name Fees Earned or Paid
in Cash ($)(1)

Total ($)

Lowndes A. Smith(2) $ 149,507 $ 149,507
T. Michael Miller(3)
Reid T. Campbell(3)
Morgan W. Davis(1)(4) $ 50,712 $ 50,712
Steven E. Fass(3)(5)
David T. Foy(3)
Lois W. Grady(1) $ 35,082 $ 35,082
Richard P. Howard(1) $ 48,384 $ 48,384
Robert R. Lusardi(3)
Allan L. Waters(6) $ 79,973 $ 79,973

(1)  Includes annual Board retainer and meeting fees. Retainers relate to the period from the date of the director�s
election through April 2007 unless otherwise noted. Kent D. Urness was elected as a director in February 2007.

(2)  Includes meeting fees and pro-rated retainers as follows:  annual Board retainer; Chairman of the Board
retainer; Chairman of Compensation Committee retainer; and Audit Committee retainer.

(3)  Employee of the Company or White Mountains for Board compensation purposes.

(4)  Includes pro-rated retainer of $2,329 for service on the Board of Managers of One Beacon Insurance Group
LLC.

(5)  Mr. Fass resigned from the Board in February 2007.

(6)  Includes meeting fees and pro-rated annual retainers as follows:  annual Board retainer; Chairman of Audit
Committee retainer. Mr. Waters served as Chairman of the Audit Committee and on the Compensation Committee
until March 2007.

Our directors who are not employed by us or White Mountains (excluding for this purpose American Centennial Insurance Company) are
entitled to the following compensation for service on the Board of Directors and Board committees:

•  Annual compensation of $75,000 for each member of the Board, $150,000 annually for the Chairman of the
Board, $50,000 annually for the Chairman of the Audit Committee, $10,000 annually for each member of the Audit
Committee and $7,500 annually for each committee chairperson, other than the Audit Committee Chairman; and

•  Each director will receive a fee of $2,000 for each meeting of the Board or meeting of any committee that he or
she attends.

We will reimburse our directors for reasonable costs and expenses incurred in connection with attendance at Board and Board committee
meetings.
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TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS, PROMOTERS AND CERTAIN CONTROL PERSONS

Approval of Related Person Transactions

The Audit Committee pursuant to its Charter reviews and approves all related or affiliated party transactions. For purposes of the Audit
Committee�s oversight responsibility, a related or affiliated party transaction is defined as any transaction that is required to be disclosed in the
Company�s proxy statement�a transaction of more than $120,000 in which the Company and a director, executive officer or 5% or more
shareholder or their immediate family members are participants and have a direct or indirect material interest. In addition, pursuant to a
provision in the Company�s Bye-Laws, any transaction between the Company and White Mountains or any officer, director or employee of
White Mountains or any of their affiliates must be approved either by a majority (a) of the disinterested directors or (b) holders of a majority of
common shares, excluding common shares held by White Mountains. In the course of its review and approval of a disclosable related party
transaction, the Audit Committee or the disinterested directors as the case may be considers:

•  the nature of the related person�s interest in the transaction; and

•  the material terms of the transaction, including, without limitation, the amount and type of transaction.

Any member of the Audit Committee who is a related person with respect to a transaction under review, or any director or officer of White
Mountains who is also a director of the Company, may not participate in the deliberations or vote respecting approval of the transaction but may
be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Audit Committee or the full Board as the case may be.

Transactions with Related Persons

White Mountains

During the fourth quarter of 2006, White Mountains sold 27.6 million or 27.6% of the Company�s common shares in an initial public offering.
Prior to the initial public offering, OneBeacon was a wholly-owned subsidiary of White Mountains. As of December 31, 2006, White Mountains
owned 72.4% of the Company�s outstanding common shares representing 96.3% of the voting power of the Company�s common shares.

Separation Agreement

In connection with the initial public offering of the Company�s common shares and a related internal reorganization, the Company entered into a
Separation Agreement dated November 14, 2006 with White Mountains to address a number of operational, administrative and financial matters
relating to the fact that OneBeacon would no longer be a wholly-owned subsidiary of White Mountains. These matters included, among others,
the administration of payroll, employee benefits programs, deferred compensation and 401(k) plans, OneBeacon�s travel and logistics office,
certain information technology assets and functions and certain agreements with respect to finance and tax arrangements. Pursuant to the
Separation Agreement, White Mountains has agreed to indemnify the Company and its subsidiaries, as well as their current and former officers,
directors and employees to the extent permitted by law, for any and all claims or actions resulting in losses, expenses or damages relating to or
arising out of the business, operation or ownership of any subsidiary company or business owned by the Company or its subsidiaries that,
subsequent to OneBeacon�s ownership, was a subsidiary or business of White Mountains (but no longer a subsidiary or business of OneBeacon).
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Prior to entering into the Separation Agreement, a number of these matters were governed by informal arrangements between OneBeacon and
White Mountains. For the year ended December 31, 2006, OneBeacon recorded expenses of  $10 million for investment advisory services and
other services of the type described in the Separation Agreement that were provided to OneBeacon by subsidiaries of White Mountains. For the
year ended December 31, 2006, OneBeacon recorded revenues of $4.5 million for claims handling services and other services of the type
described in the Separation Agreement that OneBeacon provided to White Mountains and its subsidiaries.

Registration Rights Agreement

Also in connection with the initial public offering, the Company entered into a registration rights agreement dated November 14, 2006 with
White Mountains that provides that White Mountains can demand that the Company register the distribution of its common shares owned by
White Mountains (�demand� registration rights). In addition, White Mountains has �piggyback� registration rights, which means that White
Mountains may include its shares in any future registrations of the Company�s common equity securities, whether or not that registration relates
to a primary offering by the Company or a secondary offering by or on behalf of any of the Company�s shareholders. These registration rights are
transferable by White Mountains. The Company will pay all costs and expenses in connection with each such registration, except underwriting
discounts and commissions applicable to the common shares sold by White Mountains. The registration rights agreement contains customary
terms and provisions with respect to, among other things, registration procedures and rights to indemnification in connection with the
registration of the common shares on behalf of White Mountains. The Company will register sales of its common shares owned by employees
and directors of White Mountains pursuant to employee share or option plans, but only to the extent such registration is required for the shares to
be freely tradable.

Investment Management Agreement with White Mountains Advisors LLC

Prior to the initial public offering, White Mountains Advisors LLC (�WM Advisors�) managed the majority of OneBeacon�s investments, including
the investments of the employee benefit plan portfolios. Prospector Partners, LLC (�Prospector�) served as a discretionary advisor with respect to
certain assets, specifically publicly-traded common equity and convertible securities, through a sub-advisory agreement with WM Advisors.

Subsequent to the initial public offering, under an agreement dated as of November 14, 2006, WM Advisors supervises and directs the fixed
income and alternative investment portion of OneBeacon�s investment portfolio in accordance with the investment objectives, policies and
restrictions described in OneBeacon�s investment guidelines, as well as the majority of the investments of the employee benefit plan portfolios.
Under the agreement, WM Advisors has full discretion and authority to make all investment decisions in respect of the fixed income and
alternative investment portion of OneBeacon�s investment portfolio as well as the portfolios of the employee benefit plans on OneBeacon�s behalf
and at OneBeacon�s sole risk, and to do anything which WM Advisors deems is required, appropriate or advisable in connection with the
foregoing. The assets of OneBeacon�s portfolio as well as the portfolios of the employee benefit plans will be held in one or more separately
identifiable accounts in the custody of a bank or similar entity designated by OneBeacon and acceptable to WM Advisors. OneBeacon is
responsible for custodial arrangements and the payment of all custodial charges and fees. Prospector continues to serve as a discretionary advisor
with respect to the publicly-traded common equity and convertible securities of the employee benefit plan portfolios, through a sub-advisory
agreement with WM Advisors. During 2006, OneBeacon incurred $1.2 million in fees for investment management services provided by WM
Advisors under this investment management agreement.
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OneBeacon has agreed to pay annual investment management fees generally based on the quarter-end market values held under custody as set
forth in the table below:

Assets Under Management Annual Fee
Investment Grade Fixed Income:
�Up to $999 million 10.0 basis points

(0.1% or 0.001)
�Next $1�$1.999 billion 8.5 basis points
�Amounts over $2 billion 7.5 basis points
High Yield Fixed Income 25.0 basis points
Hedge Funds, Limited Partnerships and Private Equities 100.0 basis points

WM Advisors is paid a quarterly fee for treasury management services computed at the annual rate of 1.75 basis points (0.0175%) of the
aggregate value of net assets, not to exceed $500,000 in 2007, on an annual basis. For all years thereafter, the annual rate will be 1.75 basis
points of the aggregate value of net assets with no limit on the total annual charge.

WM Advisors provides reports containing a detailed listing of invested assets and transactions in OneBeacon�s investment portfolio at least
quarterly. OneBeacon reviews periodically the performance of and the fees paid to WM Advisors under the agreement.

The agreement provides for an initial fixed term of three years, which will be extendible by us for an additional year (a fourth year) at or prior to
the end of the second year of the term, and if so extended, for a second additional year (a fifth year) at or prior to the end of the third year of the
term. During such term, the WM Advisors Agreement is terminable by us only (i) for cause (including material non-performance by WM
Advisors), (ii) if there is a change in control of WM Advisors (for this purpose, a change in control represents 50% or greater change in voting
interest of WM Advisors), or (iii) if White Mountains� voting interest in us falls below 50%. Following the end of the initial term and any
extensions, the WM Advisors Agreement may be terminated by either party on 60 days written notice.

Fund American Guarantee

White Mountains has provided and, pursuant to the Separation Agreement, continues to provide an irrevocable and unconditional guarantee as to
the payment of principal and interest (the �Guarantee�) on Fund American  Companies, Inc. (�Fund American�) 5.875% Senior Notes due 2013. In
May 2003, Fund American, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, issued $700.0 million face value of senior unsecured debt through a
public offering, at an issue price of 99.7%. The Senior Notes bear an annual interest rate of 5.875%, payable semi-annually in arrears on May 15
and November 15, until maturity on May 15, 2013.

In consideration of this Guarantee, OneBeacon has agreed to pay a specified fee to White Mountains in the amount of 25 basis points per annum
on the outstanding principal amount of the Senior Notes. Such payment will be made on a semi-annual basis in arrears. OneBeacon has further
agreed that if White Mountains� voting interest in the Company falls below 50%, OneBeacon will redeem, exchange or otherwise modify the
Senior Notes in order to fully and permanently eliminate White Mountains� obligations under the Guarantee (the �Guarantee Elimination�). White
Mountains has agreed to provide written notice to OneBeacon when its voting interest in us has been reduced below 50%. OneBeacon shall have
180 days from the receipt of such notification to complete the Guarantee Elimination. If the Guarantee Elimination is not completed within the
initial 180-day period, the Guarantee fee shall increase by 200 basis points. The Guarantee fee shall further increase by 100 basis points for each
subsequent 90-day period thereafter, up to a maximum Guarantee fee of 425 basis points, until the Guarantee Elimination has been completed.
All expenses associated with the elimination of the Guarantee will be borne by OneBeacon.
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Keep-Well

Fund American�s ability to declare or pay dividends is limited and Fund American may not, in certain circumstances, declare or pay any dividend
or distribution to any other class or series of stock other than its Series A Preferred Stock without the consent of the holders of a majority of
outstanding shares of the Series A Preferred Stock. Under the terms of a Keep-Well Agreement dated November 30, 2004 between White
Mountains and Fund American (the �Keep-Well�), White Mountains has agreed to return to Fund American up to approximately $1.1 billion if
some or all of that amount is required by Fund American to meet its obligations under the terms of the Series A Preferred Stock. Under the
Keep-Well, White Mountains must make any required contributions to Fund American prior to making any distributions to its shareholders. The
aggregate amount of distributions that White Mountains may make to its shareholders is limited; the limit increases or decreases by an amount
equal to White Mountains� consolidated net income or loss over the remaining life of the Keep-Well. The Keep-Well will expire when all
obligations of the Series A Preferred Stock, which is redeemable in May 2008, have been satisfied. See �Irrevocable Grantor Trusts� below for
discussion of the creation and funding of an irrevocable grantor trust to economically defease the Series A Preferred Stock.

Irrevocable Grantor Trusts

In connection with the initial public offering, OneBeacon created two irrevocable grantor trusts and funded them with assets sufficient to make
the remaining dividend and redemption payments for $20 million of Series A Preferred Stock that will be redeemed in 2007 and $300 million of
Series A Preferred Stock that will be redeemed in May of 2008. The cash contributed to fund these trusts was used to purchase a portfolio of
fixed maturity securities The assets held in trust remain subject to the claims of Fund American�s and Fund American Enterprises� creditors,
respectively, in the event that either Fund American or Fund American Enterprises becomes insolvent. White Mountains Capital, Inc., a
subsidiary of White Mountains, serves as the trustee for both irrevocable grantor trusts. Fund American and Fund American Enterprises will pay
fees to White Mountains Capital in connection with its trustee services based on quarter end closing market values, quarterly in arrears, in
accordance with the fee structure described above under �Investment Management Agreement with White Mountains Advisors LLC�.

Galileo Guarantees

In February 2006, one of the Company�s subsidiaries, OneBeacon Insurance Company (�OBIC�) agreed to provide guarantees of the obligations of
Galileo Weather Risk Management Ltd. (�Galileo�) to Galileo�s counterparty in certain weather-related product transactions. Galileo is a subsidiary
of White Mountains. The guarantees require OBIC to pay the full amount of Galileo�s obligations to the counterparty in the event of Galileo�s
failure to pay these obligations. In the event of a payment, OBIC would be eligible to exercise all of the rights of the counterparty against
Galileo.

As of December 31, 2006, OneBeacon had executed sixteen guarantees of Galileo transactions, the total principal amount of which was
approximately $158 million. For the year ended December 31, 2006, Galileo paid OBIC $12,108 in fees for the provision of the guarantees. In
the event that the total guaranteed principal amount exceeds the lesser of 5% of OBIC�s admitted assets of $3.8 billion at December 31, 2006 or
25% of OBIC�s statutory surplus of $1.7 billion at December 31, 2006, OBIC would require the approval of the Pennsylvania Department of
Insurance in order to make any further guarantees. OBIC has agreed, at White Mountains� option, to continue to make these guarantees available
until October 2008 and will receive from Galileo an annual fee of 25 basis points of the value at risk for providing the guarantees. Pursuant to
the Separation Agreement, White Mountains has agreed that it will take appropriate steps to ensure that OBIC will not be called on to make
payment on these guarantees.

Affiliate Quota Shares

During 2005 and 2004, OneBeacon participated in two quota share reinsurance arrangements with other subsidiaries of White Mountains. Under
the Esurance Quota Share, which was effective on

32

Edgar Filing: OneBeacon Insurance Group, Ltd. - Form DEF 14A

41



January 1, 2005, OneBeacon assumed approximately 85% of business written by Esurance Insurance Company, which includes business written
by its wholly owned subsidiary. Under the Sirius Quota Share, OneBeacon ceded between 6% and 12% of business written, effective April 1,
2004, to Sirius International Insurance Corporation, a subsidiary of White Mountains Re. The affiliate quota shares were entered into primarily
for White Mountains� capital management purposes. These quota share agreements were commuted during the fourth quarter of 2006 in
connection with the Company�s initial public offering.

Prospector

Investment Management Agreement with Prospector Partners, LLC

Prior to the initial public offering, Prospector managed most of the publicly-traded common equity and convertible securities in OneBeacon�s
portfolio, as well as the employee benefit plan portfolios, through a sub-advisory agreement with WM Advisors.

In connection with the initial public offering, OneBeacon entered into an investment management agreement with Prospector dated
November 14, 2006, pursuant to which Prospector supervises and directs the publicly-traded common equity and convertible securities portion
of OneBeacon�s investment portfolio in accordance with the investment objectives, policies and restrictions described in OneBeacon�s investment
guidelines,. Under the agreement, Prospector has discretion and authority with respect to the portfolio it manages for OneBeacon that is
substantially similar to WM Advisors� discretion and authority under its agreement. The assets of OneBeacon�s portfolio are held in one or more
separately identifiable accounts in the custody of a bank or similar entity designated by us and acceptable to Prospector. OneBeacon is
responsible for custodial arrangements and the payment of all custodial charges and fees. For the year ended December 31, 2006, Prospector
earned $500,000 in fees with respect to OneBeacon�s portfolio.

Prospector continues to serve as a discretionary advisor to WM Advisors under the sub-advisory agreement with respect to specified assets in
OneBeacon�s employee benefit plan portfolios.

Under the agreement, OneBeacon pays annual management fees to Prospector based on aggregate net assets under management according to the
following schedule: 1.00% on the first $200 million; 0.50% on the next $200 million; and 0.25% on amounts over $400 million.

The agreement has an initial fixed term of three years, which is extendible by us for an additional year (a fourth year) at or prior to the end of the
second year of the term, and if so extended, for a second additional year (a fifth year) at or prior to the end of the third year of the term. The
agreement is terminable by OneBeacon only (i) for cause (including material non-performance by Prospector), (ii) if either John D. Gillespie or
Richard P. Howard are no longer affiliated with Prospector, (iii) if there is a change in control of Prospector (for this purpose, a change in
control represents 50% or greater change in voting interest of Prospector), or (iv) if White Mountains� voting interest in the Company falls below
50%. Following the end of the initial term and any extensions, the Prospector Agreement may be terminated by either party on 60 days written
notice. OneBeacon reviews periodically the performance of and the fees paid to Prospector under the agreement.

Richard P. Howard, a managing member of Prospector, is a director of the Company.

Prospector Managed Limited Partnerships

At December 31, 2006, OneBeacon had $36.4 million invested in the Prospector Turtle Fund, L.P. and the Prospector Partners Fund, L.P.,
limited partnerships managed by Prospector. Under the limited partnership agreements, Prospector serves as general partner and general
manager of the funds and is paid a management fee by the Company. In addition, the Company allocates a portion of its earnings on the
Company�s limited partnership interests to Prospector as an incentive fee. The Company paid Prospector $357,383 in management fees and
$539,556 in incentive fees for the year ended December 31, 2006.
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The following report of the Audit Committee does not constitute soliciting material and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into
any other filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including by any general statement incorporating
this proxy statement, except to the extent the Company specifically incorporates this information by reference, and shall not otherwise be
deemed filed under such Acts.

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

In connection with the audit of the Company�s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2006, the Audit Committee has:
(1) reviewed and discussed with management and Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP (�PwC�) the Company�s audited financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2006;  (2) reviewed and discussed with PwC the matters required by Statement of Auditing Standards No. 61; and
(3) reviewed and discussed with PwC the matters required by Independence Standards Board Statement No. 1.

Based on these reviews and discussions, the Audit Committee determined that the non-audit fees billed by PwC for services performed in 2006
(as presented herein) are compatible with maintaining their independence. Further, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board that the
audited financial statements be included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for filing with the SEC and for presentation to Members at the 2007
Annual Meeting.

Management is responsible for the preparation, presentation and integrity of the Company�s consolidated financial statements as well as for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. The Company�s independent registered public accounting firm,
PwC, is responsible for expressing its opinion on the conformity of the Company�s audited financial statements with Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (�GAAP�). It is not the duty of the Audit Committee to plan or conduct audits or to determine that the Company�s financial
statements are complete and accurate and in accordance with GAAP; that, as described above, is the responsibility of management and PwC. In
giving its recommendation to the Board, the Audit Committee has relied on (1) management�s representation that such financial statements have
been prepared with integrity and objectivity and in conformity with GAAP and (2) the reports of PwC with respect to such financial statements.

The Audit Committee has established a Charter which outlines its primary duties and responsibilities. The Audit Committee Charter, which has
been approved by the Board, is reviewed at least annually, is updated as necessary and is available for viewing at www.onebeacon.com.

Submitted by the Audit Committee

Allan L. Waters, Chairman*
David T. Foy
Lowndes A. Smith
Kent D. Urness

*  Resigned from the Audit Committee effective March 2007.

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Prior to the initial public offering of the Company in November 2006, all engagements of PwC with respect to services rendered to the Company
as a stand-alone entity or as part of the White Mountains consolidated group were approved by the Audit Committee of White Mountains. The
White Mountains Audit Committee has adopted a pre-approval policy which provides that its Audit Committee shall pre-approve the scope and
fees for all services performed by PwC. Annually, the White Mountains Audit Committee receives and pre-approves a written report from PwC
describing the elements expected to be performed in the course of its audit of White Mountains� financials. All other audit, audit-related and non

34

Edgar Filing: OneBeacon Insurance Group, Ltd. - Form DEF 14A

43



audit-related services rendered by PwC also require pre-approval, which may be granted in accordance with the provisions of the policy either
(a) at a meeting of the full White Mountains Audit Committee, (b) on an interim basis by the Chairman of the White Mountains Audit
Committee, provided that the requested services are not expressly prohibited and are ratified by the full White Mountains Audit Committee at its
next regularly scheduled meeting, or (c) on a per-project basis through specific compliance with pre-approved definitions of services that do not
exceed per-project limits established by the White Mountains Audit Committee, provided that White Mountains� General Auditor makes a full
report of all services pre-approved by the policy at the next regularly scheduled meeting of the White Mountains Audit Committee.

It is the intent of the policy to assure that PwC�s performance of audit, audit-related and non audit-related services are consistent with all
applicable rules on auditor independence. As such, services expressly prohibited by the White Mountains Audit Committee under its policy
include bookkeeping or other services related to the accounting records or financial statements of White Mountains or its subsidiaries, including
the Company prior to its initial public offering; financial information systems design and implementation; appraisal and valuation services,
fairness opinions; contribution-in-kind reports; certain actuarial services; internal audit outsourcing services; management functions; human
resources; broker-dealer, investment advisor or investment banking services; legal services; and expert services unrelated to the audit.

Pursuant to White Mountains� pre-approval policy described above, the White Mountains Audit Committee pre-approved the engagement of
PwC to provide audit and other services to the Company. In February 2007, the Company�s Audit Committee ratified fees related to the 2006
audit of the Company and fees with respect to other services provided by PwC to the Company, all of which were pre-approved by the White
Mountains Audit Committee in accordance with its pre-approval policy. Also in February 2007, the Company�s Audit Committee adopted a
pre-approval policy with respect to services to be rendered to the Company by PwC. The pre-approval policy is substantially similar to the
policy adopted by the White Mountains Audit Committee and described above.

The services and related fees for such services performed by PwC with respect to the Company in 2006 are set forth below. PwC does not
provide any services to the Company prohibited under applicable laws and regulations, such as financial information systems design and
implementation. From time to time, PwC may perform permissible consulting services for the Company, provided they have been pre-approved
in accordance with the policy described above. To the extent consulting services are provided by PwC, they are closely monitored and controlled
by both management and the Company�s Audit Committee to ensure that they do not interfere with the independence of PwC. The independence
of PwC is also considered annually by the Company�s Audit Committee.

PwC Fees(1) 2006
Audit Fees(2) $ 1,506,088
Audit-Related Fees(3) 934,267
Tax Fees(4) 125,246
All Other Fees 0
Total $ 2,565,601

(1)  All fees shown are included in aggregate fees paid by White Mountains for services rendered during 2006 as
disclosed in White Mountains� 2007 Proxy Statement.

(2)  The fees in this category were for professional services rendered in connection with (a) the audits of the
Company�s annual financial statements set forth in the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K, (d) a stand-alone of
audit of the Company�s financial statements in connection with its initial public offering in November 2006, (c) the
review of the Company�s quarterly financial statements in order to include such financial statements in White
Mountains� consolidated financial statements in connection
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with its filing of Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and (d) audits of the Company�s subsidiaries that are required by statute or regulation.

(3)  The fees in this category were for professional services rendered in connection with (a) consultations
concerning accounting and reporting standards of transactions or events, (b) employee benefit plan audits and
(c) services that generally only the Company�s independent registered public accounting firm reasonably can provide
such as comfort letters.

(4)  The fees in this category were for professional services rendered in connection with tax strategy assistance and
tax compliance services.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table provides information about our equity compensation plans that authorize the issuance of shares of Company common stock.
This information is provided as of December 31, 2006.

(A) (B) (C)

Plan Category

Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights(1)(2)

Weighted average exercise
price of outstanding
options, warrants and
rights

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation plans
(excluding securities
reflected in column A)

Equity compensation plans approved by
stockholders 0 $ 0
Equity compensation plans not approved
by stockholders 1,420,000 $ 30.00 2,330,000
Total 1,420,000 $ 30.00 2,330,000

(1)  Includes shares underlying incentive stock options granted under the OneBeacon Long-Term Incentive Plan
(the �Plan�) in connection with the initial public offering of the Company in November 2006. The material terms of the
Plan are described under the heading �Executive Compensation-OneBeacon Long-Term Incentive Plan�. The option
grants are described in footnote 3 to the Summary Compensation Table.

(2)  Excludes performance shares granted to certain members of senior management, including the named
executive officers, by the Compensation Committee in February 2007. See �Executive Compensation-Compensation
Discussion and Analysis.�

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(a) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT

Pursuant to SEC rules relating to the reporting of changes in beneficial ownership of common shares, the executive officers, directors and
greater than 10% Members are believed to have filed all reports required under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act on a timely basis during 2006.

PROPOSAL 2

APPROVAL OF 2007 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN AND APPROVAL OF PERFORMANCE
CRITERIA

Members are being asked to approve the Company�s 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the �Incentive Plan�) at the 2007 Annual Meeting and to
approve, for purposes of compliance with exclusions from the limitations of Section 162(m) of the Code, the performance criteria that the
Compensation Committee may use in setting performance goals applicable to awards under the Incentive Plan. On February 21, 2007, the Board
of Directors approved, subject to the approval of the Company�s Members, the Incentive Plan.  No awards have been made under the Incentive
Plan.
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A summary of the material terms of the Incentive Plan are set forth below. Capitalized terms used in this proposal are defined in the Incentive
Plan. The Incentive Plan details performance criteria that may be used by the Compensation Committee as a condition to the vesting and
payment of performance share and performance unit awards to management. See �Description of the Incentive Plan-Performance Shares and
Performance Units.� Under Code Section 162(m), the performance criteria generally must be submitted to and approved by Members at least
every five years. If the performance criteria are not approved by Members, the U.S. federal income tax deduction for some or all of the value of
certain awards that may be granted under the Incentive Plan may not be allowed.

Background

The Company believes that its long-term compensation should be based on �pay for performance� and further believes that management should act
as if they were owners. With these objectives in mind, the Compensation Committee believes that the proposed Incentive Plan will allow the
Company to closely align the financial interests of management with those of the Company�s Members. This summary of the material terms of
the Incentive Plan is qualified in its entirety by reference to Appendix A to this proxy statement.

Description of the Incentive Plan

Awards.  The Incentive Plan provides for the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock,
performance shares and performance units.

Administration.  The Compensation Committee administers the Incentive Plan and has the authority to select employees
to receive awards under the Incentive Plan, determine the type, size and terms of awards granted under the Incentive
Plan, interpret the Incentive Plan and related awards and establish, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to
the Incentive Plan.

Shares.  A maximum of 7,500,000 Shares may be issued as restricted stock awards or granted at target pursuant to
awards made under the Incentive Plan, with up to 15,000,000 Shares actually issuable if all performance awards
granted pay out at 200% of target.

Eligibility.  Any director or key employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries designated by the Compensation
Committee is eligible to receive an award under the Incentive Plan.

Options and Stock Appreciation Rights.  Options granted under the Incentive Plan may be non-qualified options or incentive
stock options and are granted to eligible employees for no consideration. Options may be granted in tandem with stock
appreciation rights or performance shares. An employee cannot receive options and stock appreciation rights on more
than 1,000,000 Shares during any one year.

The exercise price of each Share covered by an option will be not less than the greater of the fair market value of a Share as of the date the
option is granted or the par value of a Share, provided that the exercise price of each Share of an incentive share option granted to certain
employees with large shareholdings in the Company cannot be less than 110% of the fair market value of a Share on the date the option is
granted. Each option becomes vested and exercisable at such times and subject to such terms and conditions as the Compensation Committee
may, in its sole discretion, specify in the option agreement. Except in the event of an option holder�s death, disability or retirement or except as
determined by the Board, each option will expire immediately, without any payment, upon the earlier of (1) the tenth anniversary of the option�s
grant date and (2) three months after the holder�s termination of employment. Shares will not be delivered pursuant to an option�s exercise until
the optionholder pays the exercise price in full. Payment of the exercise price may be made in cash or check, by cashless exercise or by
exchanging Shares owned by the optionholder or a combination of these methods.

There are no U.S. federal tax consequences to optionholders, the Company or its subsidiaries in connection with the grant of an option. Upon the
exercise of non-qualified options, optionholders will
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generally be subject to U.S. federal taxation on the aggregate difference in value between the option exercise price and the fair market value of
the Shares with respect to which the option is exercised. That amount should be deductible for U.S. federal tax purposes with respect to
employees of subsidiaries of the Company that are incorporated in the United States. A holder of an incentive stock option is generally not
subject to U.S. federal taxation, and the Company and its subsidiaries are generally not entitled to a U.S. federal tax deduction, upon its exercise
if the Shares obtained upon exercise are held for a specified period of time. Because the Company is incorporated in Bermuda, it cannot take a
U.S. federal tax deduction in respect of options exercised by employees to the extent the options are granted as part of compensation for services
performed under an employment agreement with the Company.

Stock appreciation rights can only be granted in tandem with options and give the holder the right to receive, in exchange for the cancellation of
the option on the number of Shares with respect to which the stock appreciation right is exercised, a payment in an amount equal to the
aggregate difference between the applicable exercise price and the fair market value of Common Shares with respect to which the right is
exercised (which for this purpose only cannot exceed 150% of the applicable exercise price). Stock appreciation rights may be settled in cash or
Shares.

Restricted Stock.  The Compensation Committee may award shares of Restricted Stock, which are Shares that may not
be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise disposed of during a period designated by the
Compensation Committee (the �restricted period�). An employee cannot receive more than 500,000 Shares of Restricted
Stock during any one year. The Company may purchase the Shares subject to an award of Restricted Stock at any
price specified by the Compensation Committee at the time of grant if the holder�s employment with the Company
terminates before the end of the applicable restricted period for a reason other than death, disability or, in the
discretion of the Board, retirement or other voluntary termination.

Performance Shares and Performance Units.  Performance shares are awards of phantom Shares, some or all of which are
earned if performance goals established by the Compensation Committee at the time of grant are satisfied over a
specified award period. Based on the level of performance against established goals, the number of performance
shares earned can range from 0% to 200% of the number of target shares originally granted. The value earned by an
employee pursuant to an award of performance shares is generally equal to the number of award shares earned with
respect to the award period multiplied by the fair market value of a Share on the date of payment. Performance shares
are typically paid in cash, though they may be paid in Shares at the election of the Compensation Committee. The
maximum amount of compensation that can be earned by an employee pursuant to an award of performance shares
with respect to any particular award period of one year or more cannot exceed the value of 500,000 Shares.

The Incentive Plan also provides for the grant of performance units. Performance units are awards of phantom units that are paid out if
performance goals established by the Compensation Committee at the time of grant are satisfied over a specified award period. Based on the
level of performance against established goals, the number of performance units earned can range from 0% to 200% of the number of target
units originally granted. The value earned by an employee pursuant to an award of performance units is equal to the number of performance
units earned over the award period multiplied by the unit value determined by the Compensation Committee, which is $100 (or in certain cases
$1,000) increased by the percentage growth in value of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any combination thereof over the award period.
The maximum amount of compensation that can be earned by an employee with respect to an award of performance units during any award
period of one year or more cannot exceed $25,000,000. This limit on the amount of compensation that can be earned with respect to performance
units is pro rated for award periods of less than three years in the event of death or disability of an employee.

38

Edgar Filing: OneBeacon Insurance Group, Ltd. - Form DEF 14A

48



Awards of performance shares and performance units are generally forfeited if any employee terminates employment with the Company and its
subsidiaries prior to the end of the award period for any reason other than death, disability or retirement.

The performance goals that may be selected by the Compensation Committee with respect to performance share and performance unit awards
are based upon one or more of the following criteria: (i) consolidated earnings before or after taxes (including earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization); (ii) net income; (iii) operating income; (iv) earnings per Share; (v) book value per Share; (vi) return on
shareholders� equity; (vii) expense management; (viii) return on investment; (ix) improvements in capital structure; (x) share price; (xi) combined
ratio; (xii) operating ratio; (xiii) profitability of an identifiable business unit or product; (xiv) maintenance or improvement of profit margins;
(xv) market share; (xvi) revenues or sales; (xvii) costs; (xviii) cash flow; (xix) working capital; (xx) return on assets; (xxi) customer satisfaction;
(xxii) employee satisfaction; and (xxiii) economic value per Share; (xxiv) underwriting return on capital; and (xxv) underwriting return on
equity. The foregoing criteria may, as determined by the Compensation Committee, relate to the Company, one or more of its subsidiaries or
divisions, units, partnerships, joint ventures, minority investments, product lines or products, or any combination of the foregoing and may be
applied on an absolute basis and/or be relative to one or more peer companies or indices or any combination thereof. At the time of an award of
performance shares or performance units, the Compensation Committee establishes specific performance objectives that must be achieved with
respect to the selected performance goal over the specified award period to earn some or all of a performance share or performance unit award.
The Compensation Committee may calculate the relevant performance objective without regard to extraordinary items.

The Compensation Committee may settle performance share or performance unit awards earned by an employee in cash or Shares.

Change in Control.  In the event of certain terminations of an employee�s employment with the Company or certain
adverse changes to the Incentive Plan, in each case within 24 months of a Change in Control (as defined in the
Incentive Plan), stock options held by the employee immediately vest and become exercisable, awards of restricted
stock held by the employee immediately vest and become unrestricted and the employee becomes entitled to a
payment (as specified in the Incentive Plan) with respect to performance share or performance unit awards granted
prior to the Change in Control.

Certain Transactions.  The Compensation Committee may make equitable changes in the terms of outstanding awards
granted under the Incentive Plan or in the number of Shares issuable under an award or under the Incentive Plan in the
event of any change in the Company�s outstanding Shares by reason of any stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization,
merger, consolidation, reorganization, combination or exchange of Shares or other similar event.

Amendment.  The Board may amend the Incentive Plan at any time, but no such amendment may, without the approval
of the Company�s Members (except as described under �Certain Transactions�, above) increase the number of Shares
that may be issued under the Incentive Plan or change the class of employees eligible to participate in the Incentive
Plan.

Limitation on Company�s Deduction.  Under Section 162(m) of the Code, the U.S. federal tax deduction for the Company�s
domestic subsidiaries for all compensation paid to certain highly paid executive officers of the Company or its
subsidiaries in any one year is limited to $1,000,000 per officer. Compensation that qualifies as �performance-based
compensation� is exempt from this deduction limitation. Compensation may qualify as �performance-based
compensation� for purposes of Code Section 162(m) if, among other conditions, the vesting and payment of the
compensation is contingent upon the achievement of pre-established performance goals that are set with reference to
performance criteria that have been approved by Members. Under Code Section 162(m), the performance criteria
generally must be submitted to and approved by Members at least every five years. If the performance

39

Edgar Filing: OneBeacon Insurance Group, Ltd. - Form DEF 14A

49



criteria are not approved by the Members, the U.S. federal income tax deduction for some or all of the value of certain awards that may be
granted under the Incentive Plan may not be allowed. The Company believes that the U.S. federal income tax deductions of a domestic
subsidiary arising from an officer�s exercise of options or stock appreciation rights and amounts earned by an officer pursuant to performance
share or performance unit awards should be exempt from this limitation. However, it is possible that in certain circumstances deductions arising
from these awards would be subject to disallowance under Section 162(m) of the Code.

A complete copy of the Incentive Plan is included in this proxy statement as Appendix A.

The Board recommends a vote FOR Proposal 2 to approve the Company�s 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan and Performance Criteria.

PROPOSAL 3

APPROVAL OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Subject to Member approval, the Audit Committee of the Board has appointed PwC as the Company�s independent registered public accounting
firm for 2007. Further, Members are being asked to authorize the Board, acting by the Audit Committee, to negotiate and fix the remuneration to
be paid to PwC in connection with the services to be provided to the Company for 2007. Representatives from PwC will attend the 2007 Annual
Meeting, will be provided with the opportunity to make a statement and will be available to answer appropriate questions.

PwC has served as the Company�s independent registered public accounting firm for the past year and as White Mountains� registered public
accounting firm for the past 7 years.

The Board recommends a vote FOR Proposal 3 approving the appointment of PwC as the Company�s Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm for 2007.

OTHER MATTERS

Manner of Voting Proxies

Common shares represented by all valid proxies received will be voted in the manner specified in the proxies. Where specific choices are not
indicated, the common shares represented by all valid proxies received will be voted FOR each of the proposals named earlier in this proxy
statement.

In the case of common shares held in employee benefit plans, the trustee will typically vote all common shares within such plans in direct
proportion to those common shares actually voted by plan participants.

Should any matter not described above be acted upon at the meeting, the persons named in the proxy card will vote in accordance with their
judgment. The Board knows of no other matters which are to be considered at the 2007 Annual Meeting.

Votes Required for Approval

The proposals require the affirmative vote of a majority of the voting power held by holders of common shares present at the 2007 Annual
Meeting, in person or by proxy, provided a quorum is present.

Inspector of Election

Wells Fargo Shareowner Services has been appointed as Inspector of Election for the 2007 Annual Meeting. Representatives of Wells Fargo will
attend the 2007 Annual Meeting to receive votes and ballots, supervise the counting and tabulating of all votes and ballots and determine the
results of the vote.
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Costs of Solicitation

The solicitation of proxies will be made primarily by mail, however, directors, officers, employees and agents of the Company may also solicit
proxies by telephone, telegram or personal interview. Solicitation costs will be paid by the Company. Upon request, the Company will reimburse
banks, brokerage houses and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for their reasonable expenses incurred in forwarding proxy materials to
their principals.

Delivery of Documents to Members Sharing an Address

We have adopted a procedure approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission called �householding.� Under this procedure, we are
permitted to deliver a single copy of our proxy statement and annual report to Members sharing the same address. Householding allows us to
reduce our printing and postage costs and reduces the volume of duplicative information received at your household.

In the future, we will send only one annual report and proxy statement to Members sharing the same address unless we receive instructions to
the contrary from any Member at that address. Those Members who desire additional copies of this document or would like to receive separate
copies of this document in the future should contact their bank, broker or other holder of record or the Secretary at the address in this proxy
statement. You also may request copies of our annual disclosure documents on our web site at www.onebeacon.com.

Availability of Proxy Materials and Annual Report

The Company�s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2006, as approved by the Company�s Board of Directors, will be
presented at the 2007 Annual Meeting. This proxy statement and our 2006 Annual Report are also available on our web site at
www.onebeacon.com under the heading �Investor Relations.� Most Members can elect to view future proxy statements and annual reports, as well
as vote their common shares, over the Internet instead of receiving paper copies in the mail. This will save us the cost of producing and mailing
these documents. If you hold shares through a bank, broker or other holder of record, please refer to the information provided by your bank or
broker regarding the availability of electronic delivery. If you hold shares through a bank, broker or other holder of record and you have elected
electronic access, you will receive information in the proxy materials mailed to you by your bank or broker containing the Internet address for
use in accessing our proxy statement and annual report.

Proposals by Members for the 2008 Annual General Meeting of Members

Member proposals (other than proposals nominating director candidates for which the procedures are outlined on page 6) must be received in
writing by the Secretary of the Company no later than December 6, 2007 and must comply with the requirements of the SEC in order to be
considered for inclusion in the Company�s proxy statement relating to the Annual General Meeting to be held in 2008.

Other Matters

Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, please vote over the Internet or by telephone or complete, sign and return the proxy card sent to
you in the envelope provided. No postage is required for mailing in the United States.
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Our 2006 Annual Report and Form 10-K, which is not a part of this proxy statement and is not proxy soliciting material, is enclosed.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

T. Michael Miller
President and Chief Executive Officer
April 6, 2007
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Appendix A

OneBeacon Long-Term Incentive Plan

1. PURPOSE

The purpose of the OneBeacon Long-Term Incentive Plan (the �Plan�) is to advance the interests of OneBeacon Insurance Group, Ltd. (the
�Company�) and its stockholders by providing the ability to grant long-term incentives to certain key employees and directors of the Company and
of its subsidiaries.

2. ADMINISTRATION

The Plan shall be administered by the Compensation Committee (the �Committee�) of the Board of Directors (the �Board�) of the Company; 
provided that each member of the Committee qualifies as (a) a �non-employee director� under Rule 16b-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the �Exchange Act�), and (b) an �outside director� under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the �Code�).
In the event that any member of the Committee does not so qualify, the Plan shall be administered by a sub-committee of Committee members
who do so qualify. If it is later determined that one or more members of the Committee do not so qualify, actions taken by the Committee prior
to such determination shall be valid despite such failure to qualify.

The Committee shall have exclusive authority to select the employees and directors to be granted awards under the Plan (�Awards�), to determine
the type, size and terms of the Awards and to prescribe the form of the instruments embodying Awards. With respect to Awards made to
directors, the Committee shall, and with respect to employees may, specify the terms and conditions applicable to such Awards in an Award
agreement. The Committee shall be authorized to interpret the Plan and the Awards granted under the Plan, to establish, amend and rescind any
rules and regulations relating to the Plan and to make any other determinations which it believes necessary or advisable for the administration of
the Plan. In connected with any Award, the Committee in its sole discretion may provide for vesting provisions that are different from the
default vesting provisions that are contained in the Plan and such alternative provisions shall not be deemed to conflict with the Plan. The
Committee may correct any defect or supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan or in any Award in the manner and to the
extent the Committee deems desirable to carry it into effect. Any decision of the Committee in the administration of the Plan, as described
herein, shall be final and conclusive. The Committee may act only by a majority of its members in office, except that the members thereof may
authorize any one or more of their number or any officer of the Company to execute and deliver documents on behalf of the Committee. The
Committee, in its discretion and subject in all instances to applicable law, may delegate to one or more directors or committees of the Board of
Directors all or part of the Committee�s authority and duties with respect to administering the Plan and granting Awards. No member of the
Company shall be liable for anything done or omitted to be done by him or by any other member of the Committee in connection with the Plan,
except for his own willful misconduct or as expressly provided by statute.

3. AWARDS

(a)  Eligible Participants.   Any employee or director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is eligible to
receive an Award hereunder. The Committee  shall select which eligible employees, or directors shall be granted
Awards hereunder. No employee or director shall have a right to receive an Award hereunder and the grant of an
Award to an employee or director shall not obligate the Committee to continue to grant Awards to such employee or
director in subsequent periods.
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(b)  Type of Awards.   Awards shall be limited to the following five types: (i) �Stock Options,� (ii) �Stock
Appreciation Rights,� (iii) �Restricted Stock,� (iv) �Performance Shares� and (v) �Performance Units.�  Stock Options, which
include �Incentive Stock Options� and other stock options or combinations thereof, are rights to purchase shares of
Common Stock of the Company (�Shares�). A Stock Appreciation Right is a right to receive, without payment to the
Company, cash and/or Shares in lieu of the purchase of Shares under the Stock Option to which the Stock
Appreciation Right relates.

(c)  Maximum Number of Shares That May Be Issued.   A maximum of 7,500,000 Shares (subject to adjustment
as provided in Section 14) may be issued as Restricted Stock awards or granted at target pursuant to Awards made
under the Plan and, accordingly, up to 15,000,000 Shares (subject to adjustment as provided in Section 14) may be
issued by the Company in satisfaction of its obligations with respect to such Award grants. For purposes of the
foregoing, the exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right shall constitute the issuance of Shares equal to the Shares
covered by the related Stock Option. If any Shares issued as Restricted Stock shall be repurchased pursuant to the
Company�s option described in Section 5 below, or if any Shares issued under the Plan shall be reacquired pursuant to
restrictions imposed at the time of issuance, such Shares may again be issued under the Plan.

(d)  Rights With Respect to Shares.   A participant to whom Restricted Stock has been issued shall have prior to
the expiration of the Restricted Period or the earlier repurchase of such Shares as herein provided, ownership of such
Shares, including the right to vote the same and to receive dividends thereon, subject, however, to the options,
restrictions and limitations imposed thereon pursuant hereto.

(i)  A participant to whom Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights or Performance Shares are granted (and any
person succeeding to such participant�s rights pursuant to the Plan) shall have no rights as a shareholder with respect to
any Shares issuable pursuant thereto until the date of the issuance of a stock certificate (whether or not delivered)
therefor. Except as provided in Section 14, no adjustment shall be made for dividends, distributions or other rights
(whether ordinary or extraordinary, and whether in cash, securities or other property) the record date for which is prior
to the date such stock certificate is issued.

(ii)  The Company, in its discretion, may hold custody during the Restricted Period of any Shares of Restricted
Stock

4. STOCK OPTIONS AND STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS

The Committee may grant to participants Stock Options (including, in its discretion, Stock Appreciation Rights). The maximum number of
Shares with respect to which Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights (not including Stock Appreciation Rights attached to Stock Options)
may be issued to a participant in one year is 1,000,000. Each Stock Option shall comply with the following terms and conditions:

(a)  The per share exercise price shall not be less than the greater of (i) the fair market value per Share at the time of
grant, as determined in good faith by the Committee, or (ii) the par value per Share. However, the exercise price of an
Incentive Stock Option granted to a participant who owns stock representing more than ten percent (10%) of the
voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or of a subsidiary (a �Ten Percent Participant�) shall not be less
than the greater of 110% of such fair market value, or the par value per Share.

(b)  The Committee shall initially determine the number of Shares to be subject to each Stock Option. The number
of Shares subject to a Stock Option will subsequently be reduced on a Share-for-Share basis to the extent that Shares
under such Stock Option are used to calculate the
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cash and/or Shares received pursuant to exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right attached to such Stock Option.

(c)  The Stock Option shall not be transferable by the optionee otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and
distribution, and shall be exercisable during his lifetime only by him.

(d)  The Stock Option shall not be exercisable:

(i)  after the expiration of ten years from the date it is granted (or such earlier date specified in the grant of the
Stock Option) and may be exercised during such period only at such time or times as the Committee may establish;

(ii)  unless payment in full is made for the Shares being acquired thereunder at the time of exercise (including any
federal, state or local income or other taxes which the Committee determines are required to be withheld in respect of
such shares); such payment shall be made (A) in United States dollars by cash or check, (B) by tendering to the
Company Shares owned by the person exercising the Stock Option and having a fair market value equal to the cash
exercise price thereof, such fair market value to be determined in such reasonable manner as may be provided for from
time to time by the Committee or as may be required in order to comply with or to conform to the requirements of any
applicable or relevant laws or regulations, (C) by the Company delivering for sale to a registered securities broker
acceptable to the Company a number of the Shares being acquired by the person exercising the Stock Option being
sufficient, after brokerage commissions and, if the participant so elects, withholding obligations, to cover the cash
exercise price thereof, together with instructions to the broker to remit to the Company the aggregate exercise price
and the remainder to the participant, or (D) by a combination of United States dollars and Shares pursuant to (A),
(B) and/or (C) above;

(iii)  by participants who were employees of the Company or one of its subsidiaries at the time of the grant of the
Stock Option unless such participant has been, at all times during the period beginning with the date of grant of the
Stock Option and ending on the date three months prior to such exercise, an officer or employee of the Company or a
subsidiary, or of a corporation, or a parent or subsidiary of a corporation, issuing or assuming the Stock Option in a
transaction to which Section 424(a) of the Code is applicable, except that:

(A)  if such person shall cease to be an officer or employee of the Company or one of its subsidiary corporations
solely by reason of a period of Related Employment as defined in Section 9, he may, during such period of Related
Employment (but in no event after the Stock Option has expired under the provisions of Section 4(d)(i) hereof),
exercise such Stock Option as if he continued to be such an officer or employee; or

(B)  if an optionee shall become disabled as defined in Section 8 he may, at any time within three years of the date
he becomes disabled (but in no event after the Stock Option has expired under the provisions of
Section 4(d)(i) hereof), exercise the Stock Option with respect to (i) any Shares as to which he could have exercised
the Stock Option on the date he became disabled and (ii) if the Stock Option is not fully exercisable on the date he
becomes disabled, the number of additional Shares as to which the Stock Option would have become exercisable had
he remained an employee through the next date on which additional Shares were scheduled to become exercisable
under the Stock Option; or

(C)  if an optionee shall die while holding a Stock Option, his executors, administrators, heirs or distributees, as the
case may be, at any time within one year after the date of such death (but in no event after the Stock Option has
expired under the provisions of
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Section 4(d)(i) hereof), may exercise the Stock Option with respect to (i) any Shares as to which the decedent could have exercised the Stock
Option at the time of his death, and if the Stock Option is not fully exercisable on the date of his death, the number of additional Shares as to
which the Stock Option would have become exercisable had he remained an employee through the next date on which additional Shares were
scheduled to become exercisable under the Stock Option; provided, however, that if death occurs during the three-year period following a
disability as described in Section 4(d)(iii)(B) hereof or any period following a voluntary termination (including retirement) in respect of which
the Committee has exercised its discretion to grant continuing exercise rights as provided in Section 4(d)(iii)(D) hereof, the Stock Option shall
not become exercisable as to any Shares in addition to those as to which the decedent could have exercised the Stock Option at the time of his
death; or

(D)  if such person shall voluntarily terminate his employment with the Company (including retirement), the
Committee, in its sole discretion, may determine that the optionee may exercise the Stock Option with respect to some
or all of the Shares subject to the Stock Option as to which it would not otherwise be exercisable on the date of his
voluntary termination provided, however, that in no event may such exercise take place after the Stock Option has
expired under the provisions of Section 4(d)(i) hereof.

(e)  The aggregate market value of Shares (determined at the time of grant of the Stock Option pursuant to
Section 4(a) of the Plan) with respect to which Incentive Stock Options granted to any participant under the Plan are
exercisable for the first time by such participant during any calendar year may not exceed the maximum amount
permitted under Section 422(d) of the Code at the time of the Award grant. In the event this limitation would be
exceeded in any year, the optionee may elect either (i) to defer to a succeeding year the date on which some or all of
such Incentive Stock Options would first become exercisable or (ii) convert some or all of such Incentive Stock
Options into non-qualified Stock Options.

(f)  If the Committee, in its discretion, so determines, there may be related to the Stock Option, either at the time
of grant or by amendment, a Stock Appreciation Right which shall be subject to such terms and conditions, not
inconsistent with the Plan, as the Committee shall impose, including the following:

(i)  A Stock Appreciation Right may be exercised only:

(A)  to the extent that the Stock Option to which it relates is at the time exercisable, and

(B)  if

(1)  in the case of a Stock Option other than an Incentive Stock Option only, such Stock Option will expire by its
terms within 30 days (90 days if the optionee is at the time an officer of the Company who is required to file reports
pursuant to Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act);

(2)  the optionee has become disabled or ceased to be an officer or employee by reason of his retirement with the
approval of the Committee in its sole discretion; or

(3)  the optionee has died.

However, if the Stock Option to which the Stock Appreciation Right relates is exercisable and if the optionee is at the time an officer of the
Company who is required to file reports pursuant to Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, the Stock Appreciation Right may, subject to the
approval of the Committee, be exercised during such periods, as may be specified by the Committee;
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(ii)  A Stock Appreciation Right shall entitle the optionee (or any person entitled to act under the provisions of
Section 4(d)(iii)(C) hereof) to surrender unexercised the related Stock Option (or any portion of such Option) to the
Company and to receive from the Company in exchange therefor that number of Shares having an aggregate market
value equal to the excess of the market value of one Share (provided that, if such value exceeds 150% of the per share
exercise price specified in such Stock Option, such value shall be deemed to be 150% of such Stock Option price)
over the exercise price of such Stock Option price per share, times the number of Shares subject to the Stock Option,
or portion thereof, which is so surrendered. The Committee shall be entitled to elect to settle the obligation arising out
of the exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right by the payment of cash equal to the aggregate value of the Shares it
would otherwise be obligated to deliver or partly by the payment of cash and partly by the delivery of Shares. Any
such election shall be made within 15 business days after the receipt by the Committee of written notice of the
exercise of the Stock Appreciation Right. The market value of a Share for this purpose shall be the market value
thereof on the last business day preceding the date of the election to exercise the Stock Appreciation Right, provided
that if notice of such election is received by the Committee more than three business days after the date of such
election (as such date of election is stated in the notice of election), the Committee may, but need not, determine the
market value of a Share as of the day preceding the date on which the notice of election is received;

(iii)  No fractional Shares shall be delivered under this Section 4(f), but in lieu thereof a cash adjustment shall be
made; and

(iv)  In the case of a Stock Appreciation Right attached to an Incentive Stock Option, such Stock Appreciation Right
shall only be transferable when such Incentive Stock Option is transferable pursuant to Section 4(c) hereof.

(g)  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in the event a Change in Control as defined in
Section 10(a) occurs and within 24 months thereafter: (A) there is a Termination Without Cause, as defined in
Section 11, of an optionee�s employment; or (B) there is a Constructive Termination as defined in Section 12, of an
optionee�s employment; or (C) there occurs an Adverse Change in the Plan, as defined in Section 13, in respect of an
optionee affecting any Award held by such optionee and if the optionee then holds a Stock Option,

(A)  in the case of a Termination Without Cause or a Constructive Termination, the optionee may exercise the entire
Stock Option, at any time within 30 days of such Termination Without Cause or such Constructive Termination (but
in no event after the option has expired under the provisions of Sections 4(d)(i)), and

(B)  in the case of an Adverse Change in the Plan, the optionee may exercise the entire Stock Option at any time
after such Adverse Change in the Plan in respect of him and prior to the date 30 days following his termination of
employment as a result of a Termination Without Cause or a Constructive Termination (but in no event after the
option has expired under the provisions of Section 4(d) (i)).

5. RESTRICTED STOCK

The Committee may grant to participants Restricted Stock Awards, up to a maximum number of 500,000 Shares of Restricted Stock to a
participant in one year. Each Award of Restricted Stock shall comply with the following terms and conditions:

(a)  The Committee shall determine the number of Shares of Restricted Stock to be issued to a participant.
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(b)  Shares of Restricted Stock issued may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise
disposed of, except by will or the laws of descent and distribution, for such period from the date on which the Award
is granted until the Award vests in accordance with the terms established by the Committee (the �Restricted Period�).
The Company shall have the option to repurchase the Shares of Restricted Stock at such price as the Committee shall
have fixed, in its sole discretion, when the Award was made, which option will be exercisable if the participant�s
continuous employment with the Company or a subsidiary shall terminate for any reason, except solely by reason of
an event described in Section 5(c), prior to the expiration of the Restricted Period or the earlier lapse of the option.
Such option shall be exercisable on such terms, in such manner and during such period as shall be determined by the
Committee when the Award is made. Certificates for Shares issued pursuant to Restricted Stock Awards shall bear an
appropriate legend referring to the foregoing option and other restrictions. Any attempt to dispose of any such Shares
in contravention of the foregoing option and other restrictions shall be null and void and without effect. If Shares
issued pursuant to a Restricted Stock Award shall be repurchased pursuant to the option described above, the
participant to whom the Award was granted, or in the event of his death after such option become exercisable, his
executor or administrator, shall forthwith deliver to the Secretary of the Company any certificates for the Shares
awarded to the participant, accompanied by such instruments of transfer, if any, as may reasonably be required by the
Secretary of the Company. If the option described above is not exercised by the Company, such option and the
restriction imposed pursuant to the first sentence of this Section 5(b) shall terminate and be of no further force and
effect. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 5(b), neither any Restricted Period nor any option shall
lapse to the extent the Company or any subsidiary would be unable to take a deduction with respect to such lapse by
reason of Section 162(m) of the Code.

(c)  If a participant who has been in the continuous employment of the Company or of a subsidiary shall:

(i)  die or become disabled (as defined in Section 8) during the Restricted Period, the option of the Company to
repurchase (and any and all other restrictions on) a pro rata portion of the Shares awarded to him under such Award
shall lapse and cease to be effective as of the date on which his death or disability occurs which shall be determined as
follows: (A) the number of Shares awarded under the Award multiplied by (B) a percentage, the numerator of which is
equal to the number of months elapsed in the Restricted Period as of the date of death or disability (counting the
month in which the death or disability occurred as a full month) and the denominator of which is equal to the number
of months in the Restricted Period.

(ii)  voluntarily terminate his employment with the Company (including retirement) during the Restricted Period,
the Committee may determine that all or any portion of the option to repurchase and any and all other restrictions on
some or all of the Shares awarded to him under such Award, if such option and other restrictions are still in effect,
shall lapse and cease to be effective as the date on which such voluntary termination or retirement occurs.

(d)  In the event within 24 months after a Change in Control as defined in Section 10(a) and during the Restricted
Period:

(i)  there is a Termination Without Cause, as defined in Section 11, of the employment of a participant;

(ii)  there is a Constructive Termination, as defined in Section 12, of the employment of a participant; or

(iii)  there occurs an Adverse Change in the Plan, as defined in Section 13, in respect of a participant, then
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the option to repurchase (and any and all other restrictions on) all Shares awarded to him under his Award shall lapse and cease to be effective as
of the date on which such event occurs.

6. PERFORMANCE SHARES

The grant of a Performance Share Award to a participant will entitle him to receive, without payment to the Company, all or part of a specified
amount (the �Actual Value�) determined by the Committee, if the terms and conditions specified herein and in the Award are satisfied. Payment in
respect of an Award shall be made as provided in Section 6(h). Each Performance Share Award shall be subject to the following terms and
conditions:

(a)  The Committee shall determine the target number of Performance Shares to be granted to a participant. The
maximum number of Performance Shares that may be earned by a participant for any single Award Period of one year
or longer shall not exceed 500,000. Performance Share Awards may be granted in different classes or series having
different terms and conditions.

(b)&pt;">  

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

Year ending September 30,

2008 2007 2006
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net (decrease) increase in net assets resulting from operations $ (21,262) $ 14,952 $ 24,430
Adjustments to reconcile net (decrease) increase in net assets resulting
from
operations to net cash used in operating activities:
Purchase of investments (176,550) (261,700) (135,955)
Principal repayments on investments 69,183 86,958 97,703
Proceeds from sale of investments 1,299 34,860 26,307
Net amortization of premiums and discounts 228 139 (137)
Increase in investment balance due to payment in kind interest (58) � (75)
Amortization of deferred financing fees 1,534 267 135
Realized loss on investments 787 188 1,329
Stock compensation expense � � 285
Unrealized depreciation on derivative 12 37 �
Change in net unrealized depreciation (appreciation) on investments 47,023 7,354 (5,968)
(Decrease) increase in interest receivable (1,232) (1,015) 1
(Increase) decrease in funds due from custodian (1,313) 357 (963)
Increase (decrease) in prepaid assets 31 (111) (49)
Increase in other assets (490) (185) (76)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 2 2 (17)
Increase in interest payable 59 340 64
Increase in accrued expenses and deferred liabilities 537 69 371
(Decrease) increase in fees due to affiliate (Refer to Note 4) (252) 468 (151)
Increase in administration fee due to Gladstone Administration (See
Note 4) 10 238 �
Increase (decrease) in funds held in escrow 234 (203) 2

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (80,218) (116,984) 7,236

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Redemption (purchase) of U.S. Treasury Bill 2,484 (2,484) �

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 2,484 (2,484) �

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Net proceeds from the issuance of common shares 106,226 57,437 �
Borrowings from the line of credit 200,618 305,600 146,740
Repayments on the line of credit (194,028) (211,153) (149,781)
Distributions paid (33,379) (22,141) (18,628)
Exercise of employee stock options � � 14,683
Receipt of principal on notes receivable�employees (Refer to Note 4) 56 301 190
Deferred financing fees (3,253) (308) (212)
Shelf offering costs (852) (673) �
Withholding tax obligation settlement � (1,488) �

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 75,388 127,575 (7,008)

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (2,346) 8,107 228
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 8,839 732 504

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $ 6,493 $ 8,839 $ 732
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CASH PAID DURING PERIOD FOR INTEREST $ 8,226 $ 6,886 $ 3,174
CASH PAID DURING PERIOD FOR TAXES $ 7 $ � $ �
NON-CASH FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cancellation of employee note receivable $ � $ 717 $ �
Notes receivable issued in exchange for common stock associated with the
exercise of employee stock options $ � $ � 1,692

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AND PER UNIT DATA)

Year ending September 30,

2008 2007 2006
Per Share Data(1)
Net asset value at beginning of period $ 14.97 $ 14.02 $ 13.41

Income from investment operations(2)
Net investment income 1.35 1.69 1.70
Net realized loss on the sale of investments (0.04) � (0.08)
Net unrealized (depreciation) appreciation on investments (2.39) (0.56) 0.53

Total from investment operations (1.08) 1.13 2.15

Distributions to stockholders from(2)(3)
Net investment income (1.31) (1.48) (1.58)
Gains (0.01) (0.20) (0.06)
Tax return on capital (0.36) � �

Total distributions (1.68) (1.68) (1.64)

Capital share transactions:
Issuance of common stock under shelf offering 0.72 1.55 �
Issuance of common stock under stock option plan � � 0.06
Offering costs (0.04) (0.05) �
Stock compensation expense � � 0.02
Repayment of principal on notes receivable � 0.06 0.02
Stock surrendered to settle withholding tax obligation � (0.06) �

Total from capital share transactions 0.68 1.50 0.02

Net asset value at end of period $ 12.89 $ 14.97 $ 14.02

Per share market value at beginning of period $ 19.52 $ 22.01 $ 22.55
Per share market value at end of period $ 15.24 $ 19.52 $ 22.01
Total return(4) (13.90)% (4.40)% 5.21%
Shares outstanding at end of period 21,087,574 14,762,574 12,305,008
Statement of Assets and Liabilities Data:
Net assets at end of period $ 271,748 $ 220,959 $ 172,570
Average net assets(5) $ 284,304 $ 189,732 $ 155,868
Senior Securities Data:
Borrowing under line of credit $ 151,030 $ 144,440 $ 49,993
Asset coverage ratio(6)(7) 286% 259% 466%
Average coverage per unit(7) $ 2,860 $ 2,594 $ 4,657
Ratios/Supplemental Data:
Ratio of expenses to average net assets(8) 9.34% 10.75% 6.16%
Ratio of net expenses to average net assets(9) 6.74% 7.60% 4.84%
Ratio of net investment income to average net assets 9.34% 11.73% 12.42%

(1)
Based on actual shares outstanding at the end of the corresponding period.

(2)
Based on weighted average basic per share data.
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(3)
Distributions are determined based on taxable income calculated in accordance with income tax regulations which may differ from amounts determined
under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

(4)
Total return equals the change in the ending market value of the Company's common stock from the beginning of the period taking into account
dividends reinvested in accordance with the terms of its dividend reinvestment plan. Total return does not take into account dividends that may be
characterized as a return of capital. For further information on estimated character of the Company's dividends please refer to Note 10.

(5)
Average net assets are computed using the average of the balance of net assets at the end of each month of the reporting period.

(6)
As a business development company, the Company is generally required to maintain a ratio of at least 200% of total assets, less all liabilities and
indebtedness not represented by senior securities, to total borrowings.

(7)
Asset coverage ratio is the ratio of the carrying value of the Company's total consolidated assets, less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by
senior securities, to the aggregate amount of senior securities representing indebtedness. Asset coverage per unit is the asset coverage ratio expressed in
terms of dollar amounts per $1,000 of indebtedness.

8)
Ratio of expenses to average net assets is computed using expenses before credits from Adviser to the base management and incentive fees and
including income tax expense.

(9)
Ratio of net expenses to average net assets is computed using total expenses net of credits from Adviser to the base management and incentive fees and
including income tax expense.

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA AND AS OTHERWISE INDICATED)

Note 1. Organization

        Gladstone Capital Corporation (the "Company") was incorporated under the General Corporation Laws of the State of Maryland on
May 30, 2001 as a closed-end investment company. The Company has elected to be treated as a business development company under the
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended ("the 1940 Act"). In addition, the Company has elected to be treated for tax purposes as a
regulated investment company ("RIC"), under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"). The Company's investment
objectives are to achieve a high level of current income by investing in debt and equity securities of established private businesses.

        Gladstone Business Loan, LLC ("Business Loan"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, was established on February 3, 2003 for
the purpose of holding the Company's portfolio of loan investments. Gladstone Capital Advisers, Inc. ("Capital Advisers") is also a
wholly-owned subsidiary.

        Gladstone Financial Corporation ("Gladstone Financial"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, was established on November 21,
2006 for the purpose of holding a license to operate as a Specialized Small Business Investment Company. Gladstone Financial (previously
known as Gladstone SSBIC Corporation) acquired this license in February 2007. This will enable the Company, through this subsidiary, to make
investments in accordance with the United States Small Business Administration guidelines for specialized small business investment
companies. Currently, Gladstone Financial holds a U.S. Treasury Bill that it purchased with proceeds from the Company's initial stock purchase
in Gladstone Financial of approximately $2.5 million.

        The financial statements of the subsidiaries are consolidated with those of the Company.

        The Company is externally managed by Gladstone Management Corporation ("Adviser"), an unconsolidated affiliate of the Company.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

        The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Consolidation

        Under Article 6 of Regulation S-X under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the authoritative accounting guidance provided by the
AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide for Investment Companies, the Company is not permitted to consolidate any subsidiary or other entity that
is not an investment company.

Use of Estimates

        The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America ("GAAP") that require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements
and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA AND AS OTHERWISE INDICATED)

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Reclassifications

        Certain amounts in the prior years' financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation with no effect to
net increase in net assets resulting from operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

        Cash and cash equivalents consist of demand deposits and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when
purchased. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost which approximates fair value as of September 30, 2008 and September 30, 2007.

Concentration of Credit Risk

        The Company places its cash and cash equivalents with financial institutions and, at times, cash held in checking accounts may exceed the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insured limit.

Classification of Investments

        The 1940 Act requires classification of the Company's investments by its respective level of control. As defined in the 1940 Act, "Control
Investments" are investments in those portfolio companies that the Company is deemed to "Control." "Affiliate Investments" are investments in
those portfolio companies that are "Affiliated Companies" of the Company, as defined in the 1940 Act, other than Control Investments.
"Non-Control/Non-Affiliate Investments" are those that are neither Control Investments nor Affiliate Investments. In general, the 1940 Act
prescribes that the Company has control over a portfolio company if it owns greater than 25% of the voting securities of the portfolio company.
The Company is deemed to be an affiliate of a portfolio company if it owns between 5% and 25% of the voting securities of such portfolio
company or has one or more seats on the affiliated company's board of directors. However, if the Company holds 50% or more contractual
representation on a portfolio company's board of directors, the Company will be deemed to have control over the portfolio company.

Investment Valuation

        The Company carries its investments at market value to the extent that market quotations are readily available, and otherwise at fair value,
as determined in good faith by its Board of Directors. In determining the fair value of the Company's investments, the Adviser has established an
investment valuation policy (the "Policy"). The Policy is approved by the Company's Board of Directors and each quarter the Board of Directors
reviews whether the Adviser has applied the Policy consistently, and votes whether or not to accept the recommended valuation of the
Company's investment portfolio.

        The Company uses generally accepted valuation techniques to value its portfolio unless the Company has specific information about the
value of an investment to determine otherwise. From time to time the Company may accept an appraisal of a business in which the Company
holds securities. These appraisals are expensive and occur infrequently but provide a third party valuation opinion that may differ in results,
techniques and scopes used to value the Company's investments. When these
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GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA AND AS OTHERWISE INDICATED)

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

specific third-party appraisals are engaged or accepted, the Company would use such appraisals to value the investment the Company has in that
business if it was determined that the appraisals were the best estimate of fair value.

        The Policy, which is summarized below, applies to publicly-traded securities, securities for which a limited market exists, and securities for
which no market exists.

         Publicly-traded securities:    The Company determines the value of publicly-traded securities based on the closing price for the security
on the exchange or securities market on which it is listed and primarily traded on the valuation date. To the extent that the Company owns
restricted securities that are not freely tradable, but for which a public market otherwise exists, the Company will use the market value of that
security adjusted for any decrease in value resulting from the restrictive feature.

         Securities for which a limited market exists:    The Company values securities that are not traded on an established secondary securities
market, but for which a limited market for the security exists, such as certain participations in, or assignments of, syndicated loans, at the firm
bid price. If a firm bid price is unavailable, the Company bases the value of the security upon the indicative bid price offered by the respective
originating syndication agent's trading desk, or secondary desk, on or near the valuation date. To the extent that the Company uses the indicative
bid price as a basis for valuing the security, the Adviser may take further steps to consider additional information to validate that price in
accordance with the Policy.

         Securities for which no market exists:    The valuation methodology for securities for which no market exists falls into three categories:
(1) portfolio investments comprised solely of debt securities; (2) portfolio investments in controlled companies comprised of a bundle of
securities, which can include debt and equity securities; and (3) portfolio investments in non-controlled companies comprised of a bundle of
securities, which can include debt and equity securities.

(1)    Portfolio investments comprised solely of debt securities:    Debt securities that are not publicly traded on an established securities
market, or for which a limited market does not exist ("Non-Public Debt Securities"), and that are issued by portfolio companies where the
Company has no equity, or equity-like securities, are fair valued in accordance with the terms of the Policy, which utilizes opinions of value
submitted to the Company by Standard & Poor's Securities Evaluations, Inc. ("SPSE"). The Company may also submit Paid in Kind ("PIK")
interest to SPSE for their evaluation when it is determined the PIK interest is likely to be received.

(2)    Portfolio investments in controlled companies comprised of a bundle of investments, which can include debt and equity
securities:    The Company values Non-Public Debt Securities and equity or equity-like securities (e.g. preferred equity, equity, or other
equity-like securities) that are purchased together as part of a package, where we have control or could gain control through an option or warrant
security, both the debt and equity securities of the portfolio investment would exit in the mergers and acquisition market as the principal market,
generally through a sale or recapitalization of the portfolio company.
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GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA AND AS OTHERWISE INDICATED)

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(3)    Portfolio investments in non-controlled companies comprised of a bundle of investments, which can include debt and equity
securities:    The Company values Non-Public Debt Securities and equity or equity-like securities that are purchased together from the same
"non-controlled" portfolio company, or issuer, by valuing the debt portion with SPSE (as described above) and valuing the equity portion based
on the total enterprise value of the issuer, which is calculated using a liquidity waterfall approach.

        Due to the uncertainty inherent in the valuation process, such estimates of fair value may differ significantly from the values that would
have been obtained had a ready market for the securities existed, and the differences could be material. Additionally, changes in the market
environment and other events that may occur over the life of the investments may cause the gains or losses ultimately realized on these
investments to be different than the valuations currently assigned. There is no single standard for determining fair value in good faith, as fair
value depends upon circumstances of each individual case. In general, fair value is the amount that the Company might reasonably expect to
receive upon the current sale of the security in an arms-length transaction in the security's principal market.

Interest Income Recognition

        Interest income, adjusted for amortization of premiums and acquisition costs and for the accretion of discounts, is recorded on the accrual
basis to the extent that such amounts are expected to be collected. The Company stops accruing interest on its investments when it is determined
that interest is no longer collectible. At September 30, 2008, one Non-Control/Non-Affiliate investment and two Control investments were on
non-accrual with a cost basis of approximately $13.1 million at September 30, 2008, or less than 2.8% of the cost basis of all loans in the
Company's portfolio. Conditional interest, or a success fee, is recorded upon full repayment of a loan investment.

Paid in Kind Interest

        The Company has a loan in its portfolio which contain a PIK provision. The PIK interest, computed at the contractual rate specified in each
loan agreement, is added to the principal balance of the loan and recorded as income. To maintain the Company's status as a RIC, this non-cash
source of income must be paid out to stockholders in the form of dividends, even though the Company has not yet collected the cash. For the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2008, the Company recorded PIK income of $62. There was no PIK income recorded during the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2007. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, the Company recorded PIK income of $63.

Services Provided to Portfolio Companies

        As a business development company under the 1940 Act, the Company is required to make available significant managerial assistance to its
portfolio companies. The company provides these services through its Adviser, who provides these services on the Company's behalf through its
officers, who are also the Company's officers. Currently, neither the Company nor the Adviser receives fees in connection with managerial
assistance.
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GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA AND AS OTHERWISE INDICATED)

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

        The Adviser receives fees for other services it provides to the Company's portfolio companies. These other fees are typically non-recurring,
are recognized as revenue when earned and are generally paid directly to the Adviser by the borrower or potential borrower upon closing of the
investment. The services the Adviser provides to portfolio companies vary by investment, but generally include a broad array of services, such
as investment banking services, arranging bank and equity financing, structuring financing from multiple lenders and investors, reviewing
existing credit facilities, restructuring existing investments, raising equity and debt capital, turnaround management, merger and acquisition
services and recruiting new management personnel. Effective April 1, 2007, when the Adviser receives fees for these services, 50% of certain of
those fees are credited against the base management fee that the Company pays to its Adviser. Prior to April 1, 2007, 100% of such fees were
credited against the base management fee.

        The Adviser also receives fees for monitoring and reviewing portfolio company investments. These fees are recurring and are generally
paid annually or quarterly in advance to the Adviser throughout the life of the investment. Fees of this nature are recorded as revenue by the
Adviser when earned and are not credited against the base management fee.

        The Company may receive fees for non-recurring consulting or origination and closing services it provides to portfolio companies through
its Adviser. These fees are paid directly to the Company and are recognized as revenue upon closing of the services provided and are reported as
fee income in the consolidated statements of operations.

Realized Gain or Loss and Unrealized Appreciation or Depreciation of Portfolio Investments

        Realized gain or loss is recognized when an investment is disposed of and is computed as the difference between the Company's cost basis
in the investment at the disposition date and the net proceeds received from such disposition. Unrealized appreciation or depreciation displays
the difference between the fair market value of the investment and the cost basis of such investment. Unlike banks, the Company is not
permitted to provide a general reserve for anticipated loan losses. Instead, the Company must determine the fair value of each individual
investment on a quarterly basis and record changes in fair value as unrealized appreciation or depreciation in its consolidated statement of
operations.

Deferred Finance Costs

        Costs associated with the Company's line of credit facility with Deutsche Bank AG are deferred and amortized over the life of the credit
facility, generally for a period of one year. These costs are amortized in the consolidated statement of operations as amortization of deferred
financing fees using the straight line method, which closely approximates the effective interest method.

Stock Options

        In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") approved the revision of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards ("SFAS") No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation", and issued the revised SFAS Statement No. 123(R), "Share-Based
Payment." SFAS
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GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA AND AS OTHERWISE INDICATED)

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

No. 123(R) effectively replaces SFAS No. 123, and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion ("APB") No. 25, "Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees" ("APB 25"). SFAS 123(R) is effective for awards that are granted, modified, or settled in cash for annual periods
beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R) on October 1, 2005 using the modified prospective approach. The
Company did not have any stock options outstanding during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008.

Investment Advisory and Management Agreement with Gladstone Management Corporation

        Since October 1, 2004, the Company has been externally managed pursuant to a contractual investment advisory arrangement with its
Adviser, an unconsolidated affiliate of the Company and a registered investment adviser, under which our Adviser has directly employed all of
the Company's personnel and paid its payroll, benefits, and general expenses directly. The Company's initial advisory agreement with the
Adviser was in place through September 30, 2006 (the "Initial Advisory Agreement"). Pursuant to the Initial Advisory Agreement, the Company
paid the Adviser an annual advisory fee of 1.25% of its total assets (as reduced by cash and cash equivalents pledged to creditors), payable in
quarterly increments of 0.3125%, and an annual administrative fee of 0.75% of its total assets (as reduced by cash and cash equivalents pledged
to creditors), payable in quarterly increments of 0.1875%. The Adviser's Board of Directors agreed to waive, for the quarters ending June 30,
2006 and September 30, 2006, the annual advisory fee of 1.25% to 0.5% for those senior syndicated loans in which the Company already had
syndicated second lien participations. On October 1, 2006, the Company entered into an amended and restated investment advisory agreement
(the "Amended Advisory Agreement") with the Adviser and an administration agreement (the "Administration Agreement") with Gladstone
Administration, LLC (the "Administrator"). (Please refer to Note 4. Related Party Transactions.)

        Under the Amended Advisory Agreement, the Company pays a 2% annual base management fee computed on the basis of the value of the
Company's average gross assets at the end of the two most recently completed quarters, which are total assets, less any uninvested cash or cash
equivalents resulting from borrowings. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007, the Adviser's board of directors waived the amount of
the fee on senior syndicated loans from an annual rate of 2% to 0.5%. Effective April 1, 2007, when the Company's Adviser receives fees from
the Company's portfolio companies, such as investment banking fees, structuring fees or executive recruiting services fees, 50% of certain of
these fees will be credited against the base management fee that the Company would otherwise be required to pay to the Company's Adviser.
Prior to April 1, 2007, certain of such fees were 100% credited against the 2% base management fee.

        In addition, the Company's Adviser services the loans held by Business Loan, in return for which the Adviser receives a 1.5% annual fee
based on the monthly aggregate balance of loans held by Business Loan. Since the Company owns these loans, all loan servicing fees paid to the
Adviser are also credited directly against the 2% base management fee.

        The incentive fee consists of two parts: an income-based incentive fee and a capital gains incentive fee. The income-based incentive fee
rewards the Adviser if the Company's quarterly net investment
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income (before giving effect to the incentive fee) exceeds 1.75% of the Company's net assets. The Adviser will receive an annual capital gains
incentive fee of 20% of the Company's realized capital gains (net of realized capital losses and unrealized capital depreciation).

Administration Agreement with Gladstone Administration, LLC

        The Company has entered into the Administration Agreement with the Administrator, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Adviser, which is
controlled by the Company's chairman and chief executive officer. Pursuant to the Administration Agreement, the Administrator furnishes the
Company with office facilities, equipment and clerical, bookkeeping and record keeping services at such facilities and performs, or oversees the
performance of the Company's required administrative services. Such required administrative services include, among other things, being
responsible for the financial records which the Company is required to maintain and preparing reports to the Company's stockholders and reports
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

        The Administration Agreement requires the Company to reimburse the Administrator for the performance of its obligations under the
Administration Agreement. The reimbursement is based upon the allocable portion of the Administrator's overhead, including, but not limited to,
rent and the allocable portion of salaries and benefits of the Company's chief financial officer, controller, chief compliance officer, treasurer and
their respective staff.

Federal Income Taxes

        The Company intends to continue to qualify for treatment as a RIC under subchapter M of the Code. As a RIC, the Company will not be
subject to federal income tax on the portion of its taxable income and gains distributed to stockholders. To qualify as a RIC, the Company is
required to distribute at least 90% of its investment company taxable income, as defined by the Code. The Company intends to distribute at least
90% of its ordinary income, and as a result, no income tax provisions have been recorded. The Company may, but does not intend to, pay out a
return of capital.

        In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") released FASB Interpretation No. 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes" ("FIN 48"). FIN 48 provides guidance on how uncertain tax positions should be recognized, measured, presented, and disclosed
in the financial statements. FIN 48 requires the evaluation of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in the course of preparing the
Company's tax returns to determine whether the tax positions are "more-likely-than-not" of being sustained by the applicable tax authorities. Tax
positions not deemed to satisfy the "more-likely-than-not" threshold would be recorded as a tax benefit or expense in the current year. FASB
required adoption of FIN 48 for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, and FIN 48 is to be applied to all open tax years as of the
effective date. As of September 30, 2008 tax years 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 were open. The Company has evaluated the implications of
FIN 48, for all open tax years and in all major tax jurisdictions, and determined that there is no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Dividends

        Distributions to stockholders are recorded on the ex-dividend date. The Company is required to pay out at least 90% of its ordinary income
and short-term capital gains for each taxable year as a dividend to its stockholders in order to maintain its status as a RIC under Subtitle A,
Chapter 1 of Subchapter M of the Code. It is the policy of the Company to pay out as a dividend up to 100% of those amounts. The amount to be
paid out as a dividend is determined by the Board of Directors each quarter and is based on the annual earnings estimated by the management of
the Company. Based on that estimate, a dividend is declared each quarter and is paid out monthly over the course of the respective quarter. At
year-end the Company may pay a bonus dividend, in addition to the monthly dividends, to ensure that it has paid out at least 90% of its ordinary
income and short-term capital gains for the year. The Company may retain long-term capital gains, if any, and not pay them out as dividends. If
the Company decides to retain long-term capital gains, the portion of the retained capital gains will be subject to a 35% tax.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

        In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, "Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" ("SFAS No. 161"),
which is intended to help investors better understand how derivative instruments and hedging activities affect an entity's financial position,
financial performance and cash flows through enhanced disclosure requirements. The enhanced disclosures primarily surround disclosing the
objectives and strategies for using derivative instruments by their underlying risk as well as a tabular format of the fair values of the derivative
instruments and their gains and losses. SFAS No. 161 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning
after November 15, 2008. The Company does not believe the adoption of this pronouncement will have a material impact on its reporting of its
derivatives.

        In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R) "Business Combinations," which replaces SFAS No. 141 "Business Combinations"
("SFAS No. 141(R)"). SFAS No. 141(R) significantly changes the accounting for acquisitions involving business combinations, as it requires
that the assets and liabilities of all business combinations be recorded at fair value, with limited exceptions. SFAS 141(R) also requires that all
expenses related to the acquisition be expenses as incurred, rather than capitalized into the cost of the acquisition as had been the previous
accounting under SFAS No. 141. SFAS No. 141(R) is effective on a prospective basis for all business combinations for which the acquisition
date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period subsequent to December 15, 2008. The Company is required to adopt SFAS
No. 141(R) on October 1, 2009 and is currently evaluating the impact of this pronouncement on its consolidated financial statements.

        In November 2007, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 109, "Written Loan Commitments Recorded at Fair Value Through
Earnings" ("SAB 109"). SAB 109 provides guidance on the accounting for written loan commitments recorded at fair value under GAAP.
Specifically, SAB 109 revises the Staff's views on incorporating expected net future cash flows related to loan servicing activities in the fair
value measurement of a written loan commitment. SAB 109, which supersedes SAB 105, "Application of Accounting Principles to Loan
Commitments," requires the expected net future cash
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flows related to the associated servicing of the loan be included in the measurement of all written loan commitments that are accounted for at fair
value through earnings. SAB 109 is effective in fiscal quarters beginning after December 15, 2007. The Company has evaluated the implications
of SAB 109 and determined that there is no material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

        In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities�Including an
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115" which is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. This pronouncement permits an
entity to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value at specified election dates. Subsequent unrealized
gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected will be reported in earnings. The Company is currently evaluating the
potential impact of this pronouncement on its consolidated financial statements.

        In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements" ("SFAS No. 157"). SFAS No. 157 defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with GAAP, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS
No. 157 applies broadly to securities and other types of assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within that fiscal year. The Company will be required to adopt SFAS No. 157 on
October 1, 2008 and is currently evaluating the impact of this pronouncement on its consolidated financial statements.

Note 3. Investments

Non-Control/Non-Affiliate Investments

        At September 30, 2008 and 2007, the Company held Non-Control/Non-Affiliate investments in the aggregate of approximately
$448.4 million and $354.8 million, at cost, respectively.

Control and Affiliate Investments

        At September 30, 2008 and 2007, the Company held control investments in the aggregate of approximately $12.5 million and $0.9 million
at cost, respectively. At September 30, 2008, the control investments were comprised of BERTL, Inc. ("BERTL"), U.S. Healthcare Inc. ("U.S.
Healthcare"), LocalTel, LLC ("LocalTel") and Western Directories, Inc. "(Western Directories").

�
BERTL:    The Company originally purchased a past due debt instrument in MCA Communications, LLC, and the Company
accepted a deed in lieu of foreclosure in satisfaction of BERTL's obligations under the debt instrument on September 28,
2007. BERTL is a web-based evaluator of digital imaging products.

�
U.S. Healthcare:    The Company offered at public sale certain assets of U.S Healthcare on January 30, 2008, consisting
generally of all fixtures of tangible and intangible personal property. The Company acquired these assets in the sale, through
a newly formed subsidiary, and intends to continue the business of U.S. Healthcare under its control. U.S. Healthcare is a
service-magazine operator.
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�
LocalTel:    On July 2, 2008, the Company acquired from the previous owner certain assets of LocalTel, Inc, consisting of all
tangible and intangible personal property. The Company acquired these assets through a newly formed subsidiary, and
intends to continue the business of LocalTel under its control. LocalTel is a telephone book publisher.

�
Western Directories:    On August 27, 2008, the Company acquired from the previous owner certain assets of West Coast
Yellow Pages, consisting of all tangible and intangible personal property. The Company acquired these assets through a
newly formed subsidiary and intends to continue the business under its control. Western Directories is a telephone book
publisher.

Investment Concentrations

        Investments at fair value consisted of the following industry classifications as of September 30, 2008 and September 30, 2007:

September 30, 2008 September 30, 2007

Percentage Percentage

Industry Classification
Fair
Value

Total
Investments

Net
Assets

Fair
Value

Total
Investments

Net
Assets

Aerospace & Defense $ 4,192 1.0% 1.6% $ 4,616 1.3% 2.1%
Automobile 5,055 1.2% 1.9% 6,246 1.8% 2.8%
Broadcast (TV & Radio) 52,336 12.8% 19.2% 41,934 12.0% 19.0%
Buildings and Real Estate 13,519 3.3% 5.0% � � �
Cargo Transport 15,805 3.9% 5.8% 15,685 4.5% 7.1%
Chemicals, Plastics & Rubber 16,375 4.0% 6.0% 25,111 7.2% 11.4%
Diversified/Conglomerate Manufacturing 3,195 0.8% 1.2% 3,710 1.1% 1.7%
Diversified Natural Resources, Precious
Metals and Minerals 12,936 3.2% 4.8%
Electronics 35,208 8.6% 13.0% 31,351 9.0% 14.2%
Farming & Agriculture 10,031 2.5% 3.7% 11,538 3.3% 5.2%
Finance 1,812 0.4% 0.7% 2,461 0.7% 1.1%
Healthcare, Education & Childcare 76,642 18.8% 28.2% 36,927 10.5% 16.7%
Home & Office Furnishings 15,379 3.8% 5.7% 17,057 4.9% 7.7%
Leisure, Amusement, Movies &
Entertainment 8,097 2.0% 3.0% 9,509 2.7% 4.3%
Machinery 9,834 2.4% 3.6% 9,883 2.8% 4.5%
Mining, Steel, Iron & Non-Precious
Metals 25,095 6.2% 9.2% 27,057 7.7% 12.2%
Personal and Non-durable Consumer
Products 9,703 2.4% 3.6% 8,978 2.6% 4.1%
Printing & Publishing 60,440 14.8% 22.2% 72,191 20.6% 32.7%
Retail Stores 22,800 5.6% 8.4% 14,986 4.3% 6.8%
Textiles & Leather 9,479 2.3% 3.5% 10,605 3.0% 4.8%

Total $407,933 100.0% $349,845 100.0%

96

Edgar Filing: OneBeacon Insurance Group, Ltd. - Form DEF 14A

75



GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SEPTEMBER 30, 2008

(DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA AND AS OTHERWISE INDICATED)

Note 3. Investments (Continued)

        The investments at fair value consisted of the following geographic regions of the United States at September 30, 2008 and September 30,
2007:

September 30, 2008 September 30, 2007

Percentage Percentage

Geographic Region
Fair
Value

Total
Investments

Net
Assets

Fair
Value

Total
Investments

Net
Assets

Midwest $206,271 50.6% 69.4% $152,929 43.7% 69.2%
West 85,294 20.9% 29.0% 70,842 20.2% 32.1%
Mid-Atlantic 50,807 12.4% 14.7% 56,866 16.3% 25.7%
Southeast 49,374 12.1% 20.4% 44,488 12.7% 20.1%
Northeast 10,617 2.6% 4.3% 17,332 5.0% 7.8%
U.S. Territory 5,570 1.4% 1.9% 7,388 2.1% 3.3%

$407,933 100.0% $349,845 100.0%

        The geographic region depicts the location of the headquarters for the Company's portfolio companies. A portfolio company may have a
number of other locations in other geographic regions.

Investment Principal Repayment

        The following table summarizes the contractual principal repayment and maturity of the Company's investment portfolio by fiscal year,
assuming no voluntary prepayments:

Amount
2009 $ 25,476
2010 47,797
2011 104,543
2012 93,281
2013 141,970
Thereafter 42,770

Total Contractual Repayments $455,837
Investments in Equity Securities

5,033

Total $460,870

Note 4. Related Party Transactions

Loans to Employees

        The Company provided loans to employees of the Adviser, who at the time of the loans were joint employees of the Company and either
the Adviser, or the Company's previous investment adviser, Gladstone Capital Advisers, Inc., for the exercise of options under the Company's
Amended and Restated 2001 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2001 Plan"), which has since been terminated and is no
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longer in operation. The loans require the quarterly payment of interest at the market rate in effect at the date of issue, have varying terms not
exceeding ten years and have been recorded as a reduction of net assets. The loans are evidenced by full recourse notes that are due upon
maturity or 60 days following termination of employment, and the shares of common stock purchased with the proceeds of the loan are posted as
collateral. No new loans were issued during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2008 and September 30, 2007, and the Company received $56
and $301 of principal repayments during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2008 and September 30, 2007, respectively. The Company
recognized interest income from all employee stock option loans of $471, $526 and $441, respectively, for the fiscal years ended September 30,
2008, 2007 and 2006. The outstanding principal balances due on all employee stock option loans at September 30, 2008 and 2007 were $9,175
and $9,230, respectively.

        In July 2007, a loan to an employee, and the shares pledged as collateral under the loan under a related pledge agreement, were cancelled
due to an event of default which was triggered by a stop loss provision in the employee's promissory note and pledge agreement. The provision
specified that in the event that the aggregate value of the shares pledged under the note, as determined by the intra-day trading price of the shares
on Nasdaq, became less than or equal to the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the note, the note would become immediately due and
collectible through cancellation of the shares under the terms of the pledge agreement. The Company cancelled 37,109 shares which, in turn,
cancelled via a non-cash transaction the remaining outstanding principal of the note of approximately $717.

Investment Advisory and Management Agreement

        The Company is externally managed by the Adviser, which is controlled by our chairman and chief executive officer, under a contractual
investment advisory agreement. On October 1, 2006, the Company entered into the Amended Advisory Agreement. From October 1, 2004
through September 30, 2006, the relationship was governed by the Initial Advisory Agreement.

Terms of the Amended Advisory Agreement

        Under the Amended Advisory Agreement, the Company pays the Adviser an annual base management fee of 2% of its average gross assets,
which is defined as total assets less cash and cash equivalents pledged to creditors calculated as of the end of the two most recently completed
fiscal quarters and also consists of a two-part incentive fee.

        The first part of the incentive fee is an income-based incentive fee which rewards the Adviser if the Company's quarterly net investment
income (before giving effect to any incentive fee) exceeds 1.75% of the Company's net assets (the "hurdle rate"). The Company pays the Adviser
an income incentive fee with respect to its pre-incentive fee net investment income in each calendar quarter as follows:

�
no incentive fee in any calendar quarter in which its pre-incentive fee net investment income does not exceed the hurdle rate
(7% annualized);
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�
100% of pre-incentive fee net investment income with respect to that portion of such pre-incentive fee net investment
income, if any, that exceeds the hurdle rate but is less than 2.1875% in any calendar quarter (8.75% annualized); and

�
20% of the amount of pre-incentive fee net investment income, if any, that exceeds 2.1875% in any calendar quarter (8.75%
annualized).

        The second part of the incentive fee is a capital gains incentive fee that is determined and payable in arrears as of the end of each fiscal year
(or upon termination of the Amended Advisory Agreement, as of the termination date) and equals 20% of the Company's realized capital gains
as of the end of the fiscal year. In determining the capital gains incentive fee payable to the Adviser, the Company calculates the cumulative
aggregate realized capital gains and cumulative aggregate realized capital losses since the Company's inception, and the aggregate unrealized
capital depreciation as of the date of the calculation, as applicable, with respect to each of the investments in its portfolio.

        The Adviser's board of directors voluntarily waived, for the fiscal quarters within the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008, the annual
2.0% base management fee to 0.5% for senior syndicated loan participations and also waived in its entirety the incentive fee due for the quarter
ended September 30, 2008.

        In addition to the base management and incentive fees under the Amended Advisory Agreement, certain fees received by the Adviser from
the Company's portfolio companies were credited against the investment advisory fee under the Initial Advisory Agreement, and will continue to
be paid to the Adviser and credited under the Amended Advisory Agreement. Effective April 1, 2007, 50% of certain of the fees received by the
Adviser are credited against the base management fee, whereas prior to such date 100% of those fees were credited against the base management
fee. In addition, as under the Initial Advisory Agreement, the Company continues to pay its direct expenses including, but not limited to,
directors' fees, legal and accounting fees, stockholder related expenses, and directors and officers insurance under the Amended Advisory
Agreement.
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        The following tables summarize the management fees, incentive fees and associated credits reflected in the accompanying consolidated
statement of operations:

Year Ending September 30,

2008 2007 2006
Base management fee $ 2,212 $ 2,402 $ 1,284
Credit for fees received by Adviser from the
portfolio companies (1,678) (1,660) (2,051)
Fee reduction for the voluntary, irrevocable waiver
of 2% fee on senior syndicated loans to 0.5% per
annum (408) (481) (18)

Net base management fee $ 126 $ 261 $ (785)

Incentive fee $ 5,311 $ 4,608 $ �
Credit from voluntary, irrevocable waiver issued by
Adviser's board of directors (5,311) (3,830) �

Net incentive fee $ � $ 778 $ �

Credit for fees received by Adviser from the
portfolio companies $ (1,678) $ (1,660) $ (2,051)
Fee reduction for the voluntary, irrevocable waiver
of 2% fee on senior syndicated loans to 0.5% per
annum (408) (481) (18)
Incentive fee credit (5,311) (3,830) �

Credit to base management and incentive fees
from Adviser $ (7,397) $ (5,971) $ (2,069)

        There was no incentive fee in effect at September 30, 2006.

        As of September 30, 2008, the Company owed $83 of unpaid base management fee due to the Adviser and there were no unpaid incentive
fees to the Adviser, presented in the net fees due to Adviser in the accompanying consolidated statements of assets and liabilities. The credits to
the base management fee and incentive fee are reflected on the consolidated statement of operations as credits to base management and incentive
fees. The Company did not earn the capital gains portion of the incentive fee for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2008 or September 30,
2007, nor was the fee in effect in the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006. Overall, the base management fee due to the Adviser cannot exceed
2% of total assets (as reduced by cash and cash equivalents pledged to creditors) during any given fiscal year.
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Terms of the Initial Advisory Agreement

        As compensation for its services, under the Initial Advisory Agreement, the Company paid the Adviser an annual advisory fee of 1.25% of
total assets (as reduced by cash and cash equivalents pledged to creditors), payable in quarterly computed increments of 0.3125%, and an annual
administrative fee of 0.75% of total assets (as reduced by cash and cash equivalents pledged to creditors), payable in quarterly computed
increments of 0.1875%, for a total annual management fee of 2.0% (0.50% quarterly) of total assets (as reduced by cash and cash equivalents
pledged to creditors). The Company also paid all of its direct expenses including, but not limited to, directors' fees, legal and accounting fees,
stockholder related expenses, and directors and officers insurance.

Loan Servicing and Portfolio Company Fees

        The Adviser also services the loans held by Business Loan, in return for which it receives a 1.5% annual fee based on the monthly
aggregate outstanding balance of the loans pledged under the Company's line of credit. Since the Company owns these loans, all loan servicing
fees paid to the Adviser have been and continue to be treated as reductions directly against the 2% management fee, under both the Initial and
Amended Advisory Agreements. Effective in April 2006, the Adviser's board of directors reduced the annual servicing fee rate on these loans to
0.5%. For fiscal year ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, these loan servicing fees totaled $6,117 and $3,624, respectively, all of which were
deducted against the 2% base management fee in order to derive the base management fee which is presented as the line item base management
fee in the consolidated statements of operations. At September 30, 2008, the Company owed $374 of unpaid loan servicing fees to the Adviser,
which are netted and recorded in fees due to Adviser. At September 30, 2007, the Company owed $267 in loan servicing fees to the Adviser,
recorded in fees due to Adviser in the consolidated statements of assets and liabilities. Under the Initial and Amended Advisory Agreements, the
Adviser has also provided and continues to provide managerial assistance and other services to the Company's portfolio companies and may
receive fees for services other than managerial assistance services.

Administration Agreement

        On October 1, 2006, the Company entered into the Administration Agreement with the Administrator, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Adviser. Under the Administration Agreement, the Company pays separately for administrative services. The Administration Agreement
provides for payments equal to the Company's allocable portion of the Administrator's overhead expenses in performing its obligations under the
Administration Agreement, including, but not limited to, rent for employees of the Administrator, and the allocable portion of salaries and
benefits expenses of the Company's chief financial officer, controller, chief compliance officer, treasurer and their respective staffs. The
Company recorded an administration fee of $985, for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008. The administration fee in fiscal year ended
September 30, 2007 was $719.
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        Through Business Loan, the Company has a $300 million revolving credit facility with Deutsche Bank AG, as administrative agent,
pursuant to which Business Loan pledges the loans it holds to secure future advances by certain institutional lenders. The interest rate charged on
the advances under the DB Facility is based on the Commercial Paper ("CP") rate which is equivalent to the weighted average per annum rates
paid by the DB Facility's CP lenders in respect of CP notes issued by the CP lender during such period. Business Loan also has the ability to
borrow at an alternative rate from the committed lenders if CP lenders are unable to fund advances. The alternative rate is the London Interbank
Offered Rate ("LIBOR"), or if LIBOR is unavailable, the Prime Rate or the Federal Funds Rate plus 1.0%. In February 2008, the Company
increased the DB Facility from $220 million to $250 million, and in April 2008, increased the DB Facility to $300 million and added Branch
Banking and Trust Company ("BB&T") as a committed lender. In June 2008, the Company renewed the DB Facility, which matures on May 21,
2009. The fees incurred for the above amendments are recorded in deferred financing fees in the accompanying consolidated statements of assets
and liabilities.

        As of September 30, 2008, the outstanding principal balance under the DB Facility was $151,030 at a stated interest rate of approximately
3.9%, plus a 2.5% program fee. Available borrowings are subject to various constraints imposed under the credit agreement, based on the
aggregate loan balance pledged by Business Loan, which varies as loans are added and repaid, regardless of whether such repayments are early
prepayment or are made as contractually required. At September 30, 2008, the remaining borrowing capacity available under the DB Facility
was $148,970. The weighted average borrowings outstanding under the DB Facility for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2008 and 2007
were approximately $137.6 million and $110.4 million, respectively, at a weighted average annual interest cost of 7.1% and 6.8%, respectively,
which was computed by using the annual stated interest rate plus commitment and other fees plus the amortization of deferred financing fees
divided by the weighted average debt outstanding.

        The DB Facility contains covenants that require Business Loan to maintain its status as a separate entity; prohibit certain significant
corporate transactions (such as mergers, consolidations, liquidations or dissolutions); and restrict material changes to the Company's credit and
collection policies. The DB Facility also restricts some of the terms and provisions (including interest rates, terms to maturity and payments
schedules) and limits the borrower and industry concentrations of loans that are eligible to secure advances. As of September 30, 2008, Business
Loan was in compliance with all of the facility covenants.

        The administrative agent also requires that any interest or principal payments on pledged loans be remitted directly by the borrower into a
lockbox account with the Bank of New York Mellon Corp. as custodian. Deutsche Bank AG is also the trustee of the account and once a month
remits the collected funds to the Company. At September 30, 2008, the amount due from custodian was $4,544 and at September 30, 2007, the
amount due from custodian was $3,230.

        The Adviser also services the loans pledged under the DB Facility. As a condition to this servicing arrangement, the Company executed a
performance guaranty pursuant to which it guaranteed that the Adviser would comply fully with all of its obligations under the DB Facility. The
performance guaranty requires that the Company maintain a minimum net worth of $100 million and 75% of equity issuances
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Note 5. Line of Credit (Continued)

after May 2003 and maintain "asset coverage" with respect to "senior securities representing indebtedness" of at least 200%, in accordance with
Section 18 of the 1940 Act. As of September 30, 2008, the Company was in compliance with all covenants under the performance guaranty.

Note 6. Interest Rate Cap Agreement

        Pursuant to the initial terms of the DB Facility, the Company has an interest rate cap agreement that effectively limits the interest rate on a
portion of the borrowings under the line of credit.

        The use of a cap involves risks that are different from those associated with ordinary portfolio securities transactions. Cap agreements may
be considered to be illiquid. Although the Company will not enter into any such agreements unless it believes that the other party to the
transaction is creditworthy, the Company does bear the risk of loss of the amount expected to be received under such agreements in the event of
default or bankruptcy of the agreement counterparty.

        In February 2004, the Company entered into an interest rate cap agreement with a notional amount of $35.0 million at a cost of $304. At
September 30, 2008, the interest rate cap agreement's current notional amount was $2.3 million and it had a nominal fair market value which
was recorded in other assets on the Company's consolidated balance sheet at September 30, 2008 and 2007. The Company records changes in
the fair market value of the interest rate cap agreement monthly based on the current market valuation at month end as unrealized depreciation or
appreciation on derivative on the Company's consolidated statement of operations. The interest rate cap agreement expires in February 2009.
The agreement provides that the Company's floating interest rate or cost of funds on a portion of the portfolio's borrowings will be capped at 5%
when the LIBOR rate is in excess of 5%. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008, the Company recorded $7 as compared to $39 for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2007 of income from the interest rate cap agreement recorded as a realized gain on the settlement of derivative
on the Company's consolidated statements of operations.
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Note 7. Common Stock Transactions

        Transactions in common stock were as follows:

Shares
Total
Value

Balance as of September 30, 2006(1) 12,305,008 $181,574
Issuance of Common Stock under Option Plan(1) 5,000 �
Issuance of Common Stock under Shelf Offering(2) 2,550,000 56,764
Shares surrendered for settlement of withholding tax(3) (60,325) (1,488)
Shares surrendered for cancellation of employee loan(4) (37,109) (717)
Return of Capital Statement of Position Adjustment(5) � (211)

Balance as of September 30, 2007 14,762,574 $235,922
Issuance of Common Stock under Shelf Offering(6) 6,325,000 105,374
Return of Capital Statement of Position Adjustment(5) � (7,132)

Balance as of September 30, 2008 21,087,574 $334,164

(1)
The balance of common stock at September 30, 2006 does not include 5,000 shares resulting from the exercise of
stock options on September 29, 2006 that were not issued by the Company's transfer agent until October 1, 2006.

(2)
In May 2007, the Company completed a public offering of 2,000,000 shares of its common stock at a price of
$24.25 per share, less an underwriting discount of $1.21 per share or 5%.

On July 24, 2007, the Company completed an offering of 400,000 shares of its common stock, at a price of $20.41
per share.

On August 22, 2007, the Company completed an offering of 150,000 shares of its common stock, at a price of
$21.32 per share, less a placement fee of $0.64 per share or 3%.

(3)
During the first quarter of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007, 60,325 shares of stock were surrendered to
the Company from certain optionees who exercised non-qualified stock options during the third and fourth
quarters of fiscal year 2006 in order to satisfy settlement of withholding taxes that were paid by the Company with
respect to the shares underlying the exercise of such options.

(4)
In July 2007, a loan to an employee, and the shares pledged as collateral under the loan under a related pledge
agreement, were cancelled due to an event of default which was triggered by a stop loss provision in the
employee's promissory note and pledge agreement. The provision specified that in the event that the aggregate
value of the shares pledged under the note, as determined by the intra-day trading price of the shares on Nasdaq,
became less than or equal to the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the note, the note would become
immediately due and collectible through cancellation of the shares under the terms of the pledge agreement. The
Company cancelled 37,109 shares.
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Note 7. Common Stock Transactions (Continued)

(5)
The timing and characterization of certain income and capital gains distributions are determined annually in
accordance with federal tax regulations which may differ from GAAP. These differences primarily relate to items
recognized as income for financial statement purposes and realized gains for tax purposes. As a result, net
investment income and net realized gain (loss) on investment transactions for a reporting period may differ
significantly from distributions during such period. Accordingly, the Company made a reclassification among
certain of its capital accounts without impacting the net asset value of the Company.

(6)
On October 19, 2007, the Company completed an offering of 2,500,000 shares of its common stock at a price of
$18.70 per share, less an underwriting discount of $1.03 per share or 6%. On November 19, 2007, the underwriter
exercised its over-allotment option and the Company sold an additional 375,000 shares of common stock at the
same price.

On February 5, 2008, the Company completed an offering of 3,000,000 shares of its common stock at a price of
$17.00 per share, less an underwriting discount of $0.935 per share or 6%. On February 26, 2008, the underwriter
exercised its over-allotment option and the Company sold an additional 450,000 shares of common stock at the
same price.

Note 8. Net (Decrease) Increase in Net Assets Resulting from Operations per Share

        The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net (decrease) increase in net assets resulting from operations per share
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008, September 30, 2007, and September 30, 2006:

Year ended September 30,

2008 2007 2006
Numerator for basic and diluted net
(decrease) increase in net assets
resulting from operations per share $ (21,262) $ 14,952 $ 24,430
Denominator for basic weighted average
shares 19,699,796 13,173,822 11,381,378
Dilutive effect of stock options � � 234,544

Denominator for diluted weighted
average shares 19,699,796 13,173,822 11,615,922

Basic net (decrease) increase in net
assets resulting from operations per
share $ (1.08) $ 1.13 $ 2.15

Diluted net (decrease) increase in net
assets resulting from operations per
share $ (1.08) $ 1.13 $ 2.10
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Note 9. Stock Option Plan

        Prior to its termination on September 30, 2006, the Company had in place the Amended and Restated 2001 Equity Incentive Plan (the
"2001 Plan"). The Company had authorized 2,000,000 shares of capital stock for the issuance of options under the 2001 Plan to employees and
directors. Options granted under the 2001 Plan originally may have been exercised during a term not to exceed ten years from the date of grant.
Only employees of the Company and its affiliates were eligible to receive incentive stock options and both employees and non-employee
directors were eligible to receive nonstatutory stock options under the 2001 Plan.

        Options granted under the 2001 Plan were either incentive stock options or nonstatutory stock options. The option exercise price was equal
to the market price on the date of the grant. For the options granted during fiscal year 2006, all vested immediately, 2005, 3% vested
immediately, 50% vested one year after the grant date and 47% vested on the second year anniversary of the grant date. Prior to the termination
of the 2001 Plan, the vesting of all unvested stock options were accelerated on April 11, 2006.

        In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004) ("SFAS No. 123(R)") Share-based Payment. SFAS No. 123(R) replaces
SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and supersedes Accounting Principles Board ("APB") Opinion No. 25, Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees ("APB No. 25"). SFAS No. 123(R) is effective for awards that are granted, modified, or settled in cash for annual
periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R) on October 1, 2005 using the modified prospective approach.
Under the modified prospective approach, stock-based compensation expense will be recorded for the unvested portion of previously issued
awards that remain outstanding at October 1, 2005 using the same estimate of the grant date fair value and the same attribution method used to
determine the pro forma disclosure under SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 123(R) also requires that all share-based payments to employees after
October 1, 2005, including employee stock options, be recognized in the financial statements as stock-based compensation expense based on the
fair value on the date of grant. Accordingly, prior period amounts have not been restated.

        For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, the Company recorded stock option compensation expense for the cost of stock options
issued under the 2001 Plan of $285. The Company's expensing of stock options decreased both basic and diluted net increase to net assets
resulting from operations per share by $0.03 and $0.02, respectively, for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006. Additionally, SFAS
No. 123(R) states that any potential tax benefits associated with incentive stock options should be recognized only at the time of settlement if
those options settle through a disqualifying disposition. Thus, the related stock-based compensation expense must be treated as a permanent
difference until that time which in turn, results in an increase to the Company's effective tax rate. The Company does not record tax benefits
associated with the expensing of stock options since the Company intends to qualify as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code and as such the
Company is not subject to federal income tax on the portion of its taxable income and gains distributed to stockholders, provided that at least
90% of the taxable income is distributed.
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Note 9. Stock Option Plan (Continued)

        The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
weighted average assumptions used for grants in the fiscal years ended September 30, 2006.

Assumptions: 2006
Risk free interest rate 4.23%
Expected life 3 years
Expected volatility 23.00%
Expected dividend yield 7.65%

        The weighted average per share fair value based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model of options granted during the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2006 was $1.89.

        During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, the Company issued 1,006,498 shares, 823,332 to executives and directors and 183,166
to ten employees pursuant to stock option exercises, in exchange for cash of $14,683 and four full recourse notes receivable of $1,692. During
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005, the Company issued 25,000 shares; 10,000 to a director and 15,000 to two employees pursuant to
stock option exercises, in exchange for cash of $270 and one full recourse note receivable of $157. These transactions were effected pursuant to
the 2001 Plan, which allowed the Company to lend its employees funds to pay for the exercise of stock options. All loans made under this
arrangement are fully secured by the value of the common stock purchased. Interest is charged and paid on such loans at the market rate as
determined based on individual financial positions.

        On December 2, 2005, the Company held a special meeting of stockholders in which the stockholders voted to approve a proposal to enter
into the Amended Advisory Agreement and the Administration Agreement between the Company and its Adviser and Administrator,
respectively.

        The Amended Advisory Agreement includes an incentive advisory fee, and regulations promulgated by the SEC prohibit business
development companies from implementing an incentive advisory fee while having in place a stock option plan or any outstanding stock
options. Thus, in connection with the approval of the Amended Advisory Agreement, and pursuant to an offer approved by the Board of
Directors on April 11, 2006, the Company extended an offer to its then-current stock option holders to amend the terms of all outstanding stock
options under the 2001 Plan to accelerate the contractual expiration date of these options to September 30, 2006. The offer was filed with the
SEC on April 12, 2006, was conducted in accordance with the federal tender offer rules and regulations, and was conditioned upon the
acceptance by 100% of the stock option holders. The Board of Directors also accelerated in full the vesting of all outstanding options other than
options held by the non-employee Directors effective April 11, 2006, resulting in accelerated vesting of 34,500 outstanding options. On May 31,
2006, 100% of the stock option holders accepted the tender offer, and on September 30, 2006, all outstanding stock options and the 2001 Plan
were terminated.
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Note 10. Dividends

Dividends and Distributions

        The Company is required to pay out as a dividend 90% of its ordinary income and short-term capital gains for each taxable year in order to
maintain its status as a RIC under Subtitle A, Chapter 1 of Subchapter M of the Code. It is the policy of the Company to pay out as a dividend up
to 100% of those amounts. The amount to be paid out as a dividend is determined by the Board of Directors each quarter and is based on the
annual earnings estimated by the management of the Company. Based on that estimate, three monthly dividends are declared each quarter. At
year-end the Company may pay a bonus dividend, in addition to the monthly dividends, to ensure that it has paid out at least 90% of its ordinary
income and realized net short-term capital gains for the year. Long-term capital gains are composed of success fees, prepayment fees and gains
from the sale of securities held for one year or more. The Company may decide to retain long-term capital gains from the sale of securities, if
any, and not pay them out as dividends, however, the Board of Directors may decide to declare and pay out capital gains during any fiscal year.
If the Company decides to retain long-term capital gains, the portion of the retained capital gains will be subject to a 35% tax. The tax
characteristics of all dividends will be reported to stockholders on Form 1099 at the end of each calendar year. The following table lists the per
share dividends paid for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2008 and 2007:

Fiscal Year Record Date Payment Date

Dividend
per
Share

2008 September 22,
2008

September 30,
2008

$ 0.140

August 21, 2008 August 29, 2008 0.140
July 23, 2008 July 31, 2008 0.140
June 20, 2008 June 30, 2008 0.140
May 21, 2008 May 30, 2008 0.140
April 22, 2008 April 30, 2008 0.140
March 21, 2008 March 31, 2008 0.140

February 21, 2008 February 29, 2008 0.140
January 23, 2008 January 31, 2008 0.140

December 20,
2007

December 31,
2007

0.140

November 21,
2007

November 30,
2007

0.140

October 23, 2007 October 31, 2007 0.140

Annual Total: $ 1.680

2007 September 20,
2007

September 28,
2007

$ 0.140

August 23, 2007 August 31, 2007 0.140
July 23, 2007 July 31, 2007 0.140
June 21, 2007 June 29, 2007 0.140
May 22, 2007 May 31, 2007 0.140
April 20, 2007 April 30, 2007 0.140
March 22, 2007 March 30, 2007 0.140

February 20, 2007 February 28, 2007 0.140
January 23, 2007 January 31, 2007 0.140

December 20,
2006

December 29,
2006

0.140

November 21,
2006

November 30,
2006

0.140
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October 23, 2006 October 31, 2006 0.140

Annual Total: $ 1.680
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Note 10. Dividends (Continued)

        Aggregate dividends declared and paid for the 2008 fiscal year were approximately $33.4 million, which were declared based on an
estimate of net investment income for the year.

        Aggregate dividends declared and paid for the 2007 fiscal year were approximately $22.1 million, which were declared based on an
estimate of net investment income for the year.

         Distribution of Income and Gains    Net investment income of the Company is declared and distributed to stockholders monthly. Net
realized gains from investment transactions, in excess of available capital loss carryforwards, would be taxable to the Company if not
distributed, and, therefore, generally will be distributed at least annually.

        The timing and characterization of certain income and capital gains distributions are determined annually in accordance with federal tax
regulations which may differ from GAAP. These differences primarily relate to items recognized as income for financial statement purposes and
realized gains for tax purposes. As a result, net investment income and net realized gain (loss) on investment transactions for a reporting period
may differ significantly from distributions during such period. Accordingly, the Company may periodically make reclassifications among certain
of its capital accounts without impacting the net asset value of the Company.

        The Company's components of net assets on a tax-basis were as follows:

Year Ended
September 30,

2008 2007
Undistributed Ordinary Income $ � $ 503
Undistributed Net Long Term Capital Gains � �

        In addition, the tax character of distributions paid to stockholders by the Company is summarized as follows:

Year Ended September 30,

2008 2007 2006
Distributions from Ordinary Income $26,110 $19,444 $17,900
Distributions from Long Term Capital Gains 120 2,697 728
Distributions from Tax Return on Capital 7,149 � �

Total Distributions $33,379 $22,141 $18,628

Section 19(a) Disclosure�Unaudited

        The Company's Board of Directors estimates the source of the distributions at the time of their declaration as required by Section 19(a) of
the 1940 Act. On a monthly basis, if required under Section 19(a), the Company posts a Section 19(a) notice through the Depository Trust
Company's Legal Notice System ("LENS") and also sends to its registered stockholders a written Section 19(a) notice along with the payment of
dividends for any payment which includes a dividend estimated to be
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Note 10. Dividends (Continued)

paid from any other source other than net investment income. The estimates of the source of the distribution are interim estimates based on
GAAP that are subject to revision, and the exact character of the distributions for tax purposes cannot be determined until the final books and
records of the Company are finalized for the calendar year. Following the calendar year end, after definitive information has been determined by
the Company, if the Company has made distributions of taxable income (or return of capital), the Company will deliver a Form 1099-DIV to its
stockholders specifying such amount and the tax characterization of such amount. Therefore, these estimates are made solely in order to comply
with the requirements of Section 19(a) of the 1940 Act and should not be relied upon for tax reporting or any other purposes and could differ
significantly from the actual character of distributions for tax purposes.

        The following GAAP estimates were made by the Board of Directors during the quarter ended September 30, 2008:

Month Ended
Ordinary
Income

Return of
Capital

Total
Dividend

September 30, 2008 $ 0.114 $ 0.026 $ 0.140
August 31, 2008 0.118 0.022 0.140
July 30, 2008 0.112 0.028 0.140

        Because the Board of Directors declares dividends at the beginning of a quarter, it is difficult to estimate how much of the Company's
monthly dividends and distributions, based on GAAP, will come from ordinary income, capital gains, and returns of capital. Subsequent to the
quarter ended September 30, 2008, the following corrections were made to the above listed estimates for that quarter:

Month Ended
Ordinary
Income

Return of
Capital

Total
Dividend

September 30, 2008 $ 0.087 $ 0.053 $ 0.140
August 31, 2008 0.106 0.034 0.140
July 30, 3008 0.096 0.044 0.140

        For dividends declared subsequent to quarter end, the following estimates, based on GAAP, have been made pursuant to Section 19(a) of
the 1940 Act:

Month Ended
Ordinary
Income

Return of
Capital

Total
Dividend

December 31, 2008 $ 0.109 $ 0.031 $ 0.140
November 28, 2008 0.110 0.030 0.140
October 31, 2008 0.108 0.032 0.140

Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies

        At September 30, 2008, the Company was not party to any signed and non-binding term sheets for potential investments.
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Note 12. Federal and State Income Taxes

        The Company has historically operated, and intends to continue to operate, in a manner to qualify for treatment as a RIC under
Subchapter M of the Code. As a RIC, the Company is not subject to federal or state income tax on the portion of its taxable income and gains
distributed to stockholders. To qualify as a RIC, the Company is required to distribute to its stockholders at least 90% of investment company
taxable income, as defined by the Code and as such no income tax provisions have been recorded for the individual companies of Gladstone
Capital Corporation and Gladstone Business Loan, LLC.

        During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, the Company recorded $102 in tax expense in connection with penalties incurred on
misclassified revenue on its fiscal year 2004 corporate tax return.

Note 13. Subsequent Events

Dividends

        On October 7, 2008, the Company's Board of Directors declared the following monthly dividends which it believes were and will be paid,
as applicable, from ordinary income:

Record Date Payment Date

Dividend
per
Share

October 23, 2008 October 31, 2008 $ 0.14
November 19, 2008 November 28,

2008
$ 0.14

December 22, 2008 December 31,
2008

$ 0.14

Investment Activity

        Subsequent to September 30, 2008, the Company extended $8.1 million in revolver draws and additional investments to existing portfolio
companies. The Company also received $11.8 million in scheduled and unscheduled loan repayments.

Note 14. Selected Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

Year Ended September 30, 2008
Quarter
Ended

December 31,
2007

Quarter
Ended

March 31,
2008

Quarter
Ended
June 30,
2008

Quarter
Ended

September 30,
2008

Total Investment Income $ 11,402 $ 11,350 $ 11,420 $ 11,553
Net Investment Income 7,303 6,442 6,697 6,110
Net Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets
Resulting From Operations 1,900 (11,904) 2,809 (14,068)
Basic and Diluted Earnings per Weighted
Average Common Share $ 0.11 $ (0.61) $ 0.13 $ (0.67)
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Note 14. Selected Quarterly Data (Unaudited) (Continued)

Year Ended September 30, 2007
Quarter
Ended

December 31,
2006

Quarter
Ended

March 31,
2007

Quarter
Ended
June 30,
2007

Quarter
Ended

September 30,
2007

Total Investment Income $ 8,234 $ 8,644 $ 9,201 $ 10,608
Net Investment Income 5,163 5,724 5,705 5,668
Net Increase in Net Assets Resulting
From Operations 4,164 4,084 5,965 739
Basic and Diluted Earnings per Weighted
Average Common Share $ 0.34 $ 0.33 $ 0.44 $ 0.05

112

Edgar Filing: OneBeacon Insurance Group, Ltd. - Form DEF 14A

94



 Item 9.    Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

        Not applicable.

 Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures.

a)    Disclosure Controls and Procedures

        As of September 30, 2008 (the end of the period covered by this report), we, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, evaluated the effectiveness and design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, our
management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective in timely alerting management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of material information about us
required to be included in periodic SEC filings. However, in evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control
objectives, and management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and
procedures.

b)    Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

        Refer to the Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting located in Item 8 of this Form 10K.

c)     Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

        Refer to the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm located in Item 8 of this Form 10K.

d)    Change in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

        There were no changes in internal controls for the period ended September 30, 2008 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely
to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

 Item 9B.    Other Information.

        Not applicable.

 PART III

        We will file a definitive Proxy Statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "2009 Proxy Statement") with the SEC,
pursuant to Regulation 14A, not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year. Accordingly, certain information required by Part III has
been omitted under General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K. Only those sections of the 2009 Proxy Statement that specifically address the items
set forth herein are incorporated by reference.

 Item 10.    Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

        The information required by Item 10 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2009 Proxy Statement under the captions "Election of
Directors" and "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance."
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 Item 11.    Executive Compensation

        The information required by Item 11 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2009 Proxy Statement under the captions "Executive
Compensation" and "Director Compensation"

 Item 12.    Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

        The information required by Item 12 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2009 Proxy Statement under the caption "Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management."

 Item 13.    Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

        The information required by Item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2009 Proxy Statement under the captions "Certain
Transactions" and "Director Independence."

 Item 14.    Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

        The information required by Item 14 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2009 Proxy Statement under the caption "Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees."

 PART IV

 Item 15.    Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

a.     DOCUMENTS FILED AS PART OF THIS REPORT

1.     The following financial statements are filed herewith:

Report of Management on Internal Controls

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Statements of Assets and Liabilities as of September 30, 2008 and September 30, 2007

Consolidated Schedule of Investments as of September 30, 2008

Consolidated Schedule of Investments as of September 30, 2007

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended September 30, 2008, September 30, 2007 and September 30, 2006

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets for the years ended September 30, 2008, September 30, 2007 and September 30,
2006

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended September 30, 2008, September 30, 2007 and September 30, 2006

Financial Highlights for the years ended September 30, 2008, September 30, 2007 and September 30, 2006

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.     Financial statement schedules

�
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Schedule 12-14 Investments in and Advances to Affiliates

        No other financial statement schedules are filed herewith because (1) such schedules are not required or (2) the information has been
presented in the aforementioned financial statements.
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�
Exhibits

        The following exhibits are filed as part of this report or are hereby incorporated by reference to exhibits previously filed with the SEC:

3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of the Articles of Incorporation, incorporated
by reference to Exhibit a.2 to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration
Statement on Form N-2 (File No. 333-63700), filed July 27, 2001.

3.2 By-laws, incorporated by reference to Exhibit b to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1 to
the Registration Statement on Form N-2 (File No. 333-63700), filed July 27, 2001.

3.3 Amendment to By-laws, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2003 (File
No. 814-00237), filed February 17, 2004.

3.4 Second amendment to By-laws, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 814-00237), filed July 10, 2007.

4.1 Form of Direct Registration Transaction Advice for the Company's common stock, par
value $0.001 per share, the rights of holders of which are defined in exhibits 3.1 and 3.2,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit d to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the
Registration Statement on Form N-2 (File No. 333-63700), filed July 27, 2001.

4.2 Specimen Stock Certificate, incorporated by reference to Exhibit d.2 to Pre-Effective
Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement on Form N-2 (File No. 333-63700),
filed August 23, 2001.

10.1 Promissory Note of David Gladstone in favor of the Company, dated August 23, 2001,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2001, filed October 4, 2001.

10.2 Promissory Note of Terry Brubaker in favor of the Company, dated August 23, 2001,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2001, filed October 4, 2001.

10.3 Promissory Note of Harry Brill in favor of the Company, dated August 23, 2001,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2001, filed October 4, 2001.

10.4 Trademark License Agreement between Gladstone Management Corporation and
Gladstone Capital Corporation, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2004
(File No. 814-00237), filed February 9, 2005 (renewed on July 9, 2008).

10.5* Joint Directors Nonqualified Excess Plan of Gladstone Commercial Corporation,
Gladstone Capital Corporation and Gladstone Investment Corporations, dated as of
July 11, 2006, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 814-00237), filed on July 12, 2006.

10.6 Custodian Agreement between Gladstone Capital Corporation and The Bank of New
York, dated as of May 5, 2006, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2006 (File
No. 814-00237), filed August 1, 2006.
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10.7* Amended and Restated Investment Advisory and Management Agreement between
Gladstone Capital Corporation and Gladstone Management Corporation, dated as of
October 1, 2006 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 814-00237), filed on October 5, 2006 (renewed on July 9,
2008).

10.8* Administration Agreement between Gladstone Capital Corporation and Gladstone
Administration, LLC, dated as of October 1, 2006 incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 814-00237), filed
on October 5, 2006 (renewed on July 9, 2008).

10.9 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among Gladstone Business
Loan LLC, Deutsche Bank AG, and certain other parties, dated as of June 6, 2008,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 814-00237), filed June 9, 2008.

11 Computation of Per Share Earnings (included in the notes to the audited financial
statements contained in this report).

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to section 302 of The Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to section 302 of The Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

*
Denotes management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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 SIGNATURES

        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION

Date: December 2, 2008 By: /s/ GRESFORD GRAY

Gresford Gray
Chief Financial Officer

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacity and on the dates indicated.

Date: December 2, 2008 By: /s/ DAVID GLADSTONE

David Gladstone
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Board of Directors (principal executive
officer)

Date: December 2, 2008 By: /s/ GRESFORD GRAY

Gresford Gray
Chief Financial Officer (principal financial
and
accounting officer)

Date: December 2, 2008 By: /s/ TERRY LEE BRUBAKER

Terry Lee Brubaker
Vice Chairman, Chief Operating Officer and
Director

Date: December 2, 2008 By: /s/ GEORGE STELLJES III

George Stelljes III
President, Chief Investment Officer and
Director

Date: December 2, 2008 By: /s/ DAVID A.R. DULLUM

David A.R. Dullum
Director

Date: December 2, 2008 By: /s/ ANTHONY W. PARKER

Anthony W. Parker
Director
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Date: December 2, 2008 By: /s/ MICHELA A. ENGLISH

Michela A. English
Director

Date: December 2, 2008 By: /s/ PAUL ADELGREN

Paul Adelgren
Director

Date: December 2, 2008 By: /s/ MAURICE COULON

Maurice Coulon
Director

Date: December 2, 2008 By: /s/ JOHN OUTLAND

John Outland
Director

Date: December 2, 2008 By: /s/ GERARD MEAD

Gerard Mead
Director
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SCHEDULE 12-14

GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION

INVESTMENTS IN AND ADVANCES TO AFFILIATES

Name of Issuer

Title of Issue or
Nature of

Indebtedness

Number of
Shares

or Principal
Amount of
Indebtedness

Held at
September 30,

2008

Interest
Earned for
the year
Ended

September 30,
2008

Equity in Net
Profit (Loss)
for the year

ended
September 30,

2008(2)

Value at
September 30,

2008
CONTROL
INVESTMENTS
BERTL, Inc. Line of Credit $ 742 62 � $ �

Common Stock(1) 424 � � �
LocalTel, Inc. Line of Credit 75 1 � �

Line of Credit 1,170 � � �
Senior Term Debt 2,688 � � �
Senior Term Debt 2,750 � � �
Common Stock
Warrants(1)

1 � � �

U.S. HealthCare, Inc. Line of Credit 90 � 90
Line of Credit(1) 450 � 450
Common Stock 2,470 � 240

Western Directories Line of Credit 69 1 �
Preferred Stock(1) 1,584 �
Common Stock(1) 1 �

Total Control
Investments $ 12,514 $ 64 $ � $ 780

Name of Issuer(1)

Title of Issue or
Nature of

Indebtedness

Value of Each
Item as of

September 30,
2007

Gross
Additions

Gross
Reductions

Value of Each
Item as of

September 30,
2008

CONTROL
INVESTMENTS
BERTL, Inc. Line of Credit $ � $ 742 $ 742

Common Stock(1) 924 (500) 424
LocalTel, Inc. Line of Credit � 75 � 75

Line of Credit � 1,170 � 1,170
Senior Term Debt � 2,688 � 2,688
Senior Term Debt � 2,750 � 2,750
Common Stock
Warrants(1)

� 1 � 1

U.S. HealthCare, Inc. Line of Credit � 90 90
Line of Credit(1) � 450 450
Common Stock � 2,470 2,470

Western Directories Line of Credit 69 69
Preferred Stock(1) 1,584 1,584
Common Stock(1) 1 1

Total Control
Investments $ 924 $ 12,090 $ (500) $ 12,514
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(1)
Security is non-income producing.

(2)
In accordance with Regulation S-X, rule 6-03(c)(i), the Company does not consolidate its portfolio investments. Therefore, no equity in net profit (loss)
was recorded as of September 30, 2008.
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QuickLinks

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
PART I

Item 1. Business

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Item 2. Properties
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk (dollar amounts in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Report of Management on Internal Controls
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN
THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS SEPTEMBER 30, 2008 (DOLLAR
AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)
GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2007 (DOLLAR
AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)
GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN
THOUSANDS)
GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS (DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN
THOUSANDS)
GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN
THOUSANDS)
GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (DOLLAR AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE
AND PER UNIT DATA)
GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SEPTEMBER 30, 2008 (DOLLAR
AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA AND AS OTHERWISE INDICATED)

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Item 9B. Other Information.
PART III
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Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Item 11. Executive Compensation
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
SIGNATURES
GLADSTONE CAPITAL CORPORATION INVESTMENTS IN AND ADVANCES TO AFFILIATES
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